
 

Monitoring Officer 
Christopher Potter 
 
County Hall, Newport, Isle of Wight PO30 1UD 
Telephone (01983) 821000 
 

 

Details of this and other Council committee meetings can be viewed on the 
Isle of Wight Council’s Committee website. This information may be available 
in alternative formats on request. Please note the meeting will be audio 
recorded and the recording will be placed on the website (except any part of 
the meeting from which the press and public are excluded). Young people are 
welcome to attend Council meetings however parents/carers should be aware 
that the public gallery is not a supervised area. 

 
 

Name of meeting APPEALS SUB COMMITTEE 

Date FRIDAY 1 JULY 2022 

Time 10.00 AM 

Venue COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, NEWPORT, 
ISLE OF WIGHT 

Members of the 
committee 

Cllrs I Dore (Chairman), J Bacon (Vice-Chairman) and 
M Oliver 

 Democratic Services Officer: Sarah MacDonald 
democratic.services@iow.gov.uk 

  
1. Minutes  (Pages 5 - 6) 
 
 To confirm as a true record the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2022. 

  
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To invite Members to declare any interest they might have in the matters on the 

agenda. 
  

3. Report of the Director of Neighbourhoods  (Pages 7 - 1100) 
 
 To consider the application for Definitive Map Modification Order- 

Footpath/Bridleway, Disused Railway, Bembridge, Isle of Wight. 
 

 
CHRISTOPHER POTTER 

Monitoring Officer 
Thursday, 23 June 2022 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

https://iow.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


  

Page 2



Interests 
 
If there is a matter on this agenda which may relate to an interest you or your partner or 
spouse has or one you have disclosed in your register of interests, you must declare your 
interest before the matter is discussed or when your interest becomes apparent.  If the 
matter relates to an interest in your register of pecuniary interests then you must take no 
part in its consideration and you must leave the room for that item. Should you wish to 
participate as a member of the public to express your views where public speaking is 
allowed under the Council’s normal procedures, then you will need to seek a dispensation 
to do so. Dispensations are considered by the Monitoring Officer following the submission 
of a written request. Dispensations may take up to 2 weeks to be granted.  
 
Members are reminded that it is a requirement of the Code of Conduct that they should 
also keep their written Register of Interests up to date.  Any changes to the interests 
recorded on that form should be made as soon as reasonably practicable, and within 28 
days of the change.  A change would be necessary if, for example, your employment 
changes, you move house or acquire any new property or land.   
 
If you require more guidance on the Code of Conduct or are unsure whether you need to 
record an interest on the written register you should take advice from the Monitoring 
Officer – Christopher Potter on (01983) 821000, email christopher.potter@iow.gov.uk, or 
Deputy Monitoring Officer - Justin Thorne on (01983) 821000, 
email justin.thorne@iow.gov.uk. 
 

 
Notice of recording 

 
Please note that all meetings that are open to the public and press may be filmed or 
recorded and/or commented on online by the council or any member of the public or press. 
However, this activity must not disrupt the meeting, and if it does you will be asked to stop 
and possibly to leave the meeting. This meeting may also be filmed for live and 
subsequent broadcast (except any part of the meeting from which the press and public are 
excluded).  
 
If you wish to record, film or photograph the council meeting or if you believe that being 
filmed or recorded would pose a risk to the safety of you or others then please speak with 
the democratic services officer prior to that start of  the meeting. Their contact details are 
on the agenda papers. 
 
If the press and public are excluded for part of a meeting because confidential or exempt 
information is likely to be disclosed, there is no right to record that part of the meeting. All 
recording and filming equipment must be removed from the meeting room when the public 
and press are excluded. 
 
If you require further information please see the council guide to reporting on council 
meetings which can be found at 
http://www.iwight.com/documentlibrary/view/recording-of-proceedings-guidance-note  
 
All information that is recorded by the council is held in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018.  For further information please contact Democratic Services at 
democratic.services@iow.gov.uk  
  

Page 3

mailto:christopher.potter@iow.gov.uk
mailto:justin.thorne@iow.gov.uk
http://www.iwight.com/documentlibrary/view/recording-of-proceedings-guidance-note
mailto:democratic.services@iow.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Name of meeting APPEALS SUB COMMITTEE 

Date and Time THURSDAY 6 JANUARY 2022 COMMENCING AT 2.00 PM 

Venue CONFERENCE ROOM 5, COUNTY HALL, NEWPORT, ISLE OF 
WIGHT 

Present Cllrs G Brodie (Vice-Chair, in the Chair), R Downer and M Oliver 

Also Present Jodie Gibson, Sarah Linington and Megan Tuckwell 

 
11. Minutes  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2021 be confirmed. 
 

12. Exclusion of the Public and Press  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
THAT under Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and 
press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business, namely 
Minute number 13a and 13b on the grounds that there was likely to be disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Act and in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

13. Confidential Reports of the Director of Children's Services  
 
13a 01-2022  
 
The Chairman welcomed those present. The appellant was not in attendance. 
Consideration was given to an appeal relating to Home to School Transport. 
 
Following oral representations by the Children’s Services representative, questions 
were asked by members of the Sub Committee. The Sub Committee, having 
carefully considered all the reasons given by the appellant in their written 
submissions, decided that the appeal should be refused. 
 
13b 02-2022  
 
The Chairman welcomed those present. The appellant was not in attendance. 
Consideration was given to an appeal relating to Home to School Transport. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 
2 

Following oral representations by the Children’s Services representative, questions 
were asked by members of the Sub Committee. The Sub Committee, having 
carefully considered all the reasons given by the appellant in their written 
submissions, decided that the appeal should be refused. 

 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 6



 

 
Purpose: For Decision 

 
    

 

  
Committee 
 
Date 
  
Title 
 
 
 
Report of  

 
APPEALS SUB COMMITTEE   
 
1 JULY 2022 
 
APPLICATION FOR DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER - 
FOOTPATH/BRIDLEWAY, DISUSED RAILWAY, BEMBRIDGE, 
ISLE OF WIGHT 
 
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY SERVICE, DIRECTORATE OF 
NEIGHBOURHOODS 
 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. An application has been made to record a public right of way over a route that 

follows part of the disused railway line at Bembridge, Isle of Wight, and which 
connects the disused railway line with Embankment Road. The claim is supported 
by user evidence which the applicant believes demonstrates that the public have 
acquired rights through long use without challenge. 

 
2. It is considered that the evidence submitted in support of the application is sufficient 

for it to be inferred that the claimed route should be added to the Definitive Map and 
Statement as a public bridleway. The application is therefore recommended for 
acceptance. 

 
3. The outcome of the recommendation will be to make an order to record a public 

bridleway. Any interested person may object to any order made. If it is subsequently 
decided that the order should be confirmed, then the application route will become a 
public bridleway for use by the public on foot, horseback and bicycle. 

 

RECOMMENDATION

Option 2 – It is recommended that an order is made under section 53(2) of WCA81 to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding the path described in the 
application with the status of bridleway. It is recommended that the width or widths 
specified in the order are determined by Council staff according to the user evidence 
and physical characteristics on the ground.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 BACKGROUND 
 
4. This report sets out evidence to determine an application under schedule 14 of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (WCA81) for an order to modify the Definitive 
Map and Statement by adding a footpath or bridleway along the Embankment Road 
disused railway line at Bembridge, Isle of Wight. 
 

5. The council has a duty under section 53(2)(b) WCA81 to review the Definitive Map 
and Statement and to make such modification orders as appear requisite in 
consequence of events set out in s53(3). 

 
6. Schedule 14 of WCA81 places a duty upon the council to investigate the matters 

stated in the application for a modification order and to decide whether to make the 
order applied for. 

 
7. The committee is acting in a quasi-judicial role and the decision must be made on 

the basis of evidence before the committee and law relevant to the fact of 
dedication of a highway and to Definitive Map and Statements and on no other 
consideration. Guidance on the committee’s judicial role is provided at Appendix 5 – 
Item 2. 

 
8. The application will be determined under section 53(3)(b) WCA81: the possible 

addition of a path to the Definitive Map by way of presumption of dedication 
pursuant to section 31 Highways Act 1980 (HA80) or by common law. 

 
9. An event under section 53(3)(b) WCA81 is the expiration of a period such that the 

enjoyment by the public of a way during that period raises a presumption that the 
way has been dedicated to the public. 

 
10. The question to be determined is whether the evidence shows that a highway exists 

because dedication has occurred at common law or is deemed by operation of 
section 31 HA80. 

 
11. The committee should decide on the basis of the evidence presented whether a 

presumption of dedication has been raised or a right of way is at least reasonably 
alleged to exist. The standard of proof to be applied is the balance of probability. 
Full legal background information and guidance is provided at Appendix 5 – item 1 
(paragraphs 7 to 13), item 3 and item 4. 

 
CORPORATE PRIORTIES AND STRATEGIC CONTEXT 
 
12. The Definitive Map and Statement records the public rights of way network. 

Delivering statutory duties in respect of it, in conjunction with the Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan, supports the Isle of Wight Council Corporate Plan 2021-2025, 
which contains detailed strategies and plans supporting the council’s aim to work 
together openly and with communities to support and sustain the Island’s economy, 
environment and people. 
 

13. Whilst Corporate Plan aims relating to the provision of affordable housing; 
responding to climate change and enhancing the biosphere; economic recovery and 
reducing poverty and impact on your people and future generations have all been 
considered during the preparation of this report, the council is under a legal duty to 

Page 8



consider this application only in accordance with the relevant statutory provisions, 
common law position and relevant guidance.   In its capacity as the surveying 
authority, the Council has a legal duty to determine applications for Definitive Map 
Modification Orders (as per paragraphs 5 and 6 above) and the committee is 
required to determine the matter and evaluate the evidence before it and provide a 
reasoned and sustainable decision as whether a highway exists under the 
principles of presumed dedication (paragraphs 7 to 11 above). 

 
APPLICATION AND EVIDENCE CONSIDERED 
 
Reason for Making the Application 
14. The application (Appendix 1 – Item 1) dated 27 January 2017 submits supporting 

user evidence and an extract from a publication. The applicants are Mr Malcolm 
Wade and Mrs Faith Wade of Four-Acres, Carpenters Road, St Helens, Ryde, Isle 
of Wight PO33 1YG. 

 
15. On 16 February 2009 the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB), as 

landowner, deposited a statement and plan with the highway authority under 
section 31(6) of the HA80 (Appendix 8 - Item 2). The plan showed the land owned 
by the RSPB and any recorded public rights of way that crossed the land; the 
claimed paths were not shown as public rights of way and sections AB and BD were 
said to be a permissive footpath for which consent was given to members of the 
public to walk/ride over. 

 
16. In 2016 the applicants were informed by the Parish Council that the RSPB had 

made the disused railway track a Permissive Path. The applicants believed that the 
track had been used as a public footpath/bridleway with no restrictions since the 
railway line closed and began to collect user evidence forms to support an 
application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement accordingly. The applicants 
contacted the Ramblers Association on 6 November 2016 to ask for help or advice, 
and they subsequently lodged the formal application for a modification order on 27 
January 2017. It is therefore considered that the determining factor for the 
application being made was the RSPB’s formal declaration that the claimed path 
was not a public right of way, and that some sections were permissive paths, by 
means of the 2009 section 31(6) deposit. 

 
Location, Site Characteristics and General History 
17. The application claims use of the path as shown on the application plan. Starting to 

the east of the River Yar from the south side of Embankment Road (the B3395), the 
claimed path heads in a general south east direction following the route of the 
disused railway line. The eastern part of the claimed path gently curves northwards. 
At its eastern end the claimed path turns left through 90 degrees and heads in a 
north west direction to rejoin Embankment Road. Use of that part of the access 
road to Harbour Farm (Home Farm Lane) which lies between the disused railway 
line and Embankment Road is also claimed.  

 
18. A map and photographs of the claimed path are in Appendix 2. Item 1: Current 

Ordnance Survey (OS) map with a representation of the path subject to the 
application (yellow dashed lines AB, BD, DE, and BC). Item 2: Annotated site 
photographs numbered 1 to 18 taken by the Council to facilitate determination of 
the application.  
 

Page 9



19. Sections AB and BD: The claimed path follows the route of the disused railway line. 
These sections lie on land owned by the RSPB. The last train on this line ran on 21 
September 1953. 

 
20. Section DE: The claimed path passes through an area of scrubby vegetation and 

then crosses land that is mostly used for the parking of vehicles before joining 
Embankment Road. The southern part of this section lies on land owned by the 
RSPB; the northern section lies on land owned by Bembridge Investments Ltd. 
 

21. Section BC: This section of the claimed path lies on Home Farm Lane and connects 
the disused railway line with Embankment Road. This section lies on land owned by 
the RSPB. A small area of this land adjacent to Embankment Road was 
unregistered when the Land Registry information was obtained, but it is understood 
that all involved parties have since agreed that the land is owned by the RSPB. 

 
User Evidence 
22. The application was lodged with 146 user evidence forms. The forms provide 

evidence in support of the presumed dedication of the claimed path. The forms 
included a map, the majority of which had been marked with the route or routes 
used. The applicant and a representative sample of approximately 10 per cent of 
the witnesses were interviewed by telephone, due to Covid-19 restrictions, between 
29 May and 23 June 2021. Those interviewed provided their best recollection of the 
routes they used along with the frequency and period of each means of use (i.e. 
foot, cycle, horseback), and whether they had ever been prevented from using any 
part of a route for any reason. 

 
23. Documentation relating to user evidence is at Appendix 6. Item 1: Copies of the 146 

user evidence forms. Item 2: User witness interview notes. Item 3: Tables 
summarising the evidence contained in user evidence forms and the evidence of 
use of each section during the relevant 20 year period. 

 
24. Use of the claimed path has generally been for leisure purposes including dog 

walking, watching wildlife and photography, or for utility travel between St Helens 
and Bembridge including for shopping, medical appointments, and going to the 
Yacht Club. All except two of the witnesses had used the claimed path on foot, and 
28 witnesses had ridden the claimed path on a bicycle and/or horse. 

 
25. The evidence form asked for the width of the way. The response varied greatly with 

many witnesses saying that the width was variable. The narrowest width mentioned 
was less than a foot, and the widest was 10 metres. Several people referred to the 
path being the width of the railway. 

 
26. Twenty nine witnesses indicated that they would not wish to attend a public inquiry. 

A further fifty seven did not give an indication of whether or not they would be 
prepared to attend. Mr Vokins ’form was incomplete. Mr Henley indicated that he 
was acquainted with previous landowners (Thorney Croft, 1960 and Mr Hicks, 
1990), and Ms Noyes knew the landowner from 1982 to 2016. Ms Mitchell kept her 
horse at Harbour Farm in the 1970’s and 1980’s. 

 
27. The application claims a route along the disused railway line, sections AB and BD, 

and two routes that connect the railway line with Embankment Road, sections BC 
and DE. All the witnesses refer to using the disused railway line, with some of them 

Page 10



indicating that it used to continue eastwards beyond Point D until that part of the 
railway line was closed off, probably in the 1970’s. Most of the witnesses refer to 
using both BC and DE to connect with Embankment Road, a few refer to using just 
one or other of BC and DE. 

 
28. A summary of the user evidence is set out in the User Tables (Appendix 6, Items 

3a-f). 
 
Landowner Evidence 
29. Evidence provided by the landowners is at Appendix 7, items 1 to 2 and Appendix 

8, item 7.  
 

30. The landowners affected by the application are listed at paragraph 99 below.  
 
31. The large part of the freehold is held by the RSPB, with Bembridge Investments Ltd 

being the freeholder of the northwest part of section DE. Council officers engaged 
with representatives of both freeholders between November 2016, when the 
Council became aware that an application was likely to be made, and July 2019. 
The option of dedicating a footpath was explored, but a solution agreeable to all 
parties could not be reached. 

 
32. The RSPB does not dispute that the claimed routes have been used by the public. 

However, the RSPB contends that use of the claimed path is permissive, and that 
other criteria for deemed dedication are not met, specifically through: the 
incompatibility of the character of section DE; the path being closed to the public for 
a period or periods of time; and incompatible signage. The RSPB submitted a 
summary of the claimant’s evidence along with its own counter evidence on 24 July 
2019 (Appendix 7, Item 1). 

 
33. The RSPB responded to a number of follow up questions during 2021 (Appendix 7, 

Item 2) and provided supporting documentary evidence. The photographs and 
documents supplied by the RSPB are included in Documentary Evidence below. 
The site manager, who has known the site since starting work there in 2005, also 
supplied a detailed narrative about section DE, in support of the RSPB’s view that 
the public use of section DE was unlikely due to the ground conditions (Appendix 8, 
Item 7). 

 
34. Also in 2021, Bembridge Investments Ltd confirmed that it has owned part of DE 

since December 2011; prior to that the land was owned by Maritime and Leisure 
Investments Ltd. Until very recently a very small part at the northern end of BC was 
registered to Bembridge Investments Ltd, but following the discovery of a mistake 
the Land Registry has now registered that small area in the RSPB’s name. The 
company believes it is for the betterment of the area that the public are allowed to 
use the application route, and their visitors are encouraged to use the route due to 
the lack of pavement along the southern side of Embankment Road. 

 
35. When asked whether any part of DE was ever under water or otherwise 

inaccessible, Bembridge Investments Ltd said that DE has never been under water 
and that when the Harbour was purchased in 2011 a lagoon had already been 
formed. 

 
 

Page 11



Documentary Evidence 
36. Documentary evidence includes photographs and maps provided by the applicants, 

user witnesses and the landowner together with documents held by or obtained by 
the council. The documentation is at Appendix 8.  
 

37. Item 1: Statutory Declarations of Mr Hicks, dated 2001, with map. The RSPB 
submitted this declaration as evidence that the status of the route along the old 
railway track, specifically sections AB (paragraph 6) and BC (paragraph 4), was 
permissive prior to the RSPB’s first acquisition at Brading Marshes in 2001. The 
Declaration refers to private rights of access to the Property being sold at the time; 
it is silent as to any (statutory or permissive) public rights of access. Private rights 
and public rights may coexist along the same highway, so the existence or 
otherwise of private rights, with or without explicit consent, does not constitute 
evidence of the public status of highway e.g. permissive or otherwise. Therefore it is 
not considered that the Declaration provides evidence of the claimed route having 
permissive status. 

 
38. Item 2: A Section 31(6) deposit registered with the council in 2009, with 

accompanying plans. The declaration is a publicly available document. Public 
footpaths are marked on the plan in purple - no part of the claimed path is marked 
as a public footpath. Permissive paths are marked blue, consent is given for the 
public to walk/ride over permissive paths - sections AB and BD are marked blue. 
Sections BC and DE are not marked on the plans. A section 31(6) deposit is 
regarded as sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner or his 
successors in title to dedicate any such additional way as a highway. The deposit is 
considered to be strong evidence that from 16 February 2009 onwards, the RSPB 
did not intend to dedicate a public right of way on any section of the claimed path. 

 
39. Item 3: Photograph of the lagoon showing an excavator parked on section AB of the 

claimed path in 2005 and photograph of timber extraction in 2012. The RSPB 
submitted these photographs as evidence that the path was closed for two weeks in 
February 2005 to carry out saline lagoon engineering works where the site was 
secured by Heras fencing and closure signage, and that the path was closed by 
way of signage for three days in each of 2007 and 2012 for the extraction of felled 
timber from the marsh. The first photograph shows the excavator on the claimed 
path and the Heras fencing appears to be positioned along the edge of the claimed 
path, with post and rail fencing visible along the opposite side of the path. The 
second photograph shows timber being transported by tractor and trailer. There are 
no signs visible in either photograph. Whilst the photographs are evidence of the 
works taking place in 2005 and 2012, they do not show that the path was closed to 
the public at either time. 

 
40. Item 4: Photographs of historic signs, submitted by the RSPB as evidence of 

permissive use or private land. It is not possible to ascertain the location of the 
signs in relation to the claimed path. The first, third and fifth photographs appear to 
be located within fields and not within the old railway track boundary as claimed 
(Appendix 7, Item 1) - in the absence of the juxtaposition of the claimed path, no 
conclusion can be drawn as to whether the signs refer to there being no rights of 
way over the claimed path, or no rights of way over nearby land; the second 
photograph appears to be of a sign situated on a nearby access track (i.e. not on 
the claimed path) - a similar photograph was taken by a council officer (Appendix 2, 
Item 2, Numbers 15 & 16); the location of the fourth photograph is understood to be 

Page 12



on Section BC, but its intention is to prevent parking on a privately owned road - not 
to inform walkers, cyclists and horse riders that they have no right of way; the sixth 
photograph is of a sign that has been removed. None of the photographs is 
considered to provide strong evidence of non-intention to dedicate a public right of 
way on any of the claimed sections of path. 

 
41. Item 5: Section 55(1) of the British Transport Commission Act 1949. The RSPB 

referred to this legislation as evidence that use of the railway line, whilst it was in 
use as a railway, would have been illegal and therefore could not have been used 
to establish a right of way. This is accepted. Furthermore, it is considered that use 
of railway land, even when disused as a railway, cannot be used to establish a right 
of way whilst the railway land is owned by a railway company. 

 
42. Item 6: Declaration of Mr Hicks, 15 September 2005. The RSPB drew attention to 

this document describing Mr Hicks’ use of the disused railway line on foot or by 
vehicle as a right given to him by the landowner, and omitting any mention of 
section DE. This declaration covers matters similar to those in the declaration in 
Item 1. For the same reasons it is not considered to be evidence of the existence or 
absence of public rights of access, nor of a non-intention to dedicate public rights. 
The document also describes the dumping of spoil between the railway line and 
Embankment Road, which is said to have taken place in the several years prior to 
2005. The ground level is said to have been raised by about 15 feet. This is 
consistent with the OS maps from that time which show the position of a slope 
moving towards the disused railway line and the land type in the area of DE 
becoming drier. Mr Hicks’ declaration is not considered to be evidence of the 
existence or otherwise of public rights of access, nor of an intention or non-intention 
to dedicate such rights. However it is considered to contribute to an understanding 
of the mechanism by which the ground level in the area of section DE changed 
during the period 1984 to 2005. 

 
43. Item 7: Narrative evidence from RSPB Site Manager, including photographs and 

maps/plans, relating to section DE. The Site Manager’s recollections date from 
January 2005. He notes that in September 2005 the raised ground between 
Embankment Road and the old railway bed was open, but there was no defined 
path leading from the old railway bed to the road. Since owning the land, the RSPB 
has always considered that the path came to a dead end at Point D. People were 
occasionally seen walking onto and around the raised land. Public access in the 
area of DE was noticed from 2015 onwards, and a path referred to as the trespass 
route through the lagoon was secured by fencing in April 2019. The saline lagoon 
was said to extend north-eastwards beyond DE, and it was wet approximately 2 
metres beyond the RSPB reserve boundary. Landfill material brought onto the land 
from 6 September 2005 resulted in part of the saline lagoon being filled in including 
at the location of DE. Later landfill extended the raised land further southwards 
overlapping the old railway bed. 
 

44. The Site Manager’s opinion is that there would have been a steep fall from 
Embankment Road to the lagoon prior to the first landfill, whenever that was. 
Photographs from 6th September 2005 showing the Harbour Farm East Lagoon 
infill, and a filled slope at a location where a static caravan is now located, do not 
identify the geographical location of section DE and are not considered to 
demonstrate that a path or route on the alignment DE was or was not available for 
use at that time. A plan showing the extent of open water (titled Fig 2) and other 

Page 13



images (titled Fig 4 and Fig 5) show the north-east end of the East Harbour Lagoon 
is located close to the route of DE, but there is insufficient detail in any of these 
plans/images to draw any conclusion as to where the exact location of DE is in 
relation to the lagoon, and whether or not DE would have been covered by lagoon 
water. The depth of water at the north-east end of the East Harbour Lagoon is 
shown on Fig 5 as being between 0.01 and 0.2 metres. A map (Fig A) with the 
RSPB site boundary marked in red, which is undated but believed to be time dated 
to between 1992 and 2004 is said to show that the water in East Harbour Lagoon 
extends north-east beyond the RSPB boundary. The map in Fig A is very similar to 
the 1993 1:2,500 map in the series of OS maps (Appendix 8, Item 9). A difference 
between the map extracts is that the lagoon area is labelled “Water” in the 
RSPB/Fig A map, and “Marsh” in the Item 9 1993 map. However, the Item 9 1993 
map clearly shows a linear physical feature, which is also shown on the RSPB/Fig A 
map where it is less clear due to being adjacent to the red boundary line, at the 
north-east end of the feature labelled “Marsh” and “Water” respectively. It is not 
known exactly what this linear physical feature depicts, but since it may indicate a 
change in land type it is not considered that the Fig A map can be interpreted as 
showing whether or not the water in the East Harbour Lagoon extends beyond the 
RSPB boundary. 

 
45. Item 8: Extract from “The Bembridge Branch Line” 1988. The applicants submitted 

this extract as evidence that the claimed path was being used as a public footpath 
when the book was published in 1988. The applicants have highlighted two 
paragraphs. The first refers to the trackbed becoming a public footpath between the 
Cement Mills Crossing at the former Brading Quay, and St Helens. The old 
trackbed here is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as a public right of 
way. The second paragraph refers to claimed sections AB and BD, describing them 
as “the trackbed has once more become a footpath and can be walked to where the 
former station was at Bembridge”. In contrast with the first highlighted paragraph, 
this section of the trackbed is not referred to as a “public footpath”. Furthermore, 
whilst the author has written several books about railways, he does not claim to be 
an authority on public rights of way. The extract provided is considered to provide 
evidence of the existence of a physical path along sections AB and BD, and indeed 
extending eastwards beyond Point D, and of the likelihood that these sections were 
open and available for use by the public on foot in 1988. However, the book does 
not provide evidence as to whether public access along the trackbed was by 
permission or by right. 

 
46. Item 9: Series of OS maps of the area, 1862-2014. A recent nearby planning 

application (Ref. 21/00795) included this series of OS maps, which show physical 
features and how they have changed over time. The first 10 maps are a 1:2500 
sequence from 1862 to 1993. The next 10 maps are a 1:10,560 and 1:10,000 
sequence from 1861 to 2014. The maps are centred on the proposed development, 
the outline of which has been drawn onto the maps. The railway line and the access 
road to Harbour Farm appear as physical features on maps from 1897-1898 
onwards. Claimed section AB lies outside the coverage of the 1:2500 maps. 
Claimed section DE lies approximately 60 metres to the south west of the proposed 
development. The line of DE has been drawn onto a 1971 1:2,500 map, and 
included in Item 7 to indicate the position of DE. The series of maps show that 
sections AB, BD and BC have existed as physical entities since the railway was first 
constructed, and provide an indication of the type of ground, e.g. grass, marsh, etc, 
that section DE lies on. 

Page 14



Evaluation of Evidence 
 
Statutory dedication pursuant to section 31 Highways Act 1980 
47. To come to a conclusion of deemed dedication under section 31 HA80 the following 

matters need to be considered: 
 

(a) When was the use brought into question?  
 
(b) Whether there is a “way over land” (and whether the “way” is of such a 
character that use of it by the public could not give rise at common law to any 
presumption of dedication)?  
 
(c) Whether the “public” used the claimed path for a full 20 year period?  
 
(d) Whether such use was “as of right”?  
 
(e) Whether such use was “uninterrupted”?  
 
(f) Whether there is sufficient evidence to show that there was “no intention by 
landowners to dedicate”? 

 
48. All these steps are matters of fact to be decided according to the evidence. For 

guidance as to interpretation of section 31, see Consistency Guidelines (CG), 
Appendix 5 – Item 3. 

 
Bringing into question (a) (CG 5.4 to 6) 
49. The means of bringing the claimed right into question must be sufficient to make it 

likely that at least some users will be made aware the owner has challenged their 
right to use the path. The statutory period is a full 20 years calculated back from the 
date of bringing into question.  
 

50. The RSPB’s evidence (Appendix 7) indicates that it closed section AB to the public, 
thereby challenging the public right, by means of physical barriers for two weeks in 
February 2005 to carry out engineering works, and then closed section AB again in 
2007 and 2012 for the extraction of felled timber. The RSPB submitted a 
photograph of the 2005 works (Appendix 8, Item 3); this shows Heras fencing along 
the side of the path and a heavy vehicle on the path. The path itself does not 
appear to be closed off to public use in this photograph. 

 
51. None of the user evidence forms mention section AB being closed at any time. 

When questioned during interview several witnesses recalled the RSPB 
undertaking works or felling trees and said that the path had not been physically 
closed off at that time. Mr Gaskin thought the path might have been fenced or 
barriered when trees were being felled, and that the fence/barrier didn’t stay up for 
long because of the number of complaints. Mr Preston vaguely remembered a 
barrier that was immediately removed, he thought probably by the public. 

 
52. On balance, it is considered that the evidence presented is insufficient to 

demonstrate that the right to use the path was brought into question by the RSPB in 
2005, 2007 or 2009. However, since that is not conclusive, this report will consider 
the scenario in which the use of the path is considered to have been challenged in 

Page 15



2005 (i.e. the statutory period is 1985-2005), as well as the scenario in which it 
wasn’t challenged. 

 
53. The landowner’s deposition of the statement and plan under section 31(6) of the 

HA80 in February 2009 (Appendix 8, Item 2) brings into question the right of the 
public to use the claimed paths that cross land in the RSPB’s ownership. Since at 
least a part of all the claimed sections (i.e. AB, BD, BC and the southern part of DE) 
is on land owned by the RSPB, and therefore covered by the deposition, the section 
31(6) deposition is considered to have brought into question the right of the public 
to use all the claimed sections. 

 
54. Accordingly, the statutory periods for the purposes of deemed dedication are as 

follows: 
 
 Section AB: 1985 - 2005 or 1989 - 2009 
 Sections BC, BD and DE: 1989 - 2009 
  
A way over land and its character (b) (CG 5.65 to 67) 
55. The claimed paths AB, BD and BC are considered to be ways over land in the 

sense that there is land in existence and its character would be capable of 
dedication at common law. No evidence has been submitted to the contrary. 

 
56. Land that is railway land (owned by a railway company and capable of being used 

as a railway) is generally considered to be incompatible with dedication as a public 
right of way, so sections AB and BD would not be capable of dedication at common 
law before 1968 when the land was sold by the British Railways Board. 

 
57. The southern part of section DE passes over land that is claimed by the RSPB to 

have been a lagoon which was infilled, most likely some time between 1992 and 
1999, but before 2005. The RSPB submitted documentary evidence which shows 
the alignment of section DE close to the north-east end of the East Harbour Lagoon 
in the late 1990’s / early 2000’s. It seems unlikely that people would have chosen to 
follow a route through water if a route on adjacent dry land was available, so it 
seems most likely that the alignment of section DE at this time would be outside the 
north-east edge of the lagoon. However, a “way over land” can include land that is 
covered by water, such as a ford. Since the north-east end of the lagoon is shown 
as being fairly shallow (0.01-0.2 metres) in 2002, it is considered that section DE 
would have been capable of dedication whether its alignment was inside or outside 
the lagoon edge. It is feasible that, prior to the infill, section DE may have been 
inaccessible and not capable of dedication as claimed by the RSPB, but no strong 
evidence to that effect has been submitted. 

 
58. None of the user evidence forms mention section DE being under water, or part of a 

lagoon, at any time. The witness interview evidence is: that section DE had always 
been used even when the old railway line could be followed all the way to 
Bembridge Station; that, whilst the fence wasn’t put up to the east of Point D until 
around 2005, the through route to Bembridge was blocked up (by ‘extensions ’to 
business plots) some time in the 1970’s at which time DE become the easternmost 
connecting route between the disused railway line and Embankment Road; and that 
although DE can be muddy and wet after heavy rain it has never been impassable 
due to being submersed in water, or a part of the lagoon. Some of the users said 

Page 16



that since the RSPB took on ownership sluice gates have been operated in a way 
that has made the land between BC and DE wetter over time - reference was 
specifically made to the small building just to the east of BC which is now flooded 
but which had previously been usable. 

 
59. Given that the land south of Embankment Road in the area of section DE has been 

subject to infill during the relevant period of 1989-2009, there is a possibility that the 
precise route followed by the public may have varied slightly if the route needed to 
be re-established in response to the infill. It seems unlikely that any infill event 
resulted in an interruption to access since none of the users recalled the route being 
obstructed or impassable, and the RSPB has not suggested that the infill prevented 
use of section DE. It is not considered that the potential slight variation of the route 
would be such as to prevent the dedication of a sufficiently defined route over the 
open land between points D and E. 

 
60. Appendix 8, Item 9 is a series of OS maps of the area which were submitted in 

support of a recent planning application. The OS maps range from the 1860’s 
through to the present day. Although section DE isn’t marked on the maps, it lies 
roughly 60m to the south west of the proposed development which is shown in 
outline on the maps. The series of 1:2,500 maps show that after the railway had 
been constructed, the land on which section DE lies is never depicted as being 
under water. The 1897-1898 and 1908 maps show rough grassland, and the 1939 
and 1970 maps show marshy land. The 1979 and 1985 maps are incomplete and 
don’t show the land where DE lies. The 1985-1989 map shows a change in the 
topography and the land on which DE lies is shown as being outside the marshy 
area. This seems to be the case through to the final 1:10,000 map dated 2014. 

 
61. The submitted evidence therefore indicates that, further to paragraph 55, section 

DE can also be considered to be a way over land in the sense that there is land in 
existence and its character would be capable of dedication at common law. 

 
 Public use for a twenty year period (c) (CG 5.12 to 20) 
62. The public means everyone but it is accepted that many rights of way only have 

local purpose, so user witnesses representing the public may be from the local 
community only.  
 

63. Actual acts of use for a period of 20 years are required; it is not sufficient for users 
to be aware that a route was once used, or could be used. Use of a way by different 
persons, each for periods of less than 20 years, will suffice, if taken together they 
demonstrate use over a continuous period of twenty years or more. Use should 
have been by a sufficient number of people to show that it was use by “the public”. 
It must bring home to a landowner that a right is being asserted against him and he 
had an opportunity of resistance and interruption. Usage which is of such trivial and 
sporadic nature that it would not be likely to make a landowner aware of the 
potential claim of a right fails the test.  
 

64. Evidence of use by family, friends, lessees or employees of a landowner should be 
given less weight, since they can be thought of as having the consent of the 
landowner, and are not representative of the public at large. In this case none of the 
witnesses have reported having any connection to the landowner. Mr Henley was 
acquainted with previous owners, and Ms Mitchell kept a horse at Harbour Farm, 

Page 17



but neither of these relationships would imply that their use of the paths was not 
representative of the public at large. 
 

65. Where a person has indicated that they are not prepared to attend a public inquiry 
to confirm their evidence, the evidence is generally assessed to have less weight 
than a person who is prepared to attend as it is unable to be questioned by an 
Inspector or the opposing party to probe its accuracy or completeness. In this case, 
29 of the 146 witnesses (20%) indicated that they would not be prepared to attend a 
public inquiry; an asterisk has been used to mark the names of the these witnesses 
in Appendix 6, Item 3, Table 1. During telephone interviews, witnesses were asked 
why they had indicated that they were not prepared to attend a public inquiry. The 
reasons given were: ill health (now better and willing to attend); not good at public 
speaking; and work commitments. 

 
66. With regard to 20 years ’use, the user evidence has been summarised in a series of 

tables (Appendix 6, Item 3). Table 1 (Item 3(a) summarises all the user evidence 
forms. Tables 2-6 (Items 3(b)-(f)) are extracts of Table 1 showing those users who 
claim to have used each of the four sections (AB, BD, BC and DE) for the whole 20 
year statutory period (note that two statutory periods are considered for section AB). 
It can be seen that 74 individuals claim to have used section AB every year 
between 1985 and 2005; 88 individuals claim to have used section AB every year 
between 1989 and 2009; the same 88 individuals claim to have used section BD 
every year between 1989 and 2009; 70 individuals claim to have used section BC 
every year between 1989 and 2009; and 85 individuals claim to have used section 
DE every year between 1989 and 2009. 

 
67. Several other users, not included in Tables 2-6, also claim to have used each 

section during a part of the 20 year statutory period. That use should also be taken 
into account when demonstrating that there has been use of the path over a 
continuous period of twenty years. Table 1 can be further examined to show how 
many individuals claimed to use a particular section during each year of the 
statutory period. However, given the weight of user evidence in each of Tables 2-6, 
no additional analysis was considered necessary for the purposes of this report. 

 
68. On all four sections, the frequency of use by the witnesses varies considerably. 

Some people used a route just a few times a year, others used it several times a 
week. The majority of use is for leisure e.g. dog walking, bird/wildlife watching, 
photography, blackberrying. Some people used the routes for utility purposes such 
as to go to work or the shops. 

 
69. Based on the user evidence, it would appear that there has been continuous use of 

the claimed routes for a period of at least 20 years before the right to use any 
particular section was brought into question. For section AB, there has been a 
period of 20 years use prior to the route being brought into question irrespective of 
whether the route was barriered off, thereby challenging the public right, in 2005, 
2007 and/or 2012. 

 
Use as of right (d) 
70. Use as of right means use without force, secrecy or permission.  

 
71. In this case use is considered to be generally “as of right”. Three witnesses stated 

that they believed use was by permission (Mr Blenkinsop, Ms Blenkinsop, Ms 
Page 18



Edwards), but of these only one (Ms Edwards) used the claimed path within the 
relevant statutory period. Mr and Ms Blenkinsop only used the path from 2009 
onwards. In interview, Ms Edwards said that the reason she indicated on the form 
that the path was permissive was because she knew the land was privately owned 
(she worked for the landowner, Yarland Properties Ltd) and that the owners were 
happy for the public to use the path. No-one specifically gave her permission to use 
the path, but she knew that the landowner didn’t mind people using it. 

 
72. It is considered that the use of the claimed path has been open and without stealth 

or secrecy, and there is no evidence to suggest use of any of the routes has ever 
been as a result of force. 

 
 Without interruption (e) 
73. In order to constitute an interruption there must be some physical and actual 

interference which stops the public use for a time. The custom of locking gates to 
exclude the public on one day a year is a common example. The RSPB claims that 
public access was prevented on section AB in February 2005 for engineering 
works, and in 2007 and 2012 for timber extraction, although this is contradicted by 
the user evidence (Appendix 6, Item 2). Fencing was erected by the RSPB at Point 
D preventing use of section DE in or about April 2019. 

 
74. There is no evidence of any interruption to public use of sections BD, BC and DE 

during the statutory period of 1989-2009. 
 
75. There is disputed evidence of interruption to public use of section AB during the 

period 1989-2009, specifically in 2005 and 2007 when the RSPB states that the 
route was closed whilst works were undertaken. In the event that it is concluded 
that this evidence is strong enough to prevent deemed dedication, then 
consideration must be given to the 20 year period prior to the interruption (because 
that interruption would effectively call into question the right of the public to use the 
route). Considering the earliest stated date of interruption, which is in 2005, there is 
no evidence of any interruption to public use of section AB during the period of 
1985-2005. 

 
76. Therefore, irrespective of whether the statutory period public use of AB was 

interrupted in 2005 or 2007, the evidence shows a clear period of 20 years 
uninterrupted use on each of the claimed sections AB, BD, BC and DE. 

 
 No intention to dedicate (f) 
77. Sufficient evidence to negate presumption of dedication requires evidence of overt 

acts by the landowners during the statutory period directed at users of the way to 
make known the intention not to dedicate. Actions and wording of notices must be 
inconsistent with the existence of a public right of way. Section 31(5) HA80 provides 
for notice to be given to the local authority where notices are torn down, section 
31(6) provides a method of negating intention by depositing a plan and statement 
with the local authority.  

 
78. The RSPB refers to an historic sign near the start of the claimed section AB with the 

wording “Highway Act 1959 There Are No Public Rights Of Way Over This Land”. 
The RSPB states that it removed this sign in 2005 and replaced it with RSPB signs 
marking the permissive path. Several of the witness statements describe the 
Highways Act 1959 sign as having been erected by the neighbouring landowner 

Page 19



(some witnesses refer to her by name as Mrs Stratton) with the purpose of 
preventing people walking alongside the river and fishing from the river banks. A 
similar sign is still in existence on Water Board property adjoining the bridge over 
the River Yar - but that sign is not on land subject to this claim. The RSPB has 
provided photographs of signage (Appendix 8, Item 4), but none of these 
photographs depict the Highways Act sign as being located on any of the claimed 
sections. On balance it is considered that the Highway Act 1959 sign was most 
likely to have been erected on, and pertaining to, land adjoining the disused railway 
land and not erected with the intention of not dedicating a right of way on any of the 
claimed sections. 

 
79. The RSPB states that it put up permissive path signs on section AB in 2005. No 

photographs of the signs or other evidence was provided. The witness statements 
make little or no reference to these signs, and it could be argued that the action of 
erecting these signs was not overt enough to make known to the public that there 
was no intention to dedicate. In the event that the RSPB’s claim to have erected 
permissive path signs is considered sufficient to demonstrate an intention to not 
dedicate this section, then the relevant statutory period for this section would be the 
20 years prior to the erection of the signs, i.e. 1985-2005. There is no evidence of 
an intention to not dedicate during this period. 

 
80. The RSPB deposited a statement under section 31(6) HA80 in February 2009 

(Appendix 8, Item 2), renewed in 2019, declaring an intention to not dedicate public 
rights of way on land crossed by sections AB, BD, BC, and the southern part of DE. 
This is considered to be an overt act directed at users which calls into question the 
public right of way, and consequently the statutory period for these sections is the 
20 years prior to the deposit. 

 
81. There is no evidence that any landowner other than the RSPB did not intend to 

dedicate a public right of way on any of the claimed routes. 
 
Conclusion 
82. It is considered that the requirements of section 31 HA80 have been satisfied for 

the claimed sections AB, BD, BC and DE and that the public have been using these 
routes ‘as of right ’for a full period of 20 years between 1989 and 2009. 

 
83. The RSPB has provided some, albeit limited, evidence showing that use of section 

AB does not satisfy the requirements due to the erection of barriers in 2005 and/or 
2007 and/or the erection of permissive path signs in 2005. As discussed above, it is 
considered that the balance of evidence shows public use of AB as of right for the 
statutory period 1989-2009. However, in the event that the RSPB’s evidence is 
considered to have strength, then the statutory period for section AB would revert to 
1985 to 2005. It would then be considered that the requirements of section 31 HA80 
would be satisfied for the claimed section AB and that the public have been using 
these routes ‘as of right ’for a full period of 20 years between 1985 and 2005. 

 
Dedication at common law 
84. Dedication at common law can be express or implied. The burden of proof is upon 

the person claiming the right to show that an owner was aware of, and acquiesced 
in, the use of the path by the public. It must be shown that the landowner intended 
to dedicate a public right of way over their land and that there was acceptance by 

Page 20



the public. With express dedication the owner will have done something to make his 
intention clear, but in the case of implied dedication, intention may be difficult to 
prove.  

 
85. The onus is on the claimant to prove intention from the evidence and in the case of 

implied dedication this is usually user evidence, which also serves to prove 
acceptance of the dedication. There is no minimum period or level of use required. 
However, use by the public must have gone on openly, uninterrupted, as of right 
and for so long that dedication can reasonably be inferred; the evidence must show 
use to have been so notorious that the landowner must have been aware of it, 
acquiesced in it and therefore intended to dedicate. 

 
86. In this case the user evidence is of a consistently high level of use over a lengthy 

period, covering several changes of land ownership. The British Railway Board sold 
land parcel IW57447 to the Bembridge Harbour Investments Company in July 1968. 
The current owners, the RSPB, purchased IW57447 from Maritime & Leisure 
Investments Ltd in March 2004. One of the witnesses refers to Yarland Properties 
Ltd as a landowner; that company would have owned the land between Bembridge 
Harbour Investments and Maritime & Leisure Investments, and there may also have 
been other land owners. 

 
87. As previously discussed, whilst in the ownership of the British Railway Board, land 

comprising a disused railway is generally considered incompatible with the 
dedication of a public right of way. The RSPB’s evidence is that they actively took 
steps to show that they did not intend to dedicate a public right of way. However, in 
the years between 1968 and 2004 the user evidence, from both the evidence forms 
and the telephone interviews, is that all four sections AB, BD, BC and DE were 
openly and frequently used by the public and there is scant evidence that the public 
use was challenged or obstructed. 

 
88. In her telephone interview, Ms Edwards stated that when she worked for Yarland 

Properties Ltd, the landowner took the view that it was fine for people to walk and 
ride on the railway line path as they understood it was safer than using the road. In 
Ms Edwards ’opinion it was more that Yarland Properties acquiesced in the use 
rather than they pro-actively gave permission. No-one specifically gave her 
permission to use the claimed routes, but she knew that the landowner didn’t mind 
people using them. Ms Edwards understands that Yarland Properties initially closed 
the path one day a year, but stopped doing this in the mid 1970’s as they thought it 
was pointless. 

 
89. It is considered that any reasonable landowner would have been aware of the 

public use and, other than Ms Edwards ’evidence that one of the landowners closed 
the path once a year until the mid 1970’s, there is no evidence to show that the use 
was challenged. It is considered that the available evidence supports the 
proposition that a common law dedication of public rights on the claimed sections 
AB, BD, BC and DE has taken place. 

 
Status 
90. The application form calls for the addition of a footpath / bridleway on all sections of 

the claimed path. The user evidence forms show that most people believed the 
claimed path to be either a footpath or a bridleway. However it is the actual use of 

Page 21



the path that establishes the status - a footpath is established through use by the 
public on foot, and a bridleway is established through use by the public on a bicycle 
and/or horse as well as on foot. 

 
91. The RSPB, when stating that use of the claimed path was permissive (Appendix 7, 

Item 1), claims that permissive use was only by foot, and the only horse usage of 
any of the claimed routes that it was aware of was by the owners and occupiers of 
the Harbour Farm stables who used the routes as part of the farm owners ’access 
rights. However, the RSPB’s section 31(6) deposit (Appendix 8, Item 2) states that 
consent is given for members of the public to walk/ride over sections AB and BD, 
thus implying an awareness that the public did ride bicycles and/or horses on these 
sections. 

 
92. The summary of user evidence (Appendix 6, Item 3(a), Table 1) shows that the vast 

majority of witnesses used the claimed path on foot. Only two people did not walk 
the path - Ms V Attrill, who rode a horse on all sections between 1975 and 2016, 
and Mr Bateman who rode a bicycle on sections AB and BC between 1991 and 
2016. A total of 28 individuals used two or more sections on a bicycle and/or horse. 
Mr Brooks used the path (except section BC) on a motorcycle as well as on foot, 
bicycle and horse. Of all the people who rode horses, only Ms Mitchell mentioned 
keeping a horse at Harbour Farm. Taken as a whole, the user evidence supports 
the establishment of at least footpath status. Further analysis of the user evidence 
is necessary to determine whether it supports the establishment of bridleway status. 

 
93. Appendix 6, Items 3(b)-(f), Tables 2-6 show that around 20 people used each 

section on a bicycle and/or horse every year during the applicable 20 year statutory 
period. With the exception of Ms Attrill, all of these individuals also used the claimed 
path on foot. The user evidence forms only indicate how many times per year an 
individual used the path in total - the form doesn’t require the user to state how 
many times they used each section on foot, how many times on a bicycle, etc. 
Therefore it was necessary to question a selection of cyclists and horse riders to 
establish how frequently they used the routes by a means other than on foot. 

 
94. Of the 14 telephone interviews carried out, 3 interviewees had walked and cycled, 3 

had walked and ridden a horse, 2 had walked, cycled and ridden a horse, and 6 had 
only walked. All except one of those that had cycled and/or ridden a horse had done 
so on all four sections - Ms Scott didn’t use section DE. Of the two options for 
connecting to Embankment Road at the eastern end, both BC and DE were used by 
both cyclists and horse riders. DE was generally preferred because it provided a 
longer off-road route, but BC was sometimes chosen after wet weather when DE 
became muddy and more difficult to use. Ms Edwards’ evidence was particularly 
strong - she had used the claimed path twice a week on horseback from 1966 to 
2020, using BC more often than than DE due to DE getting muddy. Mr Preston 
used the path on both cycle and horseback from 1960, riding horses until about 
2000 and cycling until recent years. He used both BC and DE but used DE more 
frequently as that meant less use of the road. Ms Scott rode a horse on the path 
once or twice a week until the early 2000’s always using BC rather than DE. Mr 
Squibb used to cycle to school five days a week in the 1980’s and 1990’s. Since 
then he has continued cycling the path, but less frequently. He cycles on both BC 
and DE. Ms Valvona has cycled and ridden a horse on the claimed path from 1978 
onwards. Her preference is to use DE because it has better visibility than BC when 

Page 22



exiting onto Embankment Road. None of the horse riders questioned said that they 
kept their horse at Harbour Farm. 

 
95. There is strong evidence that all four claimed sections AB, BD, BC and DE have 

been used openly and frequently by the public on bicycle and on horseback, as well 
as on foot, throughout the statutory period 1989-2009. There is similarly strong 
evidence of use of Section AB throughout the alternative statutory period 1985-
2005. It is therefore considered that the user evidence supports the establishment 
of a public right of way with the status of bridleway on all four sections. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
96. Bembridge Parish Council is the only statutory consultee. The Parish Council did 

not submit a formal response, but three councillors responded individually. All were 
in favour of the routes being recognised as public rights of way and were aware of 
public use of the routes. Two had used the routes themselves, one had previously 
submitted a Witness Form. 

 
97. The present elected members for the area are Councillors Jonathan Bacon 

(Brading and St Helens) and Joe Robertson (Bembridge), both of whom were 
consulted. A response was received from Councillor Bacon in support of the 
proposed route (Appendix 3). 

 
98. Landowners are contacted to explain the application and procedure for determining 

it, and invited to submit evidence. Their response is given under ‘Landowner 
evidence ’above. Property and landownership details, including Land Registry plans 
and documents, are in Appendix 4. 

 
99. Landowners affected by the application are: 
 

Freehold proprietors of land subject to the claimed path Sections AB, BD, BC and 
part of Section DE (IW57447): The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds, The 
Lodge, Potton Road, Sandy, SG19 2DL. 

 
Note that the part of Section BC that lies between IW57447 and Embankment Road 
is not registered with the Land Registry, but it is understood that the RSPB is the 
acknowledged freehold proprietor. 

 
Freehold proprietor of land subject to the claimed path part of Section DE 
(IW24133): Bembridge Investments Ltd, Baie House, Yarmouth, Isle of Wight, 
PO41 0ND. 

 
100. All reports on modification order applications are submitted to landowners and the 

applicants for comment before the report is submitted to the committee for decision.  
Neither the applicants nor a representative of Bembridge Investments Ltd submitted 
comments on the Committee Report. The RSPB did submit comments and these 
are copied at Appendix 9, Items 1-3. A brief summary of, and reply to (where 
considered necessary), the comments follow below in paragraphs 101-103. 

 
101. In Appendix 9, Item 1, the RSPB submits evidence of sections BC and BD being 

closed by means of fencing in 2005. Appendix 9, Item 2, contains the RSPB’s Site 
Manager’s comments on the Draft Committee Report. These comments are further 

Page 23



refined in Appendix 9, Item 3, the RSPB’s formal response to the Committee 
Report. The email accompanying this response indicates that the RSPB would like 
to speak at the Committee Meeting. 

 
102. The RSPB claims that sections BC and BD were fenced off in 2005, making them 

inaccessible to the public. This contradicts the user evidence, which is that none of 
the sections were physically closed thereby preventing use. Paragraphs 49 - 54 of 
this report discuss a similar scenario for section AB. It is similarly considered that in 
the event that the public use of section BC and BD was considered to have been 
challenged in 2005, then the statutory period for these sections would be 1985 - 
2005. The conclusions drawn in paragraphs 83 and 89, that there is sufficient public 
use during this period to raise a presumption of the dedication of a public right of 
way, also apply to sections BC and BD. 

 
103. The RSPB report refers to a potential conflict between the conservation designation 

and the existence of a public right of way on section DE, and suggests that since it 
considers the evidence of use of this section to be weak, then section DE should be 
removed from any Order. The RSPB also suggests that a solution is available to all 
parties, by means of negotiation. However, the DMMO process can only consider 
whether or not the available evidence suggests that a public right of way has been 
dedicated, either under HA80 by 20 years continuous use or under common law. 
The desirability or otherwise of the right of way is not a relevant consideration, and 
the route of the right of way cannot be negotiated within the DMMO process. In the 
event that a right of way is found to exist across land with a conservation 
designation, then appropriate management measures can be taken in order to 
accommodate both the public right and the conservation requirements. 

 
104. If an order is made, there is a statutory advertisement period of six weeks during 

which anyone may make representations or objections. 
 
FINANCIAL / BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 
 
105. Normal costs incurred in processing this application and resulting from adding the 

path to the Definitive Map and Statement, should this be the outcome, will be 
contained within current Rights of Way revenue budgets. The council has a legal 
duty to process the application. 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
106. In the event of an order being made and if no objections are received during the six 

week statutory advertisement period, the council may itself confirm the order as 
unopposed. If any objection is registered during the statutory period, or if the council 
considers the order requires any modification, it must be referred to the secretary of 
state. An independent inspector will be appointed by the Planning Inspectorate to 
hear the objections and decide whether the order should be confirmed, with or 
without modification. A public inquiry may be held in modification order cases as 
there is witness evidence to be heard.  
 

107. The council bears the cost of arranging the inquiry and each side bears their own 
costs of appearing unless there are exceptional circumstances. An order becomes 
legally effective only if and when it is confirmed. The decision of the inspector 

Page 24



concludes the modification order process.  
 

108. In the event of an order not being made, the applicant may appeal to the secretary 
of state, who may direct the council to advertise an order which then follows the 
same procedure described above. 

 
109. The validity of a confirmed modification order can be questioned by application to 

the High Court during a six week period from the date of publication of confirmation. 
This is a form of judicial review of the procedure only, not an opportunity to further 
challenge the evidence on which the order is based. Costs of litigation are awarded 
in the usual way according to the outcome of the application.  
 

110. Public footpaths and bridleways dedicated after 16 December 1949 are not 
maintainable at public expense unless dedicated as part of a public path order or 
agreement or other formal adoption procedure under the HA80 or its predecessor. 

 
 Implications under the Human Rights Act 1988 
111. In respect of Article 6 (right to a fair trial) of the European Convention on Human 

Rights, it is considered that by submission of the report to the applicant and to 
landowners for comments and by advertisement of an order with the opportunity of 
independent determination in the event of objection, the council has met the 
requirements of this article.  
 

112. In respect of Article 8 (respect for private and family life) and Article 1 of the First 
Protocol (protection of property), the impacts that the modification order might have 
on the owners of property affected by any order which may be made and on owners 
of other property in the area and users of the paths before and after modification 
have been carefully considered. While there may be some interference with the 
rights of owners and occupiers if a modification order is confirmed, it is considered 
proportional to the legitimate aim of the council and in the public interest. 

 
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 
 
113. The processing of this application does not contravene any statutory obligations 

under the Equality Act 2010, and causes no adverse impact on people of any 
protected characteristic. 

 
PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
114. There are no property implications. The land that is the subject of the application is 

privately owned. Any public footpath or bridleway that may be added to the 
Definitive Map and Statement through this application process will not be 
maintainable at public expense unless formally adopted under the HA80. 

 
SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1988 
 
115. The council has a duty to make an order to modify the Definitive Map and 

Statement or not according to its conclusions on the evidence relating to the 
dedication of highways. Should a right of way be confirmed, any powers that may 
be available to the council with respect to public paths and byways for the purposes 
of reducing crime and disorder could be considered. 

 
Page 25



OPTIONS 
 
116. The committee has a statutory duty to determine the application by making a 

decision. The decision must be based on the evidence available as to whether a 
presumption of dedication has been raised, or what public rights exist or are 
reasonably alleged to exist, if any; a conflict of evidence does not prevent an order 
being made. Depending on its conclusions the committee will decide on one of the 
following options. 

 
117. If an order is made (Options 1 - 3), it is recommended that the width or widths 

specified in the order are determined by Council staff according to the user 
evidence and physical characteristics on the ground. 

 
Option 1 
 
118. Make an order to add the path described in the application to the Definitive Map and 

Statement with the status of footpath.  
 
Option 2 
 
119. Make an order to add the path described in the application to the Definitive Map and 

Statement with the status of bridleway.  
 
Option 3 
 
120. Make an order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement in some other way than 

Options 1 and 2. 
 
Option 4 
 
121. Reject the application by making no order. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
  
122. In the unlikely event of a High Court application costs follow the decision. Such 

applications normally involve high litigation costs and should the council be found at 
fault and costs be awarded against it, the council will be liable for those costs. Such 
liability for costs exists regardless of which decision is taken and whether the 
committee accept the recommendation or not. 

 
123. In light of the risk of cost to the council as identified in the preceding paragraph and 

of the legal and financial implications set out in paragraphs 105 to 115, the 
committee in making its decision, must follow all the legal guidance set out in 
paragraphs 5 to 11 above and in all parts of Appendix 5. The committee should 
consider the material evidence and apply the legal tests which are outlined in this 
report, with the assistance of the council’s legal services.  
 

124. The consequences of Options 1 to 4 are set out in paragraphs 105 to 123 above. 
These consequences are all part of the normal statutory procedures provided by 
WCA81 for reviewing the Definitive Map and Statement. 
 
 

Page 26



EVALUATION 
 
125. As described in paragraphs 82 and 83, 89 and 95 it is concluded that the claimed 

path is reasonably alleged to exist as a public right of way with bridleway status on 
the basis of deemed dedication under section 31 HA80 and under common law. 

 
126. Any order to add a path to the Definitive Map and Statement must state the width of 

the path in the order; the width may vary between sections and within a single 
section. The descriptions of the path width in the user evidence accompanying this 
application vary considerably, and the user evidence forms do not prompt the user 
to describe how the width might vary along the length of the claimed path or the 
different sections. Therefore, in the event that it is decided that an order should be 
made, further work will be required to determine the appropriate width or widths. 
Such work may be undertaken before the order is made by Council staff according 
to the user evidence and physical characteristics on the ground. 

 
APPENDICES ATTACHED 
 
Appendix 1: Application  
 
Appendix 2: Site Maps and photographs  
 
Item 1. Definitive Map 2000 extract.  
Item 2. Site photographs 1 – 18.  
 
Appendix 3: Formal Consultation Response - Councillor Jonathan Bacon email 18 June 2021.  
 
Appendix 4: Land ownership  
 
Item 1a-c. Land Registry official copies IW57447. 
Item 2a-b. Land Registry official copies IW24133.   
 
Appendix 5: Legal background  
 
Item 1. Legal background and guidance. 
Item 2. Quasi-judicial role of the panel. 
Item 3. Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Consistency Guidelines, Section 5, pages 4 to 16 
Item 4. Section 31 Highways Act 1980. 
Item 5. Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Consistency Guidelines, Section 4, pages 7 to 9. 
Item 6. DEFRA Circular 1/09, pages 18 to 20.  
 
Appendix 6: User evidence  
 
Item 1. User evidence forms. 
Item 2. User witness interview notes. 
Item 3. User witness use tables: 
     3(a) Table 1. Summary of evidence 
     3(b) Table 2. Use of Section AB 1985-2005 
     3(c) Table 3. Use of Section AB 1989-2009 
     3(d) Table 4. Use of Section BD 1989-2009 
     3(e) Table 5. Section BC 1989-2009 
     3(f) Table 6. Section DE 1989-2009 
Note: The content of Tables 2 and 3 is the same - all users who started using Section AB in or 
before 1985 continued to use this Section until 2016/17. 
 

Page 27



Appendix 7: Landowner evidence  
 
Item 1. RSPB email dated 24 July 2019 
Item 2. RSPB email dated 2 March 2021 
 
Appendix 8: Documentary evidence  
 
Item 1. Statutory Declaration 2001 
Item 2. Section 31(6) Deposit, 2009 
Item 3. Photograph, section AB 
Item 4. Photographs, signage 
Item 5. Section 55(1) British Transport Commission Act 1949 
Item 6. Declaration 2005 
Item 7. Site Manager’s Narrative 
Item 8. Extract from “The Bembridge Branch Line”1988 
Item 9. O.S. Maps 1862-2014   
 
Appendix 9: Applicant and landowner comments on draft report 
 
Items 1-3. RSPB comments 
 
 
Contact Point: Darrel Clarke, Rights of Way Manager, ☎ 821000 
e-mail darrel.clarke@iow.gov.uk  
 

DIRECTOR   

Colin Rowland  
Director of Neighbourhoods 

(CLLR) CABINET MEMBER 
 

Jonathan Bacon 
Cabinet Member for Climate Change,  
Environment, Heritage, Human Resources  
and Legal & Democratic Services 

 
 

Page 28

mailto:darrel.clarke@iow.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



APPENDIX 2

P
age 33

Sarah Manchester
Appendix 2, Item 1 - OS Map
Representation of the path subject to the application (yellow dashed lines AB, BD, DE, and BC) 



                Appendix 2, Item 2 
Site Photographs 1 - 18    
(labels/points as per application map; yellow marking up is for indication/explanation purposes only) 
 

 
Photograph 1: Point A with “no public right of way” sign in background (see photographs 15 and 16) 

 
 

 
Photograph 2 – Section of A-B (1) start of claimed route after leaving the road 

Page 34



 
Photograph 3: Section of A-B (2) 

 
 

 
Photograph 4: Section A-B (3) 

Page 35



 
Photograph 5: Point B (at end of section A-B) 

 
 

 
Photograph 6: B to D 

Page 36



 
Photograph 7: section of B-D 

 
 

 
Photograph 8: Point D (1) 

Page 37



 
Photograph 9: Point D (2) 

Page 38



 
Photograph 10: Point E and direction of claimed route (towards D) 

 
 

 
Photograph 11:  Section E-D 

 

Page 39



 
Photograph 12: Point C 

 
 

 
Photograph 13:  Section of C-B 

Page 40



 
Photograph 14: towards the end of section C-B 

 
 

 
Photograph 15: “no public right of way” sign referred to in photograph 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 41



 
 
 

 
Photograph 16: “no public right of way” sign referred to in photograph 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 
Photograph 17: additional view of section D-E (1) 

 
 

 
Photograph 18: additional view of section D-E (2) 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Bacon, Jonathan
Subject: RE: Proposed Definitive Map Modification Order - Claimed Public Right of Way, Bembridge, Isle of Wight

Date: 18 June 2021 at 00:11
To: Sarah Manchester

Dear Sarah

Thank you for the email below and apologies for my delay in responding.

This is a proposal I have been aware of for a considerable time. I am also aware of
what I believe is an impressive collection of evidence that I understand has been
submitted in support of the proposed route.

I am fully in support of the suggested modification, which I believe is supported by the
evidence and will be of great benefit to the local community.

I hope that the modification can move to being approved as soon as possible.

Jonathan Bacon

From: Sarah Manchester 
Sent: 18 May 2021 13:03
To: Bembridge Parish Council ; Robertson, Joe

; Bacon, Jonathan 
Cc: Clarke, Darrel 
Subject: Proposed Definitive Map Modification Order - Claimed Public Right of Way,
Bembridge, Isle of Wight

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is safe. Further information

can be found here.

Dear Sir/Madam,

CONSULTATION: SECTION 53 – WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981
Proposed Addition of Public Footpath/Bridleway on the Disused Railway Line,
south of Embankment  Road, Bembridge

Public Rights of Way are recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement which provide
conclusive evidence of the existence of public rights. The Isle of Wight Council (IWC)
is responsible for the Definitive Map and Statement for the Isle of Wight and has a
duty to amend it when evidence suggests that it is inaccurate or incomplete. Such
amendments are made by Modification Orders made under Section 53 of the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981.

The IWC Rights of Way service has received an application for a Definitive Map
Modification Order seeking to add a public right of way to the Definitive Map and
Statement at Bembridge. The claimed route is shown on the attached plan. The route
follows the disused railway between Points A-B-D, and connects the disused railway
with Embankment Road between Points B-C and D-E. The application is made on the
grounds that the extent and nature of the public use of the route has been sufficient to
support the presumption that the route has been dedicated as a public right of way.

I am working with Darrel Clarke, Rights of Way Manager at IWC, on the processing of
this application. Before the application is considered by the Council, I am undertaking

APPENDIX 3

Page 45

https://wightnet.iow.gov.uk/wightnetcontent/cybersecurity/


this application. Before the application is considered by the Council, I am undertaking
a preliminary consultation with the Parish Council and local Councillors. Please send
any comments, or any evidence in support or rebuttal of this application, to me at

by Friday 18 June 2021. If you would like to comment, but
are unable to do so by this date, please let me know. You will be further notified of any
Order that is subsequently made.

If you require any further information regarding the above matter, please contact me.

Kind regards,

Sarah Manchester
on behalf of Isle of Wight Council

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is safe. Further information

can be found here.

Page 46

https://wightnet.iow.gov.uk/wightnetcontent/cybersecurity/


APPENDIX 4

Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



P
age 53



P
age 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Appendix 5 – Item 1 

LEGAL BACKGROUND AND GUIDANCE FOR DETERMINING 
MODIFICATION ORDER APPLICATIONS 

Effect of the Definitive Map and Statement: 

1. Under section 56 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (WCA81), the Definitive
Map is conclusive proof of the existence and status, at the relevant date of the Map,
of the rights of way that are shown, but without prejudice to the possibility that further
rights may exist. The Definitive Statement is conclusive proof of the details which it
contains as to width, position and any conditions or limitations on the rights of way
shown on the Definitive Map.

Provisions of s53 WCA81 for modifying the Definitive Map and Statement: 

2. Under s53 WCA81 the Isle of Wight Council (Council), as the surveying authority,
has a duty to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review by
making modification orders when necessary because of certain events specified in
s53(3).

3. The events specified in s53(3)(a) are legal events such as diversion orders under
the Highways Act 1980 (HA80), for which an automatic map modification order not
requiring advertisement is made. The events specified in s53(3)(b) and (c) are those
which require the Council to consider evidence relating to a possible public right of
way, or to anything currently recorded in the Definitive Map and Statement. An order
is made according to the procedure set out in Schedule 15 WCA81 and must be
advertised to allow a period of public challenge and the possibility of a public inquiry
or hearing to test the evidence.

4. Under s53(5) and according to the procedure set out in Schedule 14 WCA81,
anyone may apply to the Council for a modification order required under (b) or (c),
that is, may bring evidence to the attention of the Council. The Council is then under
a duty to investigate that evidence and determine whether to make the order.  If this
determination is not made within 12 months, the applicant may apply to the Secretary
of State, who, after consulting with the Council, may direct the Council to do so.

5. If the Council determines not to make the order, the applicant may appeal to the
Secretary of State, who may direct the Council to make the order.

6. If the Council decides to make a modification order, it must be advertised for not
less than 42 days and if there are any objections which are not withdrawn, it must be
referred to the Secretary of State for determination and a public inquiry will usually be
held.

Section 53(3)(b) WCA81 event - Dedication of Highways: 

7. The event specified in s53(3)(b) WCA81 is the expiration of any period of time
such that public enjoyment of the way gives rise to a presumption of dedication of a
public right of way.  The question which usually has to be determined by the Council
when considering a modification order is whether the evidence shows that a highway
exists because dedication has occurred at common law or is deemed by operation of
section 31 HA80.

Page 67



8. A panel will have to decide on the basis of the evidence presented whether a
presumption of dedication has been raised or a right of way is at least reasonably
alleged to exist.   The standard of proof to be applied is the balance of probability.

9. Once public rights are dedicated over a way, that way becomes a highway and
exists in perpetuity unless stopped up or diverted by statutory order.  The highway
does not cease to exist because it is not used, hence the maxim ‘once a highway,
always a highway’.

10. Guidance on the law and evaluation of evidence relating to the dedication of
highways is at Appendix 5 - Item 3 : Section 5 Dedication / User Evidence in the
Consistency Guidelines issued to inspectors by the Planning Inspectorate (8th
revision – July 2013).  Evidence concerning dedication should be interpreted in the
light of the principles set out therein.  A copy of s31 HA80 is at Appendix 5 – Item 4.

Dedication: Section 31 Highways Act 1980 (HA80): 

11. A statutory presumption of dedication is raised if a period of public use has
occurred which meets the requirements set out in s31(1) HA80.

12. Dedication is deemed under s31 HA80 if the public have actually used the way
as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years counted
retrospectively from the date the right of the public was brought into question, unless
there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate
it.  Once a presumption of dedication is raised, the onus is on the owner to
demonstrate sufficient evidence of negation. Evidence of overt and
contemporaneous acts (during the statutory period) are required.

Dedication: Common Law: 

13. For dedication to be implied at common law, there must be intent to dedicate on
the part of the owner and acceptance (actual use) by the public.  In most cases user
evidence is relied on to prove both requirements.  The onus is on those claiming the
right to prove the owner’s intention to dedicate.  The inference of dedication at
common law should not be drawn unless there is no other way of explaining the
evidence. Proving dedication at common law therefore depends on such factors as
the level and length of user, the extent to which the owner was aware of it and what
other explanation there might be.

Section 53(3)(c) WCA81 events: 

14. The event specified in s53(3)(c) WCA81 is the Council’s discovery of evidence
concerning a public right of way. An order should be made if on balance of probability
the evidence, when considered with all other relevant available evidence, shows:

(i) That a right of way which is not shown in the Map and Statement subsists, or
is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the Map
relates, being a right of way to which this part applies.

(ii) That a highway shown in the Map and Statement as a highway of a particular
description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description.

(iii) That there is no public right of way over land shown in the Map and
Statement as a highway of any description, or any other particulars contained
in the Map and Statement require modification.

Page 68



 

  

 
 
 
Event (i) (s53(3)(c)(i) WCA81): 
 

15. If a way is not shown on the Definitive Map but documentary evidence (for 
example an enclosure award, or a map and register produced under the Finance Act 
1910) shows that the way is, or is reasonably alleged to be, a public right of way, it is 
under this head that an application will be made for the path to be added to the 
Definitive Map. 
 

Event (ii) (s53(3)(c)(ii) WCA81): 
 

16. It is under this heading that an application would be made for a path to be 
“upgraded” (e.g. from footpath to bridleway or restricted byway) or “downgraded”.  In 
Burrows v Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2004) it was 
held that to change the status of a way there cannot simply be a re-examination of 
the same evidence that had previously been considered when the Definitive Map was 
drawn up: there had to be some new evidence, which when considered with the other 
evidence justifies a modification. 
 

Event (iii) (s53(3)(c)(iii) WCA81): 
 

17. In the case of the deletion of a right of way, because of the conclusive evidential 
effect of the Definitive Map and Statement (s56 WCA81), the evidence supporting a 
deletion must show that no right of way existed at the relevant date of the Definitive 
Map on which the right of way was first shown. The onus is on the applicant to 
demonstrate that an error has been made, rather than for the Council to prove that 
the Definitive Map is correct. If the Council itself has evidence of an error, it must 
similarly demonstrate the fact before making an order.        
 

18. In the case of “any other particularsDrequire modification”, “particulars” have 
been held to be referring to details such as the position, width and any limitations or 
conditions affecting the public right of way e.g. where the Statement is vague as to 
the route of the path and/or a dispute relating to its precise line. 
 

Section 53(3)(c) WCA81 events - general: 
 

19. Definitive Maps and Statements were originally prepared by a statutory regime 
provided by the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949.  Surveying 
authorities (county councils) were required to draft a map and Statement of all public 
rights of way in their area which in their opinion existed or were reasonably alleged to 
subsist. Parish and district councils were required to provide information on paths in 
their area and to hold a meeting to consider the information gathered before 
submitting it to the surveying authority. There were procedures for hearing and 
determining objections at both the draft and provisional stages before the final Map 
and Statement were published. At the draft, provisional and final stages, validity of 
the procedure could be challenged by application to the High Court within six weeks 
of the notice of publication of the draft, provisional or final map respectively. Other 
than this, the Map and Statement cannot be questioned in any legal proceedings 
whatsoever. Under WCA81 the Map and Statement is now reviewed by individual 
modification orders, to which a similar provision applies. 
 

20. The Map must have a Definitive Statement annexed to it containing the relevant 
date of the Map. This is the date on which the rights shown on the Map were 
ascertained as existing by the statutory procedure. Public rights of way are highways 
and can only be stopped up or diverted by statutory order, so in the absence of such 
an order, the rights shown on the Map continue to exist. 
 

Page 69



 

  

 
 
 
21. Under s56 of WCA81 a Definitive Map is conclusive evidence of the existence of 
the rights shown on it at the relevant date of the Map.  In relation to any highway 
shown on the Map, the Statement is conclusive evidence of such particulars as to 
position, width, conditions and limitations as the surveying authority consider it 
expedient to record. Under this section, a Map and Statement may therefore be 
produced in any proceeding (apart from its own review) as conclusive of what it 
shows. 
 

22. According to the principle of regularity it is assumed the proper procedures of a 
statutory regime have been carried out. In the case of Definitive Maps and 
Statements this would mean that for any route shown on the Map it is assumed there 
was, at the time it was added to the Map, evidence it was a right of way and 
moreover this evidence survived the statutory opportunity to challenge it. Therefore 
when considering whether a right of way shown on a Definitive Map exists, case law 
has established that the initial presumption, known as the ‘Trevelyan presumption’, is 
that the Map is correct in what it shows (Phillips LJ in Trevelyan v. SoS for the 
Environment 2001). 
 

23. The advice of the Department of the Environment (DEFRA) is that everything 
shown on Definitive Maps and Statements will have gone through a process of 
challenge and confirmation and that such documents are presumed correct unless 
there is very cogent evidence that an error was made.   
 

24. Where evidence shows that a path has not been recorded on its true line, the 
correct procedure is to make a modification order which both deletes the incorrectly 
recorded line (under s 53(3)(c)(iii) WCA81 and adds the correct route (under 
s53(3)(c)(i) WCA81). 
 

25. The Planning Inspectorate’s Definitive Map Orders: Consistency Guidelines 
Section 4 (Appendix 5 – Item 5) are relevant to section 53(3)(c) events.  Sections 
4.30 – 4.35 “Deletion or downgrading of ways shown on the Definitive Map and 
Statement” of DEFRA’s Guidance to Local Authorities (Rights of Way Circular 1/09) 
is at Appendix 5 – Item 6. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



 

  

                                                                                  Appendix 5 – Item 2 
 
 
Quasi-Judicial Role of the Panel 
 
In considering the evidence, the Council is acting as a tribunal of fact and must meet 
the following requirements. 

 
The Panel must objectively consider all the available relevant evidence, taking advice 
as to application of legal principles where necessary, and come to a conclusion, on 
the balance of probability, on matters relating to the existence of public rights of way 
in order to determine whether a modification of the Definitive Map and Statement is 
required. 
 
The balance of probability test:  Once all of the evidence has been individually 
assessed, this test requires a comparative assessment of the evidence on opposing 
sides.  It is a complex balancing act, involving careful assessment of the relative 
values of the individual pieces of evidence and the evidence taken together.  

 
Such matters may include whether a presumption of dedication is raised, whether 
such a presumption is negated, whether a right of way subsists, details relating to 
position and width, or to limits or conditions on a dedication.  

 
The Panel must disregard all views which are not relevant to the fact which has to be 
found.  Such views may concern for example the effect or desirability of the right of 
way should it be found to exist. 

 
The Panel must apply the principles of natural justice. The decision itself will depend 
upon the facts and law, but in making that decision it is important that persons who 
will be affected by the order if made, notably landowners and occupiers, have 
sufficient opportunity to put evidence forward themselves and to comment on the 
evidence being considered by the Council. The Council should therefore consider 
only the evidence and comments presented in writing in the report, which all 
landowners will have seen and had the opportunity to comment on. 

Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



APPENDIX 6 ITEM 1 
PART 1

Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



Page 325



Page 326



Page 327



Page 328



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



Page 356



Page 357



Page 358



Page 359



Page 360



Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



Page 386



Page 387



Page 388



Page 389



Page 390



Page 391



Page 392



Page 393



Page 394



Page 395



Page 396



Page 397



Page 398



Page 399



Page 400



Page 401



Page 402



Page 403



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



Page 442



Page 443



Page 444



Page 445



Page 446



Page 447



Page 448



Page 449



Page 450



Page 451



Page 452



Page 453



Page 454



Page 455



Page 456



Page 457



Page 458



Page 459



Page 460



Page 461



Page 462



Page 463



Page 464



Page 465



Page 466



Page 467



Page 468



Page 469



Page 470



Page 471



Page 472



Page 473



Page 474



Page 475



Page 476



Page 477



Page 478



Page 479



Page 480



Page 481



Page 482



Page 483



Page 484



Page 485



Page 486



Page 487



Page 488



Page 489



Page 490



Page 491



Page 492



Page 493



Page 494



Page 495



Page 496



Page 497



Page 498



Page 499



Page 500



Page 501



Page 502



Page 503



Page 504



Page 505



Page 506



Page 507



Page 508



Page 509



Page 510



Page 511



Page 512



Page 513



Page 514



Page 515



Page 516



Page 517



Page 518



Page 519



Page 520



Page 521



Page 522



Page 523



Page 524



Page 525



Page 526



Page 527



Page 528



Page 529



Page 530



Page 531



Page 532



Page 533



Page 534



Page 535



Page 536



Page 537



Page 538



Page 539



Page 540



Page 541



Page 542



Page 543



Page 544



Page 545



Page 546



Page 547



Page 548



APPENDIX 6 - ITEM 1 
PART 2

Page 549



Page 550



Page 551



Page 552



Page 553



Page 554



Page 555



Page 556



Page 557



Page 558



Page 559



Page 560



Page 561



Page 562



Page 563



Page 564



Page 565



Page 566



Page 567



Page 568



Page 569



Page 570



Page 571



Page 572



Page 573



Page 574



Page 575



Page 576



Page 577



Page 578



Page 579



Page 580



Page 581



Page 582



Page 583



Page 584



Page 585



Page 586



Page 587



Page 588



Page 589



Page 590



Page 591



Page 592



Page 593



Page 594



Page 595



Page 596



Page 597



Page 598



Page 599



Page 600



Page 601



Page 602



Page 603



Page 604



Page 605



Page 606



Page 607



Page 608



Page 609



Page 610



Page 611



Page 612



Page 613



Page 614



Page 615



Page 616



Page 617



Page 618



Page 619



Page 620



Page 621



Page 622



Page 623



Page 624



Page 625



Page 626



Page 627



Page 628



Page 629



Page 630



Page 631



Page 632



Page 633



Page 634



Page 635



Page 636



Page 637



Page 638



Page 639



Page 640



Page 641



Page 642



Page 643



Page 644



Page 645



Page 646



Page 647



Page 648



Page 649



Page 650



Page 651



Page 652



Page 653



Page 654



Page 655



Page 656



Page 657



Page 658



Page 659



Page 660



Page 661



Page 662



Page 663



Page 664



Page 665



Page 666



Page 667



Page 668



Page 669



Page 670



Page 671



Page 672



Page 673



Page 674



Page 675



Page 676



Page 677



Page 678



Page 679



Page 680



Page 681



Page 682



Page 683



Page 684



Page 685



Page 686



Page 687



Page 688



Page 689



Page 690



Page 691



Page 692



Page 693



Page 694



Page 695



Page 696



Page 697



Page 698



Page 699



Page 700



Page 701



Page 702



Page 703



Page 704



Page 705



Page 706



Page 707



Page 708



Page 709



Page 710



Page 711



Page 712



Page 713



Page 714



Page 715



Page 716



Page 717



Page 718



Page 719



Page 720



Page 721



Page 722



Page 723



Page 724



Page 725



Page 726



Page 727



Page 728



Page 729



Page 730



Page 731



Page 732



Page 733



Page 734



Page 735



Page 736



Page 737



Page 738



Page 739



Page 740



Page 741



Page 742



Page 743



Page 744



Page 745



Page 746



Page 747



Page 748



Page 749



Page 750



Page 751



Page 752



Page 753



Page 754



Page 755



Page 756



Page 757



Page 758



Page 759



Page 760



Page 761



Page 762



Page 763



Page 764



Page 765



Page 766



Page 767



Page 768



Page 769



Page 770



Page 771



Page 772



Page 773



Page 774



Page 775



Page 776



Page 777



Page 778



Page 779



Page 780



Page 781



Page 782



Page 783



Page 784



Page 785



Page 786



Page 787



Page 788



Page 789



Page 790



Page 791



Page 792



Page 793



Page 794



Page 795



Page 796



Page 797



Page 798



Page 799



Page 800



Page 801



Page 802



Page 803



Page 804



Page 805



Page 806



Page 807



Page 808



Page 809



Page 810



Page 811



Page 812



Page 813



Page 814



Page 815



Page 816



Page 817



Page 818



Page 819



Page 820



Page 821



Page 822



Page 823



Page 824



Page 825



Page 826



Page 827



Page 828



Page 829



Page 830



Page 831



Page 832



Page 833



Page 834



Page 835



Page 836



Page 837



Page 838



Page 839



Page 840



Page 841



Page 842



Page 843



Page 844



Page 845



Page 846



Page 847



Page 848



Page 849



Page 850



Page 851



Page 852



Page 853



Page 854



Page 855



Page 856



Page 857



Page 858



Page 859



Page 860



Page 861



Page 862



Page 863



Page 864



Page 865



Page 866



Page 867



Page 868



Page 869



Page 870



Page 871



Page 872



Page 873



Page 874



Page 875



Page 876



Page 877



Page 878



Page 879



Page 880



Page 881



Page 882



Page 883



Page 884



Page 885



Page 886



Page 887



Page 888



Page 889



Page 890



Page 891



Page 892



Page 893



Page 894



Page 895



Page 896



Page 897



Page 898



Page 899



Page 900



Page 901



Page 902



Page 903



Page 904



Page 905



Page 906



Page 907



Page 908



Page 909



Page 910



Page 911



Page 912



Page 913



Page 914



Page 915



Page 916



Page 917



Page 918



Page 919



Page 920



Page 921



Page 922



Page 923



Page 924



Page 925



Page 926



Page 927



Page 928



Page 929



Page 930



Page 931



Page 932



Page 933



Page 934



Page 935



Page 936



Page 937



Page 938



Page 939



Page 940



Page 941



Page 942



Page 943



Page 944



Page 945



Page 946



Page 947



Page 948



Page 949



Page 950



Page 951



Page 952



Page 953



Page 954



Page 955



Page 956



Page 957



Page 958



Page 959



Page 960



Page 961



Page 962



Page 963



Page 964



Page 965



Page 966



Page 967



Page 968



Page 969



Page 970



Page 971



Page 972



Page 973



Page 974



Page 975



Page 976



Page 977



Page 978



Name 
* = not willing to
attend Inquiry

Interview 
Date

Notes

Malcolm Wade - 
Claimant

Wed 9 June Prompted to make claim after RSPB volunteers had altercation with two ladies walking dogs on route. Ladies reduced to 
tears. Mr Ken Bexley also abused by volunteers. Mr Wade went to Parish Council to find out what the position was, was 
told that the RSPB had made the route a permissive path. Mr Wade knew the route as a public right of way and so started 
the process of making the claim. He wanted the route to be always kept open for use by the public - public access 
shouldn’t be controlled by the RSPB.

Has always lived locally and played on the line, and on neighbouring land, as a child and youth. DE has never been under 
water - it does get muddy. It has become wetter in recent years since the RSPB put in a sluice gate to raise the water levels 
maybe 10 years ago. The barrier at D was put up by the RSPB because of a rare shrimp. The line to the east of Point D was 
backfilled after the land was sold by the railway, and then sold piecemeal, by the new landowners who expanded their 
business premises over the old railway track bed. Remembers RSPB removing trees and carrying out works - the track was 
never gated or barriered. Believes that any gate or barrier would have been removed by the public. The trees that were 
removed from site were not near the railway line and it wouldn’t make sense to take timber off-site along the railway line as 
other routes more convenient. Uses both BC and DE, roughly the same amount, depending on the length of walk they want 
to take.

Roy Burrows Wed 23 June Is aware that the route has been used a lot by the public since the railway stopped. Has personal knowledge of its use 
since 1968. Has used it regularly, walking, at least once a week, since moving to Bembridge in 1987. Uses the route to go 
for a walk as an alternative to walking along the beach, and for birdwatching. There is more to see on this route. Has always 
used DE to get to Embankment Road. The water level can be high on DE but could always get through - on planks that 
people had put down and also wore wellington boots when path likely to be muddy/wet. Considered BC to be private - did 
use BC but only when visiting Mr Hicks. Remembers RSPB doing works, but not on land adjacent to the railway line - trees 
were cleared near the farm to prevent raptors using them. Understood that the RSPB had implied that they had a right to 
close off the path, but spoke with a bird warden who told him that the RSPB were happy with the situation i.e. with people 
walking ABDE. Recollects seeing a noticeboard about wildlife - it may have included a map of the reserve but it didn’t say 
anything about where you go or people not having the right to be there. The current barrier at Point D makes a powerful 
statement - has been able to circumnavigate it but only wearing robust outer clothing. There’s nothing on the barrier to say 
who put it up or why - suspects it may be associated with a desire to develop the car park.

Michael Carline Mon 14 June Prior to 2010 walked regularly whilst on holiday, every year since the 1970’s. Lived on IoW since 2010 and walked 200 
times a year from 2010 onwards, until recently when dog has got too old. Never able to walk beyond Point D. Always able 
to use DE, but chose to use BC more often as it’s easier going. Parts of DE could be challenging in wet weather. Never 
seen barrier or gate across path. Didn’t remember seeing RSPB doing site works. Has seen information boards near the 
lagoon - info about wildlife e.g. shrimp. No maps showing where could / couldn’t walk. Always assumed it was a PROW, 
other people using it - walking, dog walking, cycling. Never walked it without meet somebody else on route.

APPENDIX 6 - ITEM 2

P
age 979



Cecil Dyer * Thu 10 June Used on foot and bike roughly 50/50, about 15 times per year each. On foot normally used DE, on bike 50/50 BC and DE - 
BC easier to use by bike. Used to go all way along, but stopped when east of D was built over. DE always accessible even 
when could still follow railway all the way to Bembridge. DE lower lying than the railway so gets muddy in wet weather, but 
has never been completely under water. Plank of wood laid across muddy ground to enable crossing. Fence preventing 
access beyond Point D put up in the 1970’s. Recalls the RSPB undertaking works, but never saw fence or barrier across 
the old railway. Gate put in the fence at the side of the railway track to allow access to the reserve. Thousands of people 
have used the route on foot, bike and horseback - they just went ahead and used it once the trains stopped. It’s a lovely 
path, very quiet. Said he didn’t want to attend a public inquiry as had ill health at the time of completing the form - now 
better.

Rosemary Edwards Sat 29 May Used twice a week on horseback 1966 to 2020 (stopped riding horse out due to Covid safety advice). Also walks the dog 
several times a week - at high tides when not possible to walk on beach. Doesn’t keep horse at Harbour Farm or ride with 
people from Harbour Farm. Used to work for previous landowner, Yarland Properties Ltd. The landowner took the view that 
it was fine for people to walk and ride on the railway line path as they understood it was safer than using the road. Indicated 
“permissive” status on form because she knew it was privately owned and knew that the owners were happy for the public 
to use the route. In Ms Edwards opinion it was more that Yarland Properties acquiesced in the use (didn’t bat an eyelid) 
rather than they pro-actively gave permission. No-one specifically gave her permission, but she knew that the landowner 
didn’t mind people using the route. Yarland Properties initially closed the path one day a year, but stopped doing this in the 
mid 1970’s as they thought it was pointless. Used BC more often than DE as it’s easier to use. DE gets muddy, but DE was 
never under water. Path blocked off to the east of Point D in the 1970’s when materials were tipped which blocked the 
track. Fence put up later - can’t remember when. Prior to being blocked off, used to follow the old railway line all the way 
into Bembridge. Has used DE since path blocked off when dry. Remembers RSPB doing works to the Reserve, but access 
along path was always possible. No barrier. Believes RSPB would have accessed the reserve from the Harbour Farm 
access road rather than the disused railway, as that would have been easier.

George Gaskin Mon 14 June Mr Gaskin and his wife have used the route since they were children. Used to go all the way into Bembridge across land 
owned by Mr Hicks, but the business units at the side of the route pushed their land back so that the path was closed off - 
early 1970’s. DE was open and people used it before the section east of Point D was closed off. Mrs Gaskin was told to not 
use DE about 5 years ago, just before it was fenced off, but that was the only time. DE was never under water - the surface 
was drier in summer than winter but always walkable. Both use the route several times a week - they enjoy birdwatching 
and it’s an easy (level), no stiles walk. Mr Gaskin cycled the route mainly in the 1990s through to 2001 - cycled with a friend 
every other day. Mr Gaskin has used BC, but rarely. DE is a longer off-road walk with more wildlife to see. Mr & Mrs Gaskin 
remember the RSPB felling oak trees, but don’t remember when. Mrs Gaskin thought the railway was barriered off to stop 
people using it. Mr Gaskin also thinks a fence was put up when the trees were taken down, but that the fence didn’t stay up 
for long because of the number of complaints.

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Interview 
Date

Notes

P
age 980



Michael Jacobs Fri 11 June Is 68 now, and has used the track all his life - has always lived locally. Had a brain injury 12 years ago and has some 
difficulties with recollection. Used to play on the surrounding land as a child. Used to walk all the way into Bembridge, has 
used DE since the track into Bembridge was blocked off. Has also used BC throughout - just as a different option. 
Remembers RSPB doing site works, recalls leaning on gate between disused railway track and marshes and site worker 
asking him what he was looking at, and that if he went onto the nature reserve he would be fined. He was never told not to 
use the railway track. Nor were there ever any gates or barriers across the disused railway track. Doesn’t remember what 
the signs say.

Sue McLagan Wed 16 June Prior to 1981, throughout the 1960’s and 70’s, used the route whilst staying at the family holiday home in Bembridge. Was 
at boarding school, and every holiday was spent at holiday home. Used to ride ponies from various local stables up to 
several times a week. Didn’t ride from Harbour Farm - was never given permission by any pony/stable owner - rode the 
route as if it were any other public route. Also used route on foot and on bike during this time - used to play on and around 
the route and used the route all the way through to Bembridge station where used to play on the turntable. Also used both 
BC and DE at this time as they were open and available. Lived abroad between 1981 and 2001. Since 2001, route east from 
D has been blocked off. Between 2001 - 2016 used the route on cycle and on foot, with dog. On average twice a week - 
even split between foot and bike. Used both BC and DE - DE for preference as it is a longer off-road route unless too 
muddy for footwear. DE is at the end of a lagoon - it used to be drier but RSPB management has made DE wetter. 
Remembers small building by Harbour Farm access route being dry and usable - now flooded and unusable. Remembers 
RSPB doing works to reserve here and at Brading Marshes - remembers unattended fires at Brading. Doesn’t remember 
being prevented from using the route by a barrier or gate, but would have climbed over a barrier/gate in order to continue 
using the route as she had always done. Remembers seeing Notice Boards near to Point D - but nothing on Notice Boards 
relating to public access or where people could or couldn’t walk. Believes the route should be kept open for everyone to 
enjoy - so much wildlife and many different bird species.

Richard Newell Wed 23 June Has walked the route since 1979 when moved to current address. From 1979 to mid-2000’s was a member of Brading 
Haven Yacht Club and used to walk the route a couple of times a week. Since not being a member, has walked it 
spasmodically, mostly dog walking. Has never used BC - considered it to be a private road owned by Mr Hicks. DE can be 
muddy and overgrown, but is never completely flooded. DE always passable. Has seen Notice Boards, but never anything 
about access or where people can or can’t walk. The Notice Boards are about the wildlife. The boatyard crossed by DE is 
owned by Mr Norris - there is a for sale board up.

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Interview 
Date

Notes

P
age 981



David Preston Thu 10 June Used to use on foot, horseback and cycle. Stopped horse riding in about 2000 - before that used to walk/cycle/ride equally 
3 times a week on average. The alternative was to use the road - the railway line route is safer and more pleasant. Uses 
both BC and DE, but uses DE more frequently as it means less use of road. Now only walks, about once a week. Lived 
nearby as a child and used the line as a playground when the trains stopped. Used to use the route all the way through to 
Bembridge station. Doesn’t remember when, but when the Harbour was bought by Selwyn and Woodnutt, the boatyard 
and other businesses did a deal with Selwyn who let them have the land behind their businesses, and the businesses 
expanded over and physically filled in the railway line land preventing use. Land between railway line and Embankment 
Road east of Harbour Farm access track has been flooded in recent years by the RSPB, so it is wetter now than it used to 
be. DE never so wet that it couldn’t be used - planks were put down. Doesn’t remember being prevented from using the 
railway, but vaguely remembers barriers being put up when RSPB doing works, but barriers were immediately removed, 
probably by the public.

John Richards Wed 23 June Has walked the claimed routes since moving to Bembridge in 1974. Is a member of the Brading Haven Yacht Club, and 
regularly walks to the Club and back - roughly twice a week during the 1970’s-2000’s, less frequently now due to age. 
Sometimes used to go beyond Point D, but not as a through route to Bembridge - used it to access land privately owned 
by an acquaintance. Has always used both BC and DE - DE is the route of choice, as it is closer to Bembridge, but 
occasionally after heavy rain DE would be difficult to use so would opt to use BC. Has seen planks put down on DE over 
the muddy ground. Remembers RSPB doing site works in the 2000’s but was never prevented from using the route by a 
gate or barrier across the path. Has seen information boards - information about the site and the wildlife e.g. the hairy 
shrimp. Attended a lecture about the shrimp. The signs didn’t refer to access, or provide maps showing where people could 
or couldn’t go. Always assumed that people could walk the route after the railway stopped running. Understands that 
Malcolm Thorpe (who he thought still owned the old railway line) was very happy to allow public access. The RSPB has 
raised the water levels which attracts more birds, and many people come for birdwatching. The old railway line is a good 
place for watching wildlife. People have used the route on a daily basis since he came to Bembridge - has seldom walked 
the route without seeing someone else.

Pat Scott Sat 19 June Used on foot and horseback, once or twice a week each until early 2000’s. After that on foot, walking and dog walking. 
Used to go all the way through to Bembridge Station on foot and horseback until the route got blocked off. After route 
through to Bembridge station blocked off, started using BC and DE - regularly used both routes on foot, choice depended 
on length of walk. Didn’t use DE on horse. DE used to get muddy, planks of wood needed to get across, but never 
completely under water. Doesn’t remember RSPB doing site works or removing trees.

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Interview 
Date

Notes

P
age 982



Linda Smith * Sat 29 May Used regularly since 2004 (before that when on holiday). Sometimes with dog just walked ABD return. Other times, and 
when going into Bembridge, used BC or DE. Preferred DE to avoid on-road walking, but when muddy/flooded would use 
BC instead. Remember RSPB doing works, removing shed, tree works etc. May have had to walk around heavy vehicles, 
but path never closed off - could always get through. Info boards very helpful - info about habitats, wildlife etc. No maps on 
boards. Doesn’t want to appear at Inquiry as not good at public speaking.

Andrew Squibb * Thu 10 June Cycled to school 5 days a week. Since then cycles and walks about once every 3 weeks on average - more often cycling 
than walking. Uses both BC and DE, depending on how feeling on the day. Both BC and DE on foot and bike. Car park 
used for materials and plant for Yar Bridge replacement in 1991-92 may have obstructed DE. DE gets soggy sometimes, 
but not so that it can’t be used. Doesn’t remember any fences/barriers across railway line. Indicated ‘no’ to inquiry due to 
work commitments.

Deborah Valvona Thu 10 June Has used on foot, bike and horseback throughout the whole period. More recently most use on foot, and now uses more 
often, once or twice a week, with dogs and grandchildren. Kept horse in village, not at Harbour Farm. Used both BC and 
DE on horse, bike and foot - would use DE more often as visibility better when exiting onto Embankment Road. Has known 
DE to be very wet, and believed it to be under water just before it was cordoned off, but not before that. Didn’t use the 
route when the RSPB was doing the site works, due to perception that it was dangerous, so doesn’t know whether it was 
fenced/gated or not.

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Interview 
Date

Notes

P
age 983



Bembridge DMMO - User Evidence Forms 

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

Mavis Ashford 1990 2016 Y 100-150 per 
year

Leisure and avoid traffic

Amanda Attrill 1976 2017 Y Daily Dog walking

Jeremy Attrill 1976 1992 Y Y Daily To school and recreation

Valerie Attrill 1975 2016 Y Lots Horse riding

George Baker 2001 2016 Y 10 per year Not B-C, D-E; Dog walking, photography

Paul Baker 2001 2016 Y 40 per year Not B-C, D-E; Dog walking

David Bateman 1991 2016 Y Weekly A-B-C only; To surgery

Kathleen Bateman 1991 2016 Y Y Y Weekly A-B-C only; Dog walking, horse riding

Sandra Beaney 1956 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking

Alan Beaton 1987 Y 3-5 per year Not B-C; Leisure

Connie Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Not B-C; Dog walking

Ken Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Dog walking

Anthea Blackwell 1960’s 2016 Y 60 - 72 per 
year

Not B-C; Birdwatching, shopping, visiting friends, 
blackberrying

Jane Bland 1960 2017 Y Weekly Pleasure

William Bland 1969 2017 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Leisure

Alan Blenkinsop 2009 2016 Y Several Not B-C; Status believed to be permissive; Mentions 
RSPB Info Board

P
age 984



Clare Blenkinsop 2009 2016 Y Several Not B-C; Status believed to be permissive; Mentions 
RSPB Info Board

Lesley Booth 1986 2016 Y -

Richard Bond 2009 2016 Y 12 per year Pleasure

Steven Brooks 1976 2016 Y Y Y Motorcycle Weekly Not B-C; Accessed marshes area as well

James Bullin 1960’s 2016 Y 20 per year Recreation

Roy Burrows 1987 2016 Y 25 per year Recreation, Birdwatching; Natural history noticeboard; 
Mr Hides was the landowner

Alasdair Campbell 2007 2016 Y 40 per year Dog walking

Michael Carline 1970’s 2016 Y 200 per year Leisure; RSPB and Lagoons noticeboards

David Cassell 1958 1968 Y Y 6-8 per year Family walks

Martin Coombes 1954 2016 Y Y Many Leisure, dog walking, birdwatching, commute

Simon Coombes 1983 2016 Y Y 4-6 per year Bridleway to Harbour Farm, then footpath; Dog walking, 
Pleasure, Commuting; Since baby in pram

Brian Cole 1975 2016 Y Y 50 per year Leisure

Tobba Cole 1970 2016 Y Y - Leisure, utility, avoid traffic

D Corney 1970 2016 Y Many

Roger Curtis 2006 2016 Y Several Pleasure

Caroline Death 2000 2016 Y 6 per year Dog walking and utility

Clive Dove 1965 2016 Y 20 per year Dog walking

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 985



Jo Dove 1965 2016 Y 20 per year           “

Cecil Dyer 1965 2016 Y Y 30 times per 
year

Valerie Dyer 1975 2000 Y Most 
weekends

Not B-C; Dog walking

Sunny Eastwick 1950’s 2016 Y Many Dog walking and pleasure

Rosemary Edwards 1966 2016 Y Y Twice a 
week

Believed permissive

Anna Fauzy-Ackroyd 2006 2016 Y 30 per year Not B-C; Utility and leisure; Information notices about 
wildlife; sits on wooden bench

Samuel Fingham 2000 2016 Y Running 20 per year

Jonathan Fitness 1997 2016 Y 10 - 15 per 
year

Utility and pleasure; RSPB Boards and Wildlife Info

George Gaskin 1970’s 2016 Y Y 350 per year Walking and birdwatching; Path used to go through to 
Bembridge until 1970-80 when fence put up. The No 
PROW signs refer to the River Yar and were to stop 
people walking up the riverbank. Map shows fences

Sharon Gaskin 1965 2017 Y 300 per year Path used to continue to Copse into road - shown on 
map. Recent nature reserve signs. Old ‘Private land 
trespassers will be prosecuted’ sign on rhs of path by 
metal gate in marshes on Thornycroft owned land

David Godfrey 1965 2016 Y 30 per year Not B-C; Dog walking

Raymond Gough 1976 2016 Y 2-3 per year Walking and Birdwatching; Lives in Ryde; Map shows 
path continuing beyond D

Sandra Gough 1976 2016 Y 3-4 per year         “        Brought children on nature walks

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 986



Joanne Haigh 1985 2016 Y 12 per year Walking

Lawrie Hanks 1971 2017 Y 20 per year Recreation and Birdwatching

John Harrison 1996 2016 Y 20 per year Not B-C; Fitness, avoid road

Ursula Harrison 1996 2016 Y 100 per year Not B-C; Utility, Birdwatching, Blackberrying

John Hawkes 2014 2016 Y Weekly Not B-C; Dog walking and birdwatching

Sonia Hawkes 2012 2016 Y 40 per year Not B-C; Dog walking and birdwatching

Nicholas Hawkins 1969 2016 Y 4-5 per year Not B-C; Pleasure; Used to be longer, marked on map

Kenneth Hayden 2011 2016 Y 20-50 per 
year

Leisure

Pia Henderson 2013 2016 Y - Utility

Archibald Henley 1966 1976 Y Twice a 
week

To work

Graham Henley 1975 2016 Y 10 per year Pleasure

Robin Henley 1953 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Dog walking; Started walking when the train stopped; 
Acquainted with previous owners Thorney Croft (1960) 
and Mr Hicks (1990)

Deborah Hewitt 1997 2016 Y 15 per year Walking and Dog walking

Nicholas Hewitt 1995 2016 Y 20 per year Dog walking

Peter Hewitt 1999 2016 Y 40 per year Pleasure

Geraldine Hewlett 1991 2016 Y - Leisure and utility; Map shows path continuing to east

Gary Hickman 2008 2016 Y - Not B-C, D-E; Dog walking; Map shows path continuing 
to east

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 987



Jennifer Hickman 2006 2016 Y -             “                        “

Trevor Hickman 2006 2016 Y -             “                        “

Elizabeth Hicks 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Walking; Path public since railway closed in 1950’s

R Humphrey 1980’s 2011 Y 12 per year Pleasure

Gwendoline 
Hutchinson

2014 2016 Y 5 per year Utility; Salt Lagoons signs

Barry Jacobs 1975 1985 Y 40 per year Not B-C; Utility

Howard Jacobs 1967 2016 Y 20 per year Pleasure; Walked during lunchtime 1967-2012

Michael Jacobs 1950’s 2016 Y 100 per year Used to walk through to old station; Map shows 2 notice 
boards and 2 fences across path at eastern end

Mark Jacobs 1960’s 2016 Y 8-10 per 
year

Dog walking and wildlife

Sara Janson 1965 2016 Y Most 
months

Pleasure; Western end access moved by a few feet; 
Wildlife info board; directional footpath sign at junction 
with Drive - marked on map

Daniel Johan 1975 2016 Y - Walking and read info boards

Kim Joyce 2012 2016 Y 100 per year Pleasure; Brading marshes nature reserve’ and 
‘Bembridge lagoons” notices; Previous owner of 
Harbour Farm told her it was a public footpath; Seat and 
information board saying ‘There are many miles of public 
footpaths and permissive rights of way around the 
reserve for you to explore’ with a map on which paths 
are marked including this one

Jacqueline King 1996 2016 Y Twice a 
week

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 988



Christina Lacey 1965 2016 Y 12-15 per 
year

Pleasure

Richard Lacey 1955 2016 Y Y 10-12 times 
a year

Linda Lane 1986 2016 Y 200 per year Dog walking; Private signs on road leading to Harbour 
Farm - marked on map

Robert Lowe 2006 2016 Y 1-2 per day Dog walking

David Marrow 1997 / 
2007

1984 / 
2016

Y 40 per year Not B-C; Retired clergyman

Robert Matthews 2013 2016 Y Once per 
year

Sue McLagan 1960’s 2016 Y Y Y Weekly Excluding 1981-2001; Noticeboard near ponds - wildlife

Ray Metcalfe 2014 2016 Y Many Not B-C, D-E; Map shows path continuing to east

Elizabeth Mitchell 1970 2016 Y Y 1 per year Kept horse at Harbour Farm

Caroline Musker 1968 / 
1979 / 
2014

1974 / 
1992 / 
2016

Y 10 per year Recreation

Richard Newell 1979 2016 Y 20 per year Not B-C; Changed at back of Bembridge Boatyard; 
RSPB Reserve Noticeboard; Narrative included

Philip Norris 1987 2016 Y 50 per year Refers to Prescriptive Act 1832

Sarah Noyes 1977 2016 Y 15 per year Dog walking; Gate/obstruction at Bembridge Boat Yard; 
Knows owner 1982 - 2016

Kenneth Orchard 1970’s 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Not B-C; Leisure, dog walking

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 989



Linda Orchard 1986 2016 Y 6 per year Not B-C; Recreation

Charles Orr 1994 2016 Y 20 per year

Sandra Orr 1994 2016 Y 20 per year

Sarah Philipsborn 1999 2016 Y 50 per year Used to walk eastern end; saw a sign on 28/11/2016

Alan Phillips 1971 2003 Y 20-25 per 
year

Not B-C; 1975-1978 200 times per year; otherwise 
20-25 times

Heidi Playford 1995 2016 Y Many Not B-C, D-E; Map shows path continuing to east

David Preston 1960 2016 Y Y 50-150 per 
year

Avoid main road

Colin Ratcliffe 2002 2016 Y 20 per year Recreation

John Richards 1974 2016 Y 40 per year Used eastwards continuation; Info signs about flora and 
fauna in Bembridge Lagoons - marked on map

Yvonne Richards 1972 2016 Y 36 per year Utility and recreation

Thomas Robinson 1988 2016 Y Y 20-30 per 
year

Natural history info notice with map; Used path to get to 
work on foot and bike

Anthony Rumford 1960 2016 Y Most 
weekends

Birdwatching

Dean Scot 1970’s 2016 Y 50 per year Used to walk eastern end

Pat Scott 1960’s 2016 Y Y Often Used to go to Bembridge station

Sally-Jayne 
Simmonds

1990 2016 Y Weekly

Sarah Simmonds 1986 2016 Y Weekly

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 990



Susan Simmonds 1970’s 2016 Y Weekly Dog walking

Stanley Skinner 1975 2016 Y 35 times per 
year

Stuart Skinner 1975 2016 Y Weekly

Anthony Smart 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year

Elaine Smart 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year

Linda Smith 1950’s 2016 Y Daily Dog walking and shopping; Wildlife info signs - marked 
on map

Derek Sothcott 1964 2016 Y - Dog walking and shopping

Kay Sothcott 1970 2016 Y Y Weekly Exit used to be near pilot boat; was signposted public 
footpath

Andrew Squibb 1985 2016 Y Y Weekdays To school

Marion Squibb 2000 2010 Y Disability 
Buggy

100 per year

Peter Summerhayes 1960 2016 Y 4 per year

Graham Sutton 1965 2016 Y 30 times per 
year

Dog walking; Path blocked at Wades Boatyard

David Tallis 2002 2017 Y 6-10 per 
year

Not B-C

John Thompson 2001 2016 Y Y 50-60 per 
year

Not B-C; Map shows eastward continuation; Shopping 
and recreation

Patricia Thompson 2000 2016 Y Y Weekly Not D-E; Map shows eastward continuation; Shopping 
and recreation; Expect to meet 2-3 other people

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 991



Geoffrey Tindle 1966 2016 Y 2-3 per year Map shows ‘finish’ at end of eastward continuation, but 
eastward continuation not marked

Penelope Townson 1970 2016 Y 6-12 per 
year

Pleasure

Lucy Vale 2008 2016 Y 12 per year Walking and Dog walking

Deborah Valvona 1978 2016 Y Y Y 20-25 per 
year

Vincent Valvona 1976 2016 Y Y 3-4 per year

Danny Vokins 1980’s 2000’s Y 30 per year Incomplete form; Birdwatching; Map shows eastwards 
continuation;

Faith Wade 1960 2016 Y 3-4 per year ‘Highways Act 1959’ signs put up by Mrs P Stratton to 
stop people walking up the left bank of the Yar. Track 
originally went to station.

Glenn Wade 1972 1982 Y 3-4 per year

Julie Wade 1974 1984 Y 3-4 per year

Malcolm Wade 1953 2016 Y 6 per year Used track since last train ran in 1953 - walked along 
side of track until rails removed by Cohens; Path used to 
extend further, now stops at boatyard; 2 x 1959 Act 
signs - one on Water Board property beside bridge, 
other in field on Bembridge side of Yar owned by Mrs 
Stratton to stop people walking on and fishing from 
banks of Yar.

Robin Wade 1989 2016 Y Y 5-6 per year

Susan Way 1968 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 992



Richard Weaver 1979 2016 Y Y 12-20 per 
year

Pleasure and amenity

Terence Weaver 1956 2016 Y 3-4 per year Relaxation

Roy Wheeler 1966 2016 Y 300 per year Dog walking and bird watching; Private signs on 
Harbour Farm road

David Whiting 1988 2016 Y 25 per year Not B-C 

Susan Whiting 1988 2016 Y 50-60 per 
year

Dog walking, exercise, bird watching

James Wilson 1971 2016 Y - Used path as nature walk as a Cub leader 

Priscilla Wilson 1970’s 2016 Y Weekdays

Stephen Wilson 1971 2016 Y Y 6-8 per year Not B-C, D-E; Map shows path continuing to east

Brian Williams 1950’s 2016 Y 10-12 times 
a year

Route changed due to fence being put across track - in 
summer could walk edge of lagoon; Personal statement 
added - walked track since rails removed bypassing a 
Toll Gate [tolls abolished in 1971]; Notice prohibiting 
walking related to Banks of River Yar

David Williams 1965 2016 Y 40 per year

Sue Williams 1968 2016 Y 16 per year

Phyllis Woodcock 1966 1991 Y -

Roger Woodcock 1966 1991 Y -

Totals: 144 22 11 4 people cycle and horse

Name Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 993



Table 2: Bembridge DMMO - User Evidence Forms 

People who used Section AB for all years between 1985 - 2005 

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

Amanda Attrill 1976 2017 Y Daily Dog walking

Valerie Attrill * 1975 2016 Y Lots Horse riding

Sandra Beaney 1956 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking

Connie Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Not B-C; Dog walking

Ken Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Dog walking

Anthea Blackwell 1950’s 2016 Y 5 - 6 per 
month

Not B-C; Birdwatching, shopping, visiting friends, 
blackberrying

Jane Bland 1960 2017 Y 52 per year Pleasure

William Bland 1969 2017 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Leisure

Steven Brooks 1976 2016 Y Y Y Motorcycle Weekly Not B-C; Blackberrying and leisure; The route was also 
included in the marshes area

James Bullin 1960’s 2016 Y 20 per year Recreation

Michael Carline 1970’s 2016 Y 200 per year Leisure; RSPB and Lagoons noticeboards marked on 
map

Martin Coombes 1954 2016 Y Y Many Leisure, dog walking, birdwatching, commute; 
Occasionally cycle

Simon Coombes 1983 2016 Y Y 4-6 per year Bridleway to Harbour Farm, then footpath; Dog walking, 
Pleasure, Commuting; Since baby in pram

Brian Cole 1975 2016 Y Y 50 per year Leisure

Tobba Cole * 1970 2016 Y Y - Leisure, utility, avoid traffic

P
age 994



D Corney * 1970 2016 Y Many

Clive Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Jo Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Cecil Dyer * 1965 2016 Y Y 30 times per 
year

Sunny Eastwick 1950’s 2016 Y Many Dog walking and pleasure

Rosemary Edwards 1966 2016 Y Y Twice a 
week

Believed permissive; Dog walking and horse riding; 
Written statement regarding “No right of way” signage 
and land ownership

George Gaskin 1970’s 2016 Y Y 350 per year Walking and birdwatching; Path used to go through to 
Bembridge until 1970-80 when fence put up. The No 
PROW signs refer to the River Yar and were to stop 
people walking up the riverbank. Map shows fences

Sharon Gaskin 1965 2017 Y 300 per year Leisure, birdwatching, photography; Path used to 
continue to Copse into road - shown on map. Recent 
nature reserve signs. Old ‘Private land trespassers will 
be prosecuted’ sign on rhs of path by metal gate in 
marshes on Thornycroft owned land

David Godfrey 1965 2016 Y 25 - 30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking, recreation

Raymond Gough 1976 2016 Y 2-3 per year Walking, birdwatching; Map shows path continuing 
eastwards beyond D

Sandra Gough 1976 2016 Y 3-4 per year Not B-C; Walking, birdwatching; Brought children on 
nature walks

Joanne Haigh 1985 2016 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Walking

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 995



Lawrie Hanks 1971 2017 Y 20 per year Recreation and Birdwatching

Nicholas Hawkins 1969 2016 Y 4-5 per year Not B-C; Pleasure; Used to be longer, eastwards 
continuation marked on map

Graham Henley 1975 2016 Y 10 per year Pleasure

Robin Henley * 1953 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Dog walking; Started walking when the train stopped; 
Acquainted with previous owners Thorney Croft (1960) 
and Mr Hicks (1990)

Howard Jacobs * 1967 2016 Y 20 per year Pleasure; Walked during lunchtime 1967-2012

Michael Jacobs 1950’s 2016 Y 100 per year Used to walk through to old station; Recent Private Land 
signs; Map shows 2 notice boards and 2 fences across 
path at eastern end

Mark Jacobs 1960’s 2016 Y 8-10 per 
year

Dog walking and wildlife

Sara Janson 1965 2016 Y Most 
months

Pleasure; Western end access moved by a few feet; 
Wildlife info board; directional footpath sign at junction 
with Drive - marked on map

Daniel Johan 1975 2016 Y - Walking and read info boards

Christina Lacey 1965 2016 Y 12-15 per 
year

Pleasure

Richard Lacey 1955 2016 Y Y 10-12 times 
a year

Elizabeth Mitchell 1970 2016 Y Y At leat 1 per 
year

Avoiding main road; Kept horse at Harbour Farm in 70’s 
and 80’s

Richard Newell 1979 2016 Y 20 per year Not B-C; Leisure, Utility; Route changed at back of 
Bembridge Boatyard; RSPB Reserve Noticeboard; 
Narrative included

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 996



Sarah Noyes 1977 2016 Y 15 per year Dog walking; Gate/obstruction at Bembridge Boat Yard; 
Knows owner 1982 - 2016

Kenneth Orchard * 1970’s 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Not B-C; Leisure, dog walking

David Preston 1960 2016 Y Y 50-150 per 
year

Avoid main road

John Richards 1974 2016 Y 40 per year Leisure; Used eastwards continuation until path through 
Bembridge Boatyard closed in approx 2006; Info signs 
about flora and fauna in Bembridge Lagoons - marked 
on map

Yvonne Richards 1972 2016 Y 36 per year Not B-C; Utility and recreation; Path diverted around 
Bembridge Boatyard some years ago; RSPB info boards

Anthony Rumford * 1960 2016 Y Most 
weekends

Birdwatching

Dean Scot 1970’s 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking; Used to walk eastern end until route 
stopped up at back of BMS and boat yard

Pat Scott 1960’s 2016 Y Y Often Walking, Dog waling, Horse riding; Used to go to 
Bembridge station

Susan Simmonds 1970’s 2016 Y Weekly Dog walking

Stanley Skinner * 1975 2016 Y 35 per year Pleasure

Stuart Skinner 1975 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking, Bird watching

Linda Smith * 1950’s 2016 Y Daily Dog walking and shopping; Wildlife info signs - marked 
on map

Derek Sothcott 1964 2016 Y - Dog walking and pleasure

Kay Sothcott 1970 2016 Y Y Weekly Dog walking, Horse riding; Exit used to be near pilot 
boat; Was signposted public footpath

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 997



Andrew Squibb * 1985 2016 Y Y Weekdays To school

Peter Summerhayes 1960 2016 Y 4 per year Not B-C, D-E; Leisure

Graham Sutton 1965 2016 Y 30 times per 
year

Dog walking; Path blocked at Wades Boatyard

Geoffrey Tindle * 1966 2016 Y 2-3 per year Birdwatching; Map shows ‘finish’ at end of eastward 
continuation, but eastward continuation not marked

Penelope Townson 1970 2016 Y 6-12 per 
year

Pleasure

Deborah Valvona 1978 2016 Y Y Y 20-25 per 
year

Walking, Dog walking, horse riding, cycling

Vincent Valvona 1976 2016 Y Y 3-4 per year Pleasure

Faith Wade 1960 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure, Blackberrying; Narrative attached: ’Highways 
Act 1959’ signs put up by Mrs P Stratton to stop people 
walking up the left bank of the Yar. Track originally went 
to station.

Malcolm Wade 1953 2016 Y 6 per year Recreation, Birdwatching; Narrative attached: Used 
track since last train ran in 1953 - walked along side of 
track until rails removed by Cohens; Path used to extend 
further, now stops at boatyard; 2 x 1959 Act signs - one 
on Water Board property beside bridge, other in field on 
Bembridge side of Yar owned by Mrs Stratton to stop 
people walking on and fishing from banks of Yar.

Robin Wade * 1984 2016 Y Y 5-6 per year Pleasure, Dog walking

Susan Way 1968 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Leisure, Dog walking; Wildlife watching

Richard Weaver 1979 2016 Y Y 12-20 per 
year

Pleasure and amenity

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 998



Terence Weaver 1956 2016 Y 3-4 per year Relaxation

Roy Wheeler 1966 2016 Y 300 per year Dog walking and bird watching; Private signs on 
Harbour Farm road

James Wilson 1971 2016 Y - Used path as nature walk as a Cub leader 

Priscilla Wilson 1970’s 2016 Y Weekdays Avoid traffic, Wildlife watching

Stephen Wilson 1971 2016 Y Y 6-8 per year Not B-C, D-E; Utility, Dog walking, Wildlife watching; 
Map shows path continuing to east

Brian Williams Late 
1950’s

2016 Y 10-12 times 
a year

Leisure, Dog walking; Route changed due to fence being 
put across track - in summer could walk edge of lagoon; 
Personal statement added - walked track since rails 
removed bypassing a Toll Gate [tolls abolished in 1971]; 
Notice prohibiting walking related to Banks of River Yar

David Williams 1965 2016 Y 40 per year Pleasure

Sue Williams 1968 2016 Y 16 per year Leisure, Dog walking

Totals: 74 individuals


13*

73


12*

14


4*

8


1*

All cyclists also walk

All horse riders bar 1 also walk

2 people cycle and horse ride

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 999



Table 3: Bembridge DMMO - User Evidence Forms 

People who used Section AB for all years between 1989 - 2009 

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

Amanda Attrill 1976 2017 Y Daily Dog walking

Valerie Attrill * 1975 2016 Y Lots Horse riding

Sandra Beaney 1956 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking

Connie Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Not B-C; Dog walking

Ken Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Dog walking

Anthea Blackwell 1950’s 2016 Y 5 - 6 per 
month

Not B-C; Birdwatching, shopping, visiting friends, 
blackberrying

Jane Bland 1960 2017 Y 52 per year Pleasure

William Bland 1969 2017 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Leisure

Steven Brooks 1976 2016 Y Y Y Motorcycle Weekly Not B-C; Blackberrying and leisure; The route was also 
included in the marshes area

James Bullin 1960’s 2016 Y 20 per year Recreation

Michael Carline 1970’s 2016 Y 200 per year Leisure; RSPB and Lagoons noticeboards marked on 
map

Martin Coombes 1954 2016 Y Y Many Leisure, dog walking, birdwatching, commute; 
Occasionally cycle

Simon Coombes 1983 2016 Y Y 4-6 per year Bridleway to Harbour Farm, then footpath; Dog walking, 
Pleasure, Commuting; Since baby in pram

Brian Cole 1975 2016 Y Y 50 per year Leisure

Tobba Cole * 1970 2016 Y Y - Leisure, utility, avoid traffic

P
age 1000



D Corney * 1970 2016 Y Many

Clive Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Jo Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Cecil Dyer * 1965 2016 Y Y 30 times per 
year

Sunny Eastwick 1950’s 2016 Y Many Dog walking and pleasure

Rosemary Edwards 1966 2016 Y Y Twice a 
week

Believed permissive; Dog walking and horse riding; 
Written statement regarding “No right of way” signage 
and land ownership

George Gaskin 1970’s 2016 Y Y 350 per year Walking and birdwatching; Path used to go through to 
Bembridge until 1970-80 when fence put up. The No 
PROW signs refer to the River Yar and were to stop 
people walking up the riverbank. Map shows fences

Sharon Gaskin 1965 2017 Y 300 per year Leisure, birdwatching, photography; Path used to 
continue to Copse into road - shown on map. Recent 
nature reserve signs. Old ‘Private land trespassers will 
be prosecuted’ sign on rhs of path by metal gate in 
marshes on Thornycroft owned land

David Godfrey 1965 2016 Y 25 - 30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking, recreation

Raymond Gough 1976 2016 Y 2-3 per year Walking, birdwatching; Map shows path continuing 
eastwards beyond D

Sandra Gough 1976 2016 Y 3-4 per year Not B-C; Walking, birdwatching; Brought children on 
nature walks

Joanne Haigh 1985 2016 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Walking

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1001



Lawrie Hanks 1971 2017 Y 20 per year Recreation and Birdwatching

Nicholas Hawkins 1969 2016 Y 4-5 per year Not B-C; Pleasure; Used to be longer, eastwards 
continuation marked on map

Graham Henley 1975 2016 Y 10 per year Pleasure

Robin Henley * 1953 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Dog walking; Started walking when the train stopped; 
Acquainted with previous owners Thorney Croft (1960) 
and Mr Hicks (1990)

Howard Jacobs * 1967 2016 Y 20 per year Pleasure; Walked during lunchtime 1967-2012

Michael Jacobs 1950’s 2016 Y 100 per year Used to walk through to old station; Recent Private Land 
signs; Map shows 2 notice boards and 2 fences across 
path at eastern end

Mark Jacobs 1960’s 2016 Y 8-10 per 
year

Dog walking and wildlife

Sara Janson 1965 2016 Y Most 
months

Pleasure; Western end access moved by a few feet; 
Wildlife info board; directional footpath sign at junction 
with Drive - marked on map

Daniel Johan 1975 2016 Y - Walking and read info boards

Christina Lacey 1965 2016 Y 12-15 per 
year

Pleasure

Richard Lacey 1955 2016 Y Y 10-12 times 
a year

Elizabeth Mitchell 1970 2016 Y Y At leat 1 per 
year

Avoiding main road; Kept horse at Harbour Farm in 70’s 
and 80’s

Richard Newell 1979 2016 Y 20 per year Not B-C; Leisure, Utility; Route changed at back of 
Bembridge Boatyard; RSPB Reserve Noticeboard; 
Narrative included

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1002



Sarah Noyes 1977 2016 Y 15 per year Dog walking; Gate/obstruction at Bembridge Boat Yard; 
Knows owner 1982 - 2016

Kenneth Orchard * 1970’s 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Not B-C; Leisure, dog walking

David Preston 1960 2016 Y Y 50-150 per 
year

Avoid main road

John Richards 1974 2016 Y 40 per year Leisure; Used eastwards continuation until path through 
Bembridge Boatyard closed in approx 2006; Info signs 
about flora and fauna in Bembridge Lagoons - marked 
on map

Yvonne Richards 1972 2016 Y 36 per year Not B-C; Utility and recreation; Path diverted around 
Bembridge Boatyard some years ago; RSPB info boards

Anthony Rumford * 1960 2016 Y Most 
weekends

Birdwatching

Dean Scot 1970’s 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking; Used to walk eastern end until route 
stopped up at back of BMS and boat yard

Pat Scott 1960’s 2016 Y Y Often Walking, Dog waling, Horse riding; Used to go to 
Bembridge station

Susan Simmonds 1970’s 2016 Y Weekly Dog walking

Stanley Skinner * 1975 2016 Y 35 per year Pleasure

Stuart Skinner 1975 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking, Bird watching

Linda Smith * 1950’s 2016 Y Daily Dog walking and shopping; Wildlife info signs - marked 
on map

Derek Sothcott 1964 2016 Y - Dog walking and pleasure

Kay Sothcott 1970 2016 Y Y Weekly Dog walking, Horse riding; Exit used to be near pilot 
boat; Was signposted public footpath

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1003



Andrew Squibb * 1985 2016 Y Y Weekdays To school

Peter Summerhayes 1960 2016 Y 4 per year Not B-C, D-E; Leisure

Graham Sutton 1965 2016 Y 30 times per 
year

Dog walking; Path blocked at Wades Boatyard

Geoffrey Tindle * 1966 2016 Y 2-3 per year Birdwatching; Map shows ‘finish’ at end of eastward 
continuation, but eastward continuation not marked

Penelope Townson 1970 2016 Y 6-12 per 
year

Pleasure

Deborah Valvona 1978 2016 Y Y Y 20-25 per 
year

Walking, Dog walking, horse riding, cycling

Vincent Valvona 1976 2016 Y Y 3-4 per year Pleasure

Faith Wade 1960 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure, Blackberrying; Narrative attached: ’Highways 
Act 1959’ signs put up by Mrs P Stratton to stop people 
walking up the left bank of the Yar. Track originally went 
to station.

Malcolm Wade 1953 2016 Y 6 per year Recreation, Birdwatching; Narrative attached: Used 
track since last train ran in 1953 - walked along side of 
track until rails removed by Cohens; Path used to extend 
further, now stops at boatyard; 2 x 1959 Act signs - one 
on Water Board property beside bridge, other in field on 
Bembridge side of Yar owned by Mrs Stratton to stop 
people walking on and fishing from banks of Yar.

Robin Wade * 1984 2016 Y Y 5-6 per year Pleasure, Dog walking

Susan Way 1968 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Leisure, Dog walking; Wildlife watching

Richard Weaver 1979 2016 Y Y 12-20 per 
year

Pleasure and amenity

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1004



Terence Weaver 1956 2016 Y 3-4 per year Relaxation

Roy Wheeler 1966 2016 Y 300 per year Dog walking and bird watching; Private signs on 
Harbour Farm road

James Wilson 1971 2016 Y - Used path as nature walk as a Cub leader 

Priscilla Wilson 1970’s 2016 Y Weekdays Avoid traffic, Wildlife watching

Stephen Wilson 1971 2016 Y Y 6-8 per year Not B-C, D-E; Utility, Dog walking, Wildlife watching; 
Map shows path continuing to east

Brian Williams Late 
1950’s

2016 Y 10-12 times 
a year

Leisure, Dog walking; Route changed due to fence being 
put across track - in summer could walk edge of lagoon; 
Personal statement added - walked track since rails 
removed bypassing a Toll Gate [tolls abolished in 1971]; 
Notice prohibiting walking related to Banks of River Yar

David Williams 1965 2016 Y 40 per year Pleasure

Sue Williams 1968 2016 Y 16 per year Leisure, Dog walking

Totals: 74 individuals


13*

73


12*

14


4*

8


1*

All cyclists also walk

All horse riders bar 1 also walk

2 people cycle and horse ride

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1005



Table 4: Bembridge DMMO - User Evidence Forms 

People who used Section BD every year between 1989 - 2009 

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

Amanda Attrill 1976 2017 Y Daily Dog walking

Valerie Attrill * 1975 2016 Y Lots Horse riding

Sandra Beaney 1956 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking

Connie Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Not B-C; Dog walking

Ken Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Dog walking

Anthea Blackwell 1950’s 2016 Y 5 - 6 per 
month

Not B-C; Birdwatching, shopping, visiting friends, 
blackberrying

Jane Bland 1960 2017 Y 52 per year Pleasure

William Bland 1969 2017 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Leisure

Lesley Booth * 1986 2016 Y -

Steven Brooks 1976 2016 Y Y Y Motorcycle Weekly Not B-C; Blackberrying and leisure; The route was also 
included in the marshes area

James Bullin 1960’s 2016 Y 20 per year Recreation

Roy Burrows 1987 2016 Y 25 per year Not B-C; Recreation, Birdwatching; Natural history 
noticeboard; Mr Hicks was the landowner

Michael Carline 1970’s 2016 Y 200 per year Leisure; RSPB and Lagoons noticeboards marked on 
map

Martin Coombes 1954 2016 Y Y Many Leisure, dog walking, birdwatching, commute; 
Occasionally cycle

Simon Coombes 1983 2016 Y Y 4-6 per year Bridleway to Harbour Farm, then footpath; Dog walking, 
Pleasure, Commuting; Since baby in pram

P
age 1006



Brian Cole 1975 2016 Y Y 50 per year Leisure

Tobba Cole * 1970 2016 Y Y - Leisure, utility, avoid traffic

D Corney * 1970 2016 Y Many

Clive Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Jo Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Cecil Dyer * 1965 2016 Y Y 30 times per 
year

Sunny Eastwick 1950’s 2016 Y Many Dog walking and pleasure

Rosemary Edwards 1966 2016 Y Y Twice a 
week

Believed permissive; Dog walking and horse riding; 
Written statement regarding “No right of way” signage 
and land ownership

Jonathan Fitness 1997 2016 Y 10 - 15 per 
year

Utility and pleasure; RSPB Boards and Wildlife Info

George Gaskin 1970’s 2016 Y Y 350 per year Walking and birdwatching; Path used to go through to 
Bembridge until 1970-80 when fence put up. The No 
PROW signs refer to the River Yar and were to stop 
people walking up the riverbank. Map shows fences

Sharon Gaskin 1965 2017 Y 300 per year Leisure, birdwatching, photography; Path used to 
continue to Copse into road - shown on map. Recent 
nature reserve signs. Old ‘Private land trespassers will 
be prosecuted’ sign on rhs of path by metal gate in 
marshes on Thornycroft owned land

David Godfrey 1965 2016 Y 25 - 30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking, recreation

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1007



Raymond Gough 1976 2016 Y 2-3 per year Walking, birdwatching; Map shows path continuing 
eastwards beyond D

Sandra Gough 1976 2016 Y 3-4 per year Not B-C; Walking, birdwatching; Brought children on 
nature walks

Joanne Haigh 1985 2016 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Walking

Lawrie Hanks 1971 2017 Y 20 per year Recreation and Birdwatching

Nicholas Hawkins 1969 2016 Y 4-5 per year Not B-C; Pleasure; Used to be longer, eastwards 
continuation marked on map

Graham Henley 1975 2016 Y 10 per year Pleasure

Robin Henley * 1953 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Dog walking; Started walking when the train stopped; 
Acquainted with previous owners Thorney Croft (1960) 
and Mr Hicks (1990)

Elizabeth Hicks 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Walking; Path public since railway closed in 1950’s

R Humphrey * Late 
1980’s

2011 Y 12 per year Pleasure

Howard Jacobs * 1967 2016 Y 20 per year Pleasure; Walked during lunchtime 1967-2012

Michael Jacobs 1950’s 2016 Y 100 per year Used to walk through to old station; Recent Private Land 
signs; Map shows 2 notice boards and 2 fences across 
path at eastern end

Mark Jacobs 1960’s 2016 Y 8-10 per 
year

Dog walking and wildlife

Sara Janson 1965 2016 Y Most 
months

Pleasure; Western end access moved by a few feet; 
Wildlife info board; directional footpath sign at junction 
with Drive - marked on map

Daniel Johan 1975 2016 Y - Walking and read info boards

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1008



Christina Lacey 1965 2016 Y 12-15 per 
year

Pleasure

Richard Lacey 1955 2016 Y Y 10-12 times 
a year

Linda Lane 1986 2016 Y 200 per year Dog walking, Bird watching; Private signs on road 
leading to Harbour Farm - marked on map

Elizabeth Mitchell 1970 2016 Y Y At leat 1 per 
year

Avoiding main road; Kept horse at Harbour Farm in 70’s 
and 80’s

Richard Newell 1979 2016 Y 20 per year Not B-C; Leisure, Utility; Route changed at back of 
Bembridge Boatyard; RSPB Reserve Noticeboard; 
Narrative included

Philip Norris 1987 2016 Y 50 per year Home to Yacht Club and Marina; Refers to using the 
path under the Prescriptive Act 1832

Sarah Noyes 1977 2016 Y 15 per year Dog walking; Gate/obstruction at Bembridge Boat Yard; 
Knows owner 1982 - 2016

Kenneth Orchard * 1970’s 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Not B-C; Leisure, dog walking

Linda Orchard * 1986 2016 Y 6 per year Not B-C; Recreation, Bird watching, Blackberrying

David Preston 1960 2016 Y Y 50-150 per 
year

Avoid main road

John Richards 1974 2016 Y 40 per year Leisure; Used eastwards continuation until path through 
Bembridge Boatyard closed in approx 2006; Info signs 
about flora and fauna in Bembridge Lagoons - marked 
on map

Yvonne Richards 1972 2016 Y 36 per year Not B-C; Utility and recreation; Path diverted around 
Bembridge Boatyard some years ago; RSPB info boards

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1009



Thomas Robinson 1988 2016 Y Y 20 - 30 per 
year

Utility, Leisure, Dog walking; Natural history info notice 
with map; Used to use path to get to work on foot and 
bike, now for dog walking

Anthony Rumford * 1960 2016 Y Most 
weekends

Birdwatching

Dean Scot 1970’s 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking; Used to walk eastern end until route 
stopped up at back of BMS and boat yard

Pat Scott 1960’s 2016 Y Y Often Walking, Dog waling, Horse riding; Used to go to 
Bembridge station

Sarah Simmonds 1986 2016 Y Weekly Avoid busy road

Susan Simmonds 1970’s 2016 Y Weekly Dog walking

Stanley Skinner * 1975 2016 Y 35 per year Pleasure

Stuart Skinner 1975 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking, Bird watching

Anthony Smart 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure

Elaine Smart 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure

Linda Smith * 1950’s 2016 Y Daily Dog walking and shopping; Wildlife info signs - marked 
on map

Derek Sothcott 1964 2016 Y - Dog walking and pleasure

Kay Sothcott 1970 2016 Y Y Weekly Dog walking, Horse riding; Exit used to be near pilot 
boat; Was signposted public footpath

Andrew Squibb * 1985 2016 Y Y Weekdays To school

Peter Summerhayes 1960 2016 Y 4 per year Not B-C, D-E; Leisure

Graham Sutton 1965 2016 Y 30 times per 
year

Dog walking; Path blocked at Wades Boatyard

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1010



Geoffrey Tindle * 1966 2016 Y 2-3 per year Birdwatching; Map shows ‘finish’ at end of eastward 
continuation, but eastward continuation not marked

Penelope Townson 1970 2016 Y 6-12 per 
year

Pleasure

Deborah Valvona 1978 2016 Y Y Y 20-25 per 
year

Walking, Dog walking, horse riding, cycling

Vincent Valvona 1976 2016 Y Y 3-4 per year Pleasure

Faith Wade 1960 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure, Blackberrying; Narrative attached: ’Highways 
Act 1959’ signs put up by Mrs P Stratton to stop people 
walking up the left bank of the Yar. Track originally went 
to station.

Malcolm Wade 1953 2016 Y 6 per year Recreation, Birdwatching; Narrative attached: Used 
track since last train ran in 1953 - walked along side of 
track until rails removed by Cohens; Path used to extend 
further, now stops at boatyard; 2 x 1959 Act signs - one 
on Water Board property beside bridge, other in field on 
Bembridge side of Yar owned by Mrs Stratton to stop 
people walking on and fishing from banks of Yar.

Robin Wade * 1984 2016 Y Y 5-6 per year Pleasure, Dog walking

Susan Way 1968 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Leisure, Dog walking; Wildlife watching

Richard Weaver 1979 2016 Y Y 12-20 per 
year

Pleasure and amenity

Terence Weaver 1956 2016 Y 3-4 per year Relaxation

Roy Wheeler 1966 2016 Y 300 per year Dog walking and bird watching; Private signs on 
Harbour Farm road

David Whiting 1988 2016 Y 25 per year Not B-C; Dog walking, Leisure

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1011



Susan Whiting 1988 2016 Y 50-60 per 
year

Dog walking, exercise, bird watching

James Wilson 1971 2016 Y - Used path as nature walk as a Cub leader 

Priscilla Wilson 1970’s 2016 Y Weekdays Avoid traffic, Wildlife watching

Stephen Wilson 1971 2016 Y Y 6-8 per year Not B-C, D-E; Utility, Dog walking, Wildlife watching; 
Map shows path continuing to east

Brian Williams Late 
1950’s

2016 Y 10-12 times 
a year

Leisure, Dog walking; Route changed due to fence being 
put across track - in summer could walk edge of lagoon; 
Personal statement added - walked track since rails 
removed bypassing a Toll Gate [tolls abolished in 1971]; 
Notice prohibiting walking related to Banks of River Yar

David Williams 1965 2016 Y 40 per year Pleasure

Sue Williams 1968 2016 Y 16 per year Leisure, Dog walking

Totals: 88 individuals


16*

87


15*

15


4*

8


1*

All cyclists also walk

All horse riders bar 1 also walk

2 people cycle and horse ride

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1012



Table 5: Bembridge DMMO - User Evidence Forms 

People Who Used Section BC Every Year between 1989 - 2009 

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

Amanda Attrill 1976 2017 Y Daily Dog walking

Valerie Attrill * 1975 2016 Y Lots Horse riding

Ken Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Dog walking

Jane Bland 1960 2017 Y 52 per year Pleasure

Lesley Booth * 1986 2016 Y -

James Bullin 1960’s 2016 Y 20 per year Recreation

Michael Carline 1970’s 2016 Y 200 per year Leisure; RSPB and Lagoons noticeboards marked on 
map

Martin Coombes 1954 2016 Y Y Many Leisure, dog walking, birdwatching, commute; 
Occasionally cycle

Simon Coombes 1983 2016 Y Y 4-6 per year Bridleway to Harbour Farm, then footpath; Dog walking, 
Pleasure, Commuting; Since baby in pram

Brian Cole 1975 2016 Y Y 50 per year Leisure

Tobba Cole * 1970 2016 Y Y - Leisure, utility, avoid traffic

D Corney * 1970 2016 Y Many

Clive Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Jo Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Cecil Dyer * 1965 2016 Y Y 30 times per 
year

P
age 1013



Sunny Eastwick 1950’s 2016 Y Many Dog walking and pleasure

Rosemary Edwards 1966 2016 Y Y Twice a 
week

Believed permissive; Dog walking and horse riding; 
Written statement regarding “No right of way” signage 
and land ownership

George Gaskin 1970’s 2016 Y Y 350 per year Walking and birdwatching; Path used to go through to 
Bembridge until 1970-80 when fence put up. The No 
PROW signs refer to the River Yar and were to stop 
people walking up the riverbank. Map shows fences

Sharon Gaskin 1965 2017 Y 300 per year Leisure, birdwatching, photography; Path used to 
continue to Copse into road - shown on map. Recent 
nature reserve signs. Old ‘Private land trespassers will 
be prosecuted’ sign on rhs of path by metal gate in 
marshes on Thornycroft owned land

Raymond Gough 1976 2016 Y 2-3 per year Walking, birdwatching; Map shows path continuing 
eastwards beyond D

Lawrie Hanks 1971 2017 Y 20 per year Recreation and Birdwatching

Graham Henley 1975 2016 Y 10 per year Pleasure

Robin Henley * 1953 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Dog walking; Started walking when the train stopped; 
Acquainted with previous owners Thorney Croft (1960) 
and Mr Hicks (1990)

Elizabeth Hicks 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Walking; Path public since railway closed in 1950’s

R Humphrey * Late 
1980’s

2011 Y 12 per year Pleasure

Howard Jacobs * 1967 2016 Y 20 per year Pleasure; Walked during lunchtime 1967-2012

Michael Jacobs 1950’s 2016 Y 100 per year Used to walk through to old station; Recent Private Land 
signs; Map shows 2 notice boards and 2 fences across 
path at eastern end

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1014



Mark Jacobs 1960’s 2016 Y 8-10 per 
year

Dog walking and wildlife

Sara Janson 1965 2016 Y Most 
months

Pleasure; Western end access moved by a few feet; 
Wildlife info board; directional footpath sign at junction 
with Drive - marked on map

Daniel Johan 1975 2016 Y - Walking and read info boards

Christina Lacey 1965 2016 Y 12-15 per 
year

Pleasure

Richard Lacey 1955 2016 Y Y 10-12 times 
a year

Linda Lane 1986 2016 Y 200 per year Dog walking, Bird watching; Private signs on road 
leading to Harbour Farm - marked on map

Elizabeth Mitchell 1970 2016 Y Y At leat 1 per 
year

Avoiding main road; Kept horse at Harbour Farm in 70’s 
and 80’s

Philip Norris 1987 2016 Y 50 per year Home to Yacht Club and Marina; Refers to using the 
path under the Prescriptive Act 1832

Sarah Noyes 1977 2016 Y 15 per year Dog walking; Gate/obstruction at Bembridge Boat Yard; 
Knows owner 1982 - 2016

David Preston 1960 2016 Y Y 50-150 per 
year

Avoid main road

John Richards 1974 2016 Y 40 per year Leisure; Used eastwards continuation until path through 
Bembridge Boatyard closed in approx 2006; Info signs 
about flora and fauna in Bembridge Lagoons - marked 
on map

Thomas Robinson 1988 2016 Y Y 20 - 30 per 
year

Utility, Leisure, Dog walking; Natural history info notice 
with map; Used to use path to get to work on foot and 
bike, now for dog walking

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1015



Anthony Rumford * 1960 2016 Y Most 
weekends

Birdwatching

Dean Scot 1970’s 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking; Used to walk eastern end until route 
stopped up at back of BMS and boat yard

Pat Scott 1960’s 2016 Y Y Often Walking, Dog waling, Horse riding; Used to go to 
Bembridge station

Sarah Simmonds 1986 2016 Y Weekly Avoid busy road

Susan Simmonds 1970’s 2016 Y Weekly Dog walking

Stanley Skinner * 1975 2016 Y 35 per year Pleasure

Stuart Skinner 1975 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking, Bird watching

Anthony Smart 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure

Elaine Smart 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure

Linda Smith * 1950’s 2016 Y Daily Dog walking and shopping; Wildlife info signs - marked 
on map

Derek Sothcott 1964 2016 Y - Dog walking and pleasure

Kay Sothcott 1970 2016 Y Y Weekly Dog walking, Horse riding; Exit used to be near pilot 
boat; Was signposted public footpath

Andrew Squibb * 1985 2016 Y Y Weekdays To school

Graham Sutton 1965 2016 Y 30 times per 
year

Dog walking; Path blocked at Wades Boatyard

Geoffrey Tindle * 1966 2016 Y 2-3 per year Birdwatching; Map shows ‘finish’ at end of eastward 
continuation, but eastward continuation not marked

Penelope Townson 1970 2016 Y 6-12 per 
year

Pleasure

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1016



Deborah Valvona 1978 2016 Y Y Y 20-25 per 
year

Walking, Dog walking, horse riding, cycling

Vincent Valvona 1976 2016 Y Y 3-4 per year Pleasure

Faith Wade 1960 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure, Blackberrying; Narrative attached: ’Highways 
Act 1959’ signs put up by Mrs P Stratton to stop people 
walking up the left bank of the Yar. Track originally went 
to station.

Malcolm Wade 1953 2016 Y 6 per year Recreation, Birdwatching; Narrative attached: Used 
track since last train ran in 1953 - walked along side of 
track until rails removed by Cohens; Path used to extend 
further, now stops at boatyard; 2 x 1959 Act signs - one 
on Water Board property beside bridge, other in field on 
Bembridge side of Yar owned by Mrs Stratton to stop 
people walking on and fishing from banks of Yar.

Robin Wade * 1984 2016 Y Y 5-6 per year Pleasure, Dog walking

Susan Way 1968 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Leisure, Dog walking; Wildlife watching

Richard Weaver 1979 2016 Y Y 12-20 per 
year

Pleasure and amenity

Terence Weaver 1956 2016 Y 3-4 per year Relaxation

Roy Wheeler 1966 2016 Y 300 per year Dog walking and bird watching; Private signs on 
Harbour Farm road

Susan Whiting 1988 2016 Y 50-60 per 
year

Dog walking, exercise, bird watching

James Wilson 1971 2016 Y - Used path as nature walk as a Cub leader 

Priscilla Wilson 1970’s 2016 Y Weekdays Avoid traffic, Wildlife watching

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1017



Brian Williams Late 
1950’s

2016 Y 10-12 times 
a year

Leisure, Dog walking; Route changed due to fence being 
put across track - in summer could walk edge of lagoon; 
Personal statement added - walked track since rails 
removed bypassing a Toll Gate [tolls abolished in 1971]; 
Notice prohibiting walking related to Banks of River Yar

David Williams 1965 2016 Y 40 per year Pleasure

Sue Williams 1968 2016 Y 16 per year Leisure, Dog walking

Totals: 70 individuals


14*

73


13*

13


4*

7


1*

All cyclists also walk

All horse riders bar 1 also walk

1 person cycles and horse rides

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1018



Table 6: Bembridge DMMO - User Evidence Forms 

People who used Section DE every year between 1989 - 2009 

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

Amanda Attrill 1976 2017 Y Daily Dog walking

Valerie Attrill * 1975 2016 Y Lots Horse riding

Sandra Beaney 1956 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking

Connie Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Not B-C; Dog walking

Ken Beckley 1981 2016 Y - Dog walking

Anthea Blackwell 1950’s 2016 Y 5 - 6 per 
month

Not B-C; Birdwatching, shopping, visiting friends, 
blackberrying

Jane Bland 1960 2017 Y 52 per year Pleasure

William Bland 1969 2017 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Leisure

Lesley Booth * 1986 2016 Y -

Steven Brooks 1976 2016 Y Y Y Motorcycle Weekly Not B-C; Blackberrying and leisure; The route was also 
included in the marshes area

James Bullin 1960’s 2016 Y 20 per year Recreation

Roy Burrows 1987 2016 Y 25 per year Not B-C; Recreation, Birdwatching; Natural history 
noticeboard; Mr Hicks was the landowner

Michael Carline 1970’s 2016 Y 200 per year Leisure; RSPB and Lagoons noticeboards marked on 
map

Martin Coombes 1954 2016 Y Y Many Leisure, dog walking, birdwatching, commute; 
Occasionally cycle

Simon Coombes 1983 2016 Y Y 4-6 per year Bridleway to Harbour Farm, then footpath; Dog walking, 
Pleasure, Commuting; Since baby in pram

P
age 1019



Brian Cole 1975 2016 Y Y 50 per year Leisure

Tobba Cole * 1970 2016 Y Y - Leisure, utility, avoid traffic

D Corney * 1970 2016 Y Many

Clive Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Jo Dove 1965 2016 Y 15 - 20 per 
year

Dog walking

Cecil Dyer * 1965 2016 Y Y 30 times per 
year

Sunny Eastwick 1950’s 2016 Y Many Dog walking and pleasure

Rosemary Edwards 1966 2016 Y Y Twice a 
week

Believed permissive; Dog walking and horse riding; 
Written statement regarding “No right of way” signage 
and land ownership

George Gaskin 1970’s 2016 Y Y 350 per year Walking and birdwatching; Path used to go through to 
Bembridge until 1970-80 when fence put up. The No 
PROW signs refer to the River Yar and were to stop 
people walking up the riverbank. Map shows fences

Sharon Gaskin 1965 2017 Y 300 per year Leisure, birdwatching, photography; Path used to 
continue to Copse into road - shown on map. Recent 
nature reserve signs. Old ‘Private land trespassers will 
be prosecuted’ sign on rhs of path by metal gate in 
marshes on Thornycroft owned land

David Godfrey 1965 2016 Y 25 - 30 per 
year

Not B-C; Dog walking, recreation

Raymond Gough 1976 2016 Y 2-3 per year Walking, birdwatching; Map shows path continuing 
eastwards beyond D

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1020



Sandra Gough 1976 2016 Y 3-4 per year Not B-C; Walking, birdwatching; Brought children on 
nature walks

Joanne Haigh 1985 2016 Y 12 per year Not B-C; Walking

Lawrie Hanks 1971 2017 Y 20 per year Recreation and Birdwatching

Nicholas Hawkins 1969 2016 Y 4-5 per year Not B-C; Pleasure; Used to be longer, eastwards 
continuation marked on map

Graham Henley 1975 2016 Y 10 per year Pleasure

Robin Henley * 1953 2016 Y 20-30 per 
year

Dog walking; Started walking when the train stopped; 
Acquainted with previous owners Thorney Croft (1960) 
and Mr Hicks (1990)

Elizabeth Hicks 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Walking; Path public since railway closed in 1950’s

R Humphrey * Late 
1980’s

2011 Y 12 per year Pleasure

Howard Jacobs * 1967 2016 Y 20 per year Pleasure; Walked during lunchtime 1967-2012

Michael Jacobs 1950’s 2016 Y 100 per year Used to walk through to old station; Recent Private Land 
signs; Map shows 2 notice boards and 2 fences across 
path at eastern end

Mark Jacobs 1960’s 2016 Y 8-10 per 
year

Dog walking and wildlife

Sara Janson 1965 2016 Y Most 
months

Pleasure; Western end access moved by a few feet; 
Wildlife info board; directional footpath sign at junction 
with Drive - marked on map

Daniel Johan 1975 2016 Y - Walking and read info boards

Christina Lacey 1965 2016 Y 12-15 per 
year

Pleasure

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1021



Richard Lacey 1955 2016 Y Y 10-12 times 
a year

Linda Lane 1986 2016 Y 200 per year Dog walking, Bird watching; Private signs on road 
leading to Harbour Farm - marked on map

Elizabeth Mitchell 1970 2016 Y Y At least 1 
per year

Avoiding main road; Kept horse at Harbour Farm in 70’s 
and 80’s

Richard Newell 1979 2016 Y 20 per year Not B-C; Leisure, Utility; Route changed at back of 
Bembridge Boatyard; RSPB Reserve Noticeboard; 
Narrative included

Philip Norris 1987 2016 Y 50 per year Home to Yacht Club and Marina; Refers to using the 
path under the Prescriptive Act 1832

Sarah Noyes 1977 2016 Y 15 per year Dog walking; Gate/obstruction at Bembridge Boat Yard; 
Knows owner 1982 - 2016

Kenneth Orchard * 1970’s 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Not B-C; Leisure, dog walking

Linda Orchard * 1986 2016 Y 6 per year Not B-C; Recreation, Bird watching, Blackberrying

David Preston 1960 2016 Y Y 50-150 per 
year

Avoid main road

John Richards 1974 2016 Y 40 per year Leisure; Used eastwards continuation until path through 
Bembridge Boatyard closed in approx 2006; Info signs 
about flora and fauna in Bembridge Lagoons - marked 
on map

Yvonne Richards 1972 2016 Y 36 per year Not B-C; Utility and recreation; Path diverted around 
Bembridge Boatyard some years ago; RSPB info boards

Thomas Robinson 1988 2016 Y Y 20 - 30 per 
year

Utility, Leisure, Dog walking; Natural history info notice 
with map; Used to use path to get to work on foot and 
bike, now for dog walking

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1022



Anthony Rumford * 1960 2016 Y Most 
weekends

Birdwatching

Dean Scot 1970’s 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking; Used to walk eastern end until route 
stopped up at back of BMS and boat yard

Pat Scott 1960’s 2016 Y Y Often Walking, Dog waling, Horse riding; Used to go to 
Bembridge station

Sarah Simmonds 1986 2016 Y Weekly Avoid busy road

Susan Simmonds 1970’s 2016 Y Weekly Dog walking

Stanley Skinner * 1975 2016 Y 35 per year Pleasure

Stuart Skinner 1975 2016 Y 50 per year Dog walking, Bird watching

Anthony Smart 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure

Elaine Smart 1986 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure

Linda Smith * 1950’s 2016 Y Daily Dog walking and shopping; Wildlife info signs - marked 
on map

Derek Sothcott 1964 2016 Y - Dog walking and pleasure

Kay Sothcott 1970 2016 Y Y Weekly Dog walking, Horse riding; Exit used to be near pilot 
boat; Was signposted public footpath

Andrew Squibb * 1985 2016 Y Y Weekdays To school

Graham Sutton 1965 2016 Y 30 times per 
year

Dog walking; Path blocked at Wades Boatyard

Geoffrey Tindle * 1966 2016 Y 2-3 per year Birdwatching; Map shows ‘finish’ at end of eastward 
continuation, but eastward continuation not marked

Penelope Townson 1970 2016 Y 6-12 per 
year

Pleasure

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1023



Deborah Valvona 1978 2016 Y Y Y 20-25 per 
year

Walking, Dog walking, horse riding, cycling

Vincent Valvona 1976 2016 Y Y 3-4 per year Pleasure

Faith Wade 1960 2016 Y 3-4 per year Leisure, Blackberrying; Narrative attached: ’Highways 
Act 1959’ signs put up by Mrs P Stratton to stop people 
walking up the left bank of the Yar. Track originally went 
to station.

Malcolm Wade 1953 2016 Y 6 per year Recreation, Birdwatching; Narrative attached: Used 
track since last train ran in 1953 - walked along side of 
track until rails removed by Cohens; Path used to extend 
further, now stops at boatyard; 2 x 1959 Act signs - one 
on Water Board property beside bridge, other in field on 
Bembridge side of Yar owned by Mrs Stratton to stop 
people walking on and fishing from banks of Yar.

Robin Wade * 1984 2016 Y Y 5-6 per year Pleasure, Dog walking

Susan Way 1968 2016 Y 10-15 per 
year

Leisure, Dog walking; Wildlife watching

Richard Weaver 1979 2016 Y Y 12-20 per 
year

Pleasure and amenity

Terence Weaver 1956 2016 Y 3-4 per year Relaxation

Roy Wheeler 1966 2016 Y 300 per year Dog walking and bird watching; Private signs on 
Harbour Farm road

David Whiting 1988 2016 Y 25 per year Not B-C; Dog walking, Leisure

Susan Whiting 1988 2016 Y 50-60 per 
year

Dog walking, exercise, bird watching

James Wilson 1971 2016 Y - Used path as nature walk as a Cub leader 

Priscilla Wilson 1970’s 2016 Y Weekdays Avoid traffic, Wildlife watching

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1024



Brian Williams Late 
1950’s

2016 Y 10-12 times 
a year

Leisure, Dog walking; Route changed due to fence being 
put across track - in summer could walk edge of lagoon; 
Personal statement added - walked track since rails 
removed bypassing a Toll Gate [tolls abolished in 1971]; 
Notice prohibiting walking related to Banks of River Yar

David Williams 1965 2016 Y 40 per year Pleasure

Sue Williams 1968 2016 Y 16 per year Leisure, Dog walking

Totals: 85 individuals


16*

85


16*

14


4*

8


1*

All cyclists also walk

All horse riders bar 1 also walk

2 people cycle and horse ride

Name 
* = not willing to 
attend Inquiry

Start Date End Date Use Frequency Comments

Foot Cycle Horse Other

P
age 1025



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 7

Page 1027



Page 1028



Page 1029



Page 1030



From: Clifford Percival
Subject: RE: Bembridge Lagoon - claimed public right of way
Date: 2 March 2021 at 18:43:18 GMT

Dear
 
Please see my replies in green font within your original text 
that I have copied immediately below for ease of reference, 
together with the attachments.
 
1. The majority of the claimed route is on land 
owned by the RSPB (Title no. IW57447). I can see 
from the Land Registry documents that the RSPB 
has owned this land since 30 April 2004 - do you 
know who the previous owner was? I believe that 
the Railways Board sold the land to the Bembridge 
Harbour Improvements Company in 1968, but it’s 
not clear to me at the moment whether the land 
changed hands again (possibly more than once) 
before the RSPB purchased it.  The RSPB 
purchased the land from Maritime Leisure 
Investments
 
2. The 2019 email refers to a "statutory declaration 
in 2001, for sections A to B and B to C”. Are you 
able to send me a copy of that declaration? I’ve not 
managed to find a copy in the information folder.
Copy of the Statutory  Declaration is attached as 
“2012-03-02 CP Atchmnt 1 (text) and 2 (Map)”
 
3. Do you know approximately when the 
“Permissive Path” waymark discs were attached to 

Page 1031



the “RSPB Brading Marshes Nature Reserve - 
Bembridge Lagoons” signposts? Also when the 
information boards showing the permissive route 
were erected?  The Permissive Path discs were 
installed when the signs were refurbished with new 
posts approximately 4 years ago.  The information 
boards showing the permissive path route were 
erected during the summer of 2007.
 
4. The email mentions that the RSPB closed 
Section A-B for two weeks in February 2005 to carry 
out engineering works, and again in 2007 and 2012 
to allow extraction of felled timber from the marsh. 
Can you explain what steps were taken to close the 
path, e.g. bollards/fences/gates/signs/other, 
including locations and (ideally) dates?
 
            2005 – The path was closed for two weeks 
where the site was secured by Heras Fencing and 
closure signage.  Please see the attached photo of 
the lagoon showing the excavator parked on the 
track that forms the permissive path annotated 
“2021-03-02 CP Atchmnt 4.1 Photo works”
 
          2007 and 2012 – The path was closed for 
three days on each of these years for timber 
extraction involving closure of the permissive path 
by way of signage (but not physically due to need 
for timber vehicle movements).  Please see 
attached photo of timber extraction in 2012 

Page 1032



annotated “2021-03-02 CP Atchmnt 4.2 Timbr 
Extrctn 2012” 
 
 
5. The email also mentions that a “Highways Act 
1959 There Are No Public Rights Of Way Over This 
Land” sign located near the start of section A-B was 
removed by the RSPB in 2005, and replaced with 
RSPB signs marking the permissive path. I don’t 
suppose you have any photographs, or other 
evidence, of the Highways Act sign?
 
            Please see the attached photos “2021-03-02 
Atchmnt 5.1, 5.2 & 5.3” showing these signs which 
were in existence in 2016.  5.1 shows one of the 
signs in position, 5.2 and 5.3 show a damaged sign 
which was removed following suspected vandalism
 
6. Can you let me know which section(s) of the 
British Transport Commission Act 1949 make it 
impossible to acquire a right of way by prescription 
over railway or harbour authority owned land?
            It is Section 57 of the British Transport 
Commission Act 1949
 
I hope this additional information helps you in your task.  If 
you need any further information please do not hesitate to 
revert back to me and we will try to help.
 
Regards
 

Page 1033



 
Cliff
 
Clifford Percival MRICS 
Senior Rural Surveyor
 

Page 1034



APPENDIX 8

Page 1035



Page 1036



Page 1037



P
age 1038



Page 1039



Page 1040



P
age 1041



Page 1042



Page 1043



Page 1044



Page 1045



P
age 1046



Page 1047



From: rspb.org.uk
Subject: RE: Claimed public right of way - Bembridge
Date: 28 July 2021 at 10:30:41 BST

Dear 
 
I am happy to help with as much as I know and can meet too if 
you wish. My knowledge of the nature reserve and surrounding 
area goes back to when I arrived here in January 2005, later that 
year I was involved with dealing with issues relating to the land 
which the current green fence surrounds.
 
If you are not familiar with the location where the claimed path D-E 
is said to be situated then I strongly advise a site visit because 
aerial pictures and maps do not illustrate the topography very well.
 
During early 2005 there was little in the way of fencing around the 
now green security fenced land neighbouring the RSPB nature 
reserve north-east of claimed route D-E, bits of Heras fencing 
were in situ but were broken and open in places. On the disused 
track bed there was a gap in the fence that could be negotiated, 
which I used to inspect our property on the 6th September 2005 
and subsequent days of that month. The gap in the fence did not 
look like it was generally used by the public. The raised ground 
between the road and old railway bed was open from 
Embankment road south-eastward.  The Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) Harbour East saline lagoon extends further 
north-east along the northern edge of the old railway bed beyond 
claimed route D-E, and was wet approximately 2 metres beyond 
the RSPB reserve boundary. The raised land abutting 
Embankment road had a shallow gradient slope at the location 
where a static caravan is now situated alongside the RSPB land 
boundary, the slope was shallow enough for vehicles to drive 
down onto the old railway bed. There was no defined path leading 
from the old railway bed to the road, certainly not along the 
alignment of the claimed route D-E. I would occasionally see 
people walking onto and around the raised land and walking down 
to the then motor vehicle engineering works situated south-east of 

Page 1048



the Pilots House and down the sloped concrete path at the north-
eastern side of the Pilots House. 
 
For as long as the RSPB have owned the old railway bed and 
saline lagoons we have considered that the lagoon path came to a 
dead end at the claimed route point D, as depicted within our 
original RSPB Brading Marshes Nature Reserve trail guide 
produced in 2007 and the current version produced in 2018. We 
became aware that people were accessing the RSPB East 
Harbour lagoon from the Houseboat car park in 2015 onwards, 
which was causing significant damage to the lagoon and the 
populations of protected species it contains. We were constantly 
removing junk rubbish that was being thrown into the lagoon by 
others trying to achieve access across it. In April 2019 a 
constructed boardwalk was placed into the lagoon by others 
without permission, which was subsequently removed. The 
trespass route through the lagoon was then secured by fencing to 
prevent further direct damage to the protected habitat and species 
in accordance with our statutory obligations.
 
On the 6th September 2005 landfill material was brought onto the 
land neighbouring the reserve and landscaped, raising the level of 
that land. The landscaping resulted in the forementioned part of 
Harbour East saline lagoon that extended north-east beyond the 
RSPB boundary being filled in and material was also pushed into 
the lagoon owned by the RSPB adjacent to the southern edge of 
the old railway bed known as Harbour Farm East saline lagoon 
(Fig.3), in addition to Harbour East lagoon at the location where 
route D-E is claimed. The forementioned gradient slope was filled 
(Fig. 6) and landscaped to make a steep slope resembling the rest 
of the raised land spreading north-eastward up to the engineering 
works and north-westward to Embankment road. Due to the 
damage to the Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), the 
Special Protection Area (SPA) and the SAC an enforcement case 
was opened by Isle of Wight Council planning department and 
English Nature (now Natural England). Shortly after the green 
security fencing was erected around the part of that property 
where it abutted the remaining lagoons at the RSPB reserve 

Page 1049



boundary. The raised land area remained open for some time and 
was demarked by white painted oil drums.  There were further 
landfill incidents since 2005 on that property which extended the 
raised land further towards the South, overlapping the old railway 
bed. It was some years later that the whole of that property was 
completely fenced with green fencing and later again the 
compound now containing the mobile home was similarly fenced. 
 
Fig. 3. - Harbour Farm East Lagoon infill on 6th September 
2005
 

          
Fig 6. - Slope Filled on 6th September 2005 where a static 
caravan is now situated
 

Page 1050



 
We know that the extent of the saline lagoons were mapped by 
the Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC) in 1996 as part 
of the notification process for the SAC, and we have a report 
produced by the Natural History Museum that shows the extent of 
water within the lagoons in 2002, indicating it is unlikely that the 
general public were walking through there to reach points D & E 
for some time prior to those dates if ever (extract fig. 2) . In 
addition, we have a hydrology report for the lagoons published in 
2002 by Atkins for the Environment Agency that shows GPS 
bathymetric survey points covering the extent of East Harbour 
lagoon with an accompanying map showing water depths, 
including where the lagoon extended north-east beyond RSPB 
property (extract fig. 4 & 5). There are two years when the Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) notifications were carried out, 
1971 and 1984, where it can be expected that vegetation and 
habitat maps were produced by the statutory nature conservation 
body at that time, if obtained they might show the presence of any 
path.  I envisage that it would have been a steep fall from 
embankment road to the lagoon area prior to the commencement 
of landfilling whenever that commenced. I notice that a historic 
planning map available within the Isle of Wight Council website 

Page 1051



indicates several enforcement cases on and in the vicinity of the 
raised land, which might give some indication of timings if 
investigated.
 
Fig. 2. - Natural History Museum, Solent and Isle of Wight 
Lagoons Survey (R.Bamber, N.J. Evans & R.S. Robbins) 
December 2003, extract showing extent of open water. 
 

 
Fig. 4. - Aerial image showing GPS locations of Bathymetric 
survey points (Environment Agency - Hydrology of 
Bembridge Lagoons Report 2002). 
 

Page 1052



 
 
 
 
Fig. 5. - Map showing lagoon depths (Environment Agency - 
Hydrology of Bembridge Lagoons Report 2002). 

Page 1053



 
 
On the 20th December 2020 I was forwarded an enquiry from 
Natural England relating to the location of a species of algae that 
had been recorded somewhere within the Harbour East lagoon 
area in September 1930. A sketch map of the location was 
provided (Fig. 1). I could not match the location within the extent 
of the lagoons that exist today, but I soon realised when aligning 
the features and the orientation with Ordnance Survey maps that it 
is the area further to the north-east of the RSPB reserve, which 
has since been infilled by considerable depth and possibly built 
on. The sketch map does show that the area was open water and 
marsh at that point in time, with Hawthorn along the road 
embankment.
 
Fig. 1. - Lagoon survey sketch map.
 

Page 1054



 
 
That’s about all the information we have about the area where 
claimed route D-E is located at this time, but we will keep a look 
out in our files and forward any further information I find. 
 
Kind regards,
 
 
 
Site Manager 

Brading Marshes Nature Reserve The Barn, Carpenters Farm, 
Carpenters Road, St Helens, Isle of Wight. PO33 1YL 

rspb.org.uk

The RSPB is the UK’s largest nature conservation charity, inspiring everyone to give 
nature a home. Together with our partners, we protect threatened birds and wildlife so 
our towns, coast and countryside will teem with life once again. We play a leading role 
in BirdLife International, a worldwide partnership of nature conservation organisations.

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England 
and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654

Page 1055

http://www.rspb.org.uk/


 
Site Manager 

Brading Marshes Nature Reserve The Barn, Carpenters Farm, 
Carpenters Road, St Helens, Isle of Wight. PO33 1YL 

rspb.org.uk

The RSPB is the UK’s largest nature conservation charity, inspiring everyone to give 
nature a home. Together with our partners, we protect threatened birds and wildlife so 
our towns, coast and countryside will teem with life once again. We play a leading role 
in BirdLife International, a worldwide partnership of nature conservation organisations.

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England 
and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654
 
 
 

Page 1056

http://www.rspb.org.uk/


From: @rspb.org.uk
Subject: RE: Claimed public right of way - Bembridge
Date: 24 August 2021 at 16:37:44 BST

Dear 
 
Since my previous correspondence on 28th July 2021 where I 
mentioned I would keep looking in our files I have found an O.S 
map within our deeds that shows the extent of water within East 
Harbour Lagoon that extended north-east of our boundary that is 
shown on the map in red (Fig. A). The production date of the O.S 
map is not shown but the west end of the same map (Fig.B) 
features the current sluices and road bridge which were installed 
in 1992.  This potentially time dates the map data between 1992 
and when the deed was signed in 2004. The map also  shows the 
extent of the embanked landfill and remaining railway bed during 
that period.
 
Fig. A – East End of RSPB Deed Map.
 

 
 

Page 1057



 
Fig. B – West End of Deed Map, Showing St Helens Road Bridge 
& Bembridge Sluices constructed in 1992.
 

 
I hope this is of use. Kind regards, 
 
 
Site Manager 

Brading Marshes Nature Reserve The Barn, Carpenters Farm, 
Carpenters Road, St Helens, Isle of Wight. PO33 1YL  

rspb.org.uk

The RSPB is the UK’s largest nature conservation charity, inspiring everyone to give 
nature a home. Together with our partners, we protect threatened birds and wildlife so 
our towns, coast and countryside will teem with life once again. We play a leading role 
in BirdLife International, a worldwide partnership of nature conservation organisations.

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England 
and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654
 

Page 1058

http://www.rspb.org.uk/


Page 1059



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

County Series

1862

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1060



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

County Series

1897-1898

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1061



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

County Series

1908

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1062



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

County Series

1939

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1063



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

1960

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1064



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

1970

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1065



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

1979

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1066



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

1985

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1067



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

1985-1989

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1068



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

1993

1:2,500

1:2,500

05 January 2018

P
age 1069



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

County Series

1861

1:10,560

1:10,560

05 January 2018

P
age 1070



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

County Series

1896-1898

1:10,560

1:10,560

05 January 2018

P
age 1071



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

County Series

1907-1909

1:10,560

1:10,560

05 January 2018

P
age 1072



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

County Series

1942

1:10,560

1:10,560

05 January 2018

P
age 1073



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

Provisional

1957-1960

1:10,560

1:10,560

05 January 2018

P
age 1074



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

Provisional

1966

1:10,560

1:10,560

05 January 2018

P
age 1075



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

1973-1975

1:10,000

1:10,000

05 January 2018

P
age 1076



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

1:10,000 Raster

2002

1:10,000

1:10,000

05 January 2018

P
age 1077



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

2010

1:10,000

1:10,000

05 January 2018

P
age 1078



� ����������	�
������������	�����������
����	�������������������������
������	�����
������ �!���	���!�"#$%�&��
�
���'������$###(%"#)��� �������������������*+,-./-,0+123.���......41+-5,.6-73...6-89:,.6-73..�;:+<.6-73�� .�=08.>0?-3.. . . .�=08.<0,-3.. �.*@01-3....A:+5,-<.0,3.������ ��������� ���B���
�!����C
!	���!���#DEEE�$%F###�G�	
H�I����
�!���J�����K����J����
�!���J������
N

EW

S

464053,  088377

NN939

GS-4639952

464041, 88366

National Grid

2014

1:10,000

1:10,000

05 January 2018

P
age 1079



T
his page is intentionally left blank



From: Keith Ballard
Subject: RE: Claimed public right of way, Bembridge - Draft Report for Comment

Date: 4 April 2022 at 10:27
To: Sarah Manchester
Cc: Clifford Percival

Dear Sarah.

I have some additional evidence that relates to section of path B to C & B to D.

The lagoon works that are referred to in paragraph 38 were caried out in 2 stages in 2005. Stage
1 was the works where the excavator was parked on path A to B and photographed, it involved
installation of an penstock sluice and pipe, requiring considerable excavation works. I can assure
you that the site was closed as standard Health and Safety procedure. The second stage involved
installation of another pipe with headwalls, which involved digging a 2.5 metre deep continuous
trench across path B to C and path B to D, again securely fenced because of the risks with
machinery and deep trenches. I had to make alternative access arrangements for the residents of
Harbour Farm to access their property via path A to B, which involved removal of one of 2 gates,
where the remaining one can still be seen in the hedge. On the ground there is currently post and
rail fence at each end of the pipe that was installed and below are some pictures of the location
and finished work.

The above works affect the period of use identified in paragraph 52 and mentioned in paragraph
81 of the draft report where section B-C and B-D should have the same statutory period.

Location of Pipe involving deep trench excavation

Pictures of completed works

APPENDIX 9

Page 1081



 
 

 

Page 1082



 
 
Kind regards, Keith.
 
 
Keith Ballard 
Site Manager 

Brading Marshes Nature Reserve The Barn, Carpenters Farm, Carpenters Road, St Helens, Isle of Wight.
PO33 1YL 
Tel 
Mobile 

rspb.org.uk

The RSPB is the UK’s largest nature conservation charity, inspiring everyone to give nature a home. Together with our partners, we
protect threatened birds and wildlife so our towns, coast and countryside will teem with life once again. We play a leading role in
BirdLife International, a worldwide partnership of nature conservation organisations.

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654

 
 
From: Sarah Manchester  
Sent: 23 March 2022 18:41
To: Clifford Percival ; Malcolm Thorpe

Cc: Keith Ballard 
Subject: Claimed public right of way, Bembridge - Draft Report for Comment
 
Dear Cliff / Malcolm
 
Please find attached a copy of the Draft Committee Report about the claimed public right of way
along the disused railway line at Bembridge. Please note that the lists in the top (Checklist) and
bottom (Appendices) sections of the Report have not yet been completed.
 
This report is being circulated to the landowners, and the applicants, prior to submission to the
Committee for a decision. If you would like to comment on the Report, then your comments will be
appended - see paragraph 98 of the Report.

Page 1083

http://www.rspb.org.uk/


appended - see paragraph 98 of the Report.
 
Please would send your comments to me by Thursday 7th April 2022.
 
I haven’t attached the Appendices to this email, due to size considerations. However, if you would
like a copy of any of the appendices, please let me know.
 
Please get back to me if you have any questions.
 
Kind regards,
 
Sarah
 
Sarah Manchester

Page 1084



Page 1085



2

 

  

User Evidence 

  
 Para. 21 to 27 

The below image is a sign put up in St Helens by the claimant to collect user evidence in 
2016. The sign refers to the old railway track, section D‐E is not part of the old railway track. 

  

  

Page 1086



3

  
  
The user evidence forms provided by the claimant had a pre‐marked route drawn on them, 
identifying the only section of the railway route between St Helens & Bembridge that can 
still be walked and owned by RSPB, with the Harbour Farm entrance track B to C and 
claimed route D‐E included. 
  
The route does not appear to have been verified on the ground with any of the users to 
check their recollection is as shown on the pre‐drawn maps they were given. 
  
It is our opinion that the user evidence projects the after 2015 use of the paths onto a 
period before 2015 and as far back as the 1950’s. The telephone interview notes discuss the 
more recent period between 2005 and 2020 without much exploration of the claimed usage 
period prior to 2005 which the claim relies on. We know the events relating to the land 
since acquisition in 2004 and find that the user evidence beyond 2004 is inaccurate, which 
brings into question the reliability of the statements relating to usage prior to 2004. 
  
The terrain of claimed route D‐E would not have tolerated the amount of claimed passes by 
Horse, bicycle and motorbike by the few that have claimed to have ridden it. 

  
One of the telephone interviewees, Mr Newell,  stated ‐ “The boatyard crossed by DE is 
owned by Mr Norris ‐ there is a for sale board up”. In fact, Mr Norris’s boatyard is further 
North East than the mapped location of D‐E on RSPB property. 

  
Several of the claimed users that were interviewed claimed the RSPB would not have 
extracted timber via section A‐B, the fact is we extracted all of the timber from the east side 
of the river via that route. 
  

Page 1087



4

Several telephone interview notes state that the lagoon was not water before RSPB and that 
the RSPB made it wetter, which is incorrect. The Atkins study shows that the lagoon was 
water as far back as 2002 and the SAC notification for the lagoon area dates back to 1996. 
That lagoon level is perched above the rest of the marsh at +0.3m above ordnance datum 
and is isolated from all other water bodies. 
  
  
Landowner Evidence 
  

 Para. 31. “The RSPB does not dispute that the claimed routes have been used by the 
public”. This is incorrect – The RSPB do dispute the period of use of D‐E, D‐E horse and cycle 
use, and horse use of B‐D. 

  

  

Documentary Evidence 

  
 Para. 34 & 56.   Is incorrect about the extent of the lagoon it has been water prior to 2002 

(Atkins report 2002 & SAC designation from 1996) 

  
  

 
Extract from DEFRA Magic website showing the definitive area of the SAC lagoon –  RSPB 
boundary and D‐E marked with a red dot. 

  
The lagoons were notified as a candidate Special Area of Conservation (cSAC) in 1996 before 
their adoption as a Natura 2000 Site. The designation is specific to the lagoons (water) and it 
can be seen that when identified the lagoon in the vicinity of claimed route D to E extended 
further east than the RSPB land boundary marked with a red dot. 

Page 1088



5

The lagoons' designation relates to the Wildlife and Countryside Act schedule 5 and 8 
protected species present within the water and mud, namely Starlet Sea Anemone, 
Bembridge Water Beetle and Foxtail Stonewort. The notification and designation of the 
lagoons does bring the legitimate use as a path on foot, horse or bicycle into question 
without committing a criminal  offence of harming protected species and habitat from the 
point of notification as a cSAC in 1996 and SSSI in the 1970s, if indeed there is evidence of a 
route being used by the public in general at that point in time. 

  
As previously stated, the RSPB is certain that the public at large were not using route section 
D to E through the SAC lagoon prior to 2015. The damage caused to the lagoons forced us to 
protect the area using fencing in 2019 to protect the lagoon habitat and species. A route 
cannot be used if it damages the SAC habitat or harms schedule 5 and 8  species which are 
protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act. 

  
 Para 36 & 41. Discussion about the land filling. It is reasonable to expect users of the old 

railway line to have witnessed the infill occurring and should recall how they negotiated it, 
particularly along claimed section D‐E where significant infilling occurred. 

  

Evaluation of Evidence 
  

 Para. 38 & 52. The report states ‐ “Accordingly, the statutory periods for the purposes of 
deemed dedication are as follows: Section AB: 1985 ‐ 2005 or 1989 ‐ 2009 Sections BC, BD 
and DE: 1989 – 2009” 

We dispute that the period for B‐C and B‐D can be 1989 to 2009 because the lagoon works 
in 2005 involved digging a 3 meter deep trench across B‐C & B‐D as well as security fencing 
to protect that work. This trench was dug to install a pipe and headwalls, there are short 
lengths of post and rail fence installed that identify each end of the pipe that now lies under 
B‐C&B‐D. The works on B‐D&B‐C followed the works where the digger is photographed on 
A‐B and we had to create alternative access along A‐B for the residents of Harbour Farm 
whilst works were carried out. To enable their ease of access we removed 0ne of 2 rusty 
gates at point B, the other gate still exists in the hedge. 

The statutory periods for B‐C & B‐D would therefore be the same as A‐B. Evidence 
submitted by K.B on 4/4/2022 for this. 

  
 Para. 43. Refers to a book where a later edition has those paragraphs removed, the book 

makes no reference to D‐E. 
  

 Para. 52. D‐E usage was after 2015 and stopped up with fences in 2019, never used by 
public at large. 

  
 Para. 55. It is possible that D‐E could have been much further East 

  
 Para. 56.   See Para. 34 above 

  
 Para 57. Considering the change in ground elevation created by the infill and the volume of 

material require to achieve that elevation It is difficult to comprehend how the claimed 
users were not obstructed by the infill operations, and why the claimed users have no 
recollection of the infill operations. There could have been significant variation of the route. 

  
 Para 59. The use of the claimed D‐E alignment post the point of the SSSI,SPA & SAC 

conservation designations is damaging and therefore illegal. 

  
 Para 70. The public at large have not use section D‐E, potential use by stealth. 

Page 1089



6

  
 Para 72. Further evidence submitted that shows  B‐D & B‐C was closed for lagoon works in 

2005, so period is incorrect. There was no apparent use of D‐E prior to 2015. 

  
  

Conclusion 

  
 Para. 80, The evidence for D‐E and bridleway use of B‐D is not credible. The evidence of 

Bridleway usage for B‐D and claimed existence of D‐E appears weak. 

  
 Para. 85, D‐E was not being used over the claimed period. 

  
 Para. 87. We challenge that D‐E existed, so could not have been closed 

by Yarland properties. 

  

Status 
  

 Para. 92. States “Ms Edwards’ evidence was particularly strong ‐ she had used the claimed 
path twice a week on horseback from 1966 to 2020, using BC more often than DE due to DE 
getting muddy”  
It can be disputed that Ms Edwards evidence is strong because alignment D‐E did not exist 
as a path prior to us noticing damage to the lagoon in 2015, and we securely fenced off any 
access in 2019 making use of D‐E impossible. It is highly unlikely that a horse could have 
ever been  ridden through the lagoon. We are not aware of any use on horseback of B to D 
over the last 17 years, B‐D would have been difficult to navigate on horseback due to the 
path being narrow with low overhanging tree limbs. Because her claimed use from 2005 to 
2020 is not plausible, it brings into question Ms Edwards claim of use prior to 2005. 
  
Legal Implications 
  
The management and use of the claimed sections does have legal implications connected 
with the Habitats Regulations and Wildlife and Countryside Act. 
  
Property Implications 
  
Creation of the route as a throughfare to include disputed section D‐E will have an impact 
on the RSPB’s use of its land as a nature reserve. 

  
Kind regards, Keith. 
  
  

Keith Ballard  

Site Manager  

 

Brading Marshes Nature Reserve The Barn, Carpenters Farm, Carpenters Road, St Helens, Isle of Wight. 

PO33 1YL  

  

  

 

rspb.org.uk 

Page 1090



7

The RSPB is the UK’s largest nature conservation charity, inspiring everyone to give nature a home. Together with our partners, 

we protect threatened birds and wildlife so our towns, coast and countryside will teem with life once again. We play a leading role 

in BirdLife International, a worldwide partnership of nature conservation organisations. 

 

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. 

SC037654 
  
  

From: Sarah Manchester    
Sent: 14 April 2022 15:25 
To: Keith Ballard < > 
Cc: Darrel Clarke < > 
Subject: Re: Claimed public right of way, Bembridge ‐ Draft Report ‐ RSPB Response 
Importance: High 
  
Dear Keith 
  
Thank you for this update, which I can confirm has been received. 
  
I’ll get back to you again if there will be any changes to the procedure previously described for the 
processing of the application. 
  
Kind regards, 
  
Sarah 
  
Sarah Manchester 

 
  
 
 
 

On 14 Apr 2022, at 12:30, Keith Ballard < > wrote: 
  
Dear Darrel and Sarah. 
  
Thank you for providing the draft council committee report and the appendices for 
our comments. We have been studying it over the two weeks we had been given 
but have found that it has raised issues.  In particular we refute the use of section D 
to E prior to 2015 and the claimed type of use of B to D. We are taking legal advice 
and will be issuing a statement of truth to you in the near future, which will include 
a schedule of inaccuracies that we have found within the report. 
  
Yours Sincerely, Keith. 
  
  

Keith Ballard  

Site Manager  

 

Brading Marshes Nature Reserve The Barn, Carpenters Farm, Carpenters Road, St Helens, Isle of Wight. 

PO33 1YL  

  

  

Page 1091



8

 

rspb.org.uk 

The RSPB is the UK’s largest nature conservation charity, inspiring everyone to give nature a home. Together with our partners, 

we protect threatened birds and wildlife so our towns, coast and countryside will teem with life once again. We play a leading role 

in BirdLife International, a worldwide partnership of nature conservation organisations. 

 

The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. 

SC037654 

 

Page 1092



 
 

                          RSPB England 
Exeter Office 
4th Floor (North Block) 
Broadwalk House 
Southernhay West 
EXETER 
Devon      EX1 1TS 

Tel  01392 432691 
 
 
 
 
rspb.org.uk 

 

   
         Patron: Her Majesty the Queen   Chairman of Council: Kevin Cox   Chief Executive: Beccy Speight   Regional Director: Nick Bruce-White 
        The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654 
 

 

Isle of Wight Council 
Appeals Sub Committee 
 
 
30th May 2022 
 
 
Response of RSPB to Committee Report to Appeals Sub Committee – Application for Definitive 
Map Modification Order – Footpath/Bridleway, Disused Railway, Bembridge, Isle of Wight 

This is a summary response to a draft Committee Report provided by Darrel Clarke, Rights of Way 
Officer. It highlights evidence and points made previously relating to this proposal. There are a 
number of points of detail in the Report that RSPB contend are either inaccurate or misleading or 
both – these are addressed below using the same numbering as in the Committee Report. 

The RSPB position is that it supports public use of the major part of the claimed route as exemplified 
by defining the route as a permissive path since 2007, at a time when there was no legal permitted 
use of the route as it was not a right of way shown on the Definitive Map. 

RSPB has sought to work with the Council and others to satisfactorily resolve the issues surrounding 
the Applicants claim for a Modification Order in January 2017. We have not at any time sought to 
curtail public use, as suggested by the Applicant on the signage he portrayed at the outset of the 
application process. 

RSPB believes that a solution satisfactory to all is attainable and would not oppose bridleway status 
to A-B-C and footpath status to B-D, both as claimed by the Applicant. The divergence of view with 
the Application is solely with the use of claimed route D-E, over which RSPB considers there is 
insufficient evidence to support a RoW designation and further, that issues would need to be 
resolved with the designation as a Site of Special Scientific Interest, a Special Protection Area, and a 
Special Area of Conservation, before any such access route can be considered. Home Farm Lane, 
where it meets Embankment Road at Point C is 210 metres from approximate point E on the claimed 
route D-E. If it is considered that a second connecting section of RoW to Embankment Road is 
required in addition to B-C, then it will be necessary to look beyond RSPB land ownership and the 
boundary of the SSSI/SPA/SAC to provide such a link. It is of relevance to say that the current 
situation whereby the public use of the disused railway links to Embankment Road by way of Home 
Farm Lane (which RSPB has supported via its permissive path) has meant that section B-D of the 
disused railway is more tranquil and less disturbed in comparison to the more frequently used 
section A-B. This would be expected on the basis that those walking to D then turn around to return 
either to A or use Home Farm Lane. The relative undisturbed nature of B-D is valued by those 
seeking a quieter experience and viewing nature close at hand – this value is mentioned by a 
number of witnesses. Creating another link to Embankment Road in the vicinity of D-E would 
produce a circuit which will increase visitor numbers with the risk of greater disturbance to the 

Page 1093



     
  
 

                          RSPB England 
Exeter Office 
4th Floor (North Block) 
Broadwalk House 
Southernhay West 
EXETER 
Devon      EX1 1TS 

Tel  01392 432691 
 
 
rspb.org.uk 

 

   
          Patron: Her Majesty the Queen   Chairman of Council: Kevin Cox, FIEEM   Chief Executive Beccy Speight   Regional Director: Nick Bruce-White 
          The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654 

 
 

attributes valued by visitors to this part of the Reserve, notwithstanding potential detrimental 
effects on the designated lagoon site. If a Modification Order is approved for Section D-E along the 
route claimed, public use and the maintenance of the RoW network by the Council will conflict with 
the requirements to protect the special interests of the SSSI/SPA/SAC and it is quite likely that access 
infrastructure needed to facilitate practical access would not be capable of approval under the 
Habitats Regulations. Thus, formalising the use of D-E along the route claimed is likely to create an 
intractable problem incapable of satisfactory resolution, hence the proposition to re-visit the 
requirement and, if justified, to work with other landowners and stakeholders to find a practical and 
useable link to Embankment Road that will protect these special interests. As the evidence of use of 
D-E is at best weak, it is suggested that the inclusion of section D-E be removed from any proposed 
Modification Order. 

The recommendation to confirm a Modification Order to bridleway status goes above and beyond 
the Application submitted – which is not for bridleway status across the entire route. Such a 
recommendation is without foundation and is not supported by the evidence and would not, in our 
view, be supported by an Inspector. RSPB’s suggested course of action is to revive dialogue to seek a 
practical solution to linking to Embankment Road that would meet the requirements of all 
stakeholders rather than the present course of action which is likely to result in further conflict at a 
public local inquiry. It will be for the Council to decide how it wishes to progress this issue, RSPB, for 
its part, would object to a Modification Order that includes claimed route D-E and one that seeks 
bridleway status for B-D-E – it does not oppose footpath status for B-D. The RSPB view is that Option 
3 can be supported by endorsing the Applicant Mr Wade’s proposition with the modification of 
removing section D-E. Alternatively Option 4 could be adopted and dialogue re-opened on finding a 
solution, if required, to claimed section D-E. 

Detailed comments on the Committee Report, using the Report’s numbering are as set out below: 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.  To be clear, the application made for a modification order is for a bridleway along part of the 
disused railway and along BC to Embankment Road and a footpath along the remainder of the 
disused railway and link (B-D-E). 

2. It is not agreed that the evidence submitted is sufficient for it to be inferred that the claimed 
route should be added to the definitive map as a public bridleway, which, in any event, is over and 
above what the Applicant has claimed. 

BACKGROUND 

11.  It is contended that an Inspector would not take the view that the standard of proof to be 
applied (i.e., the balance of probability), has been met sufficiently to endorse the Application in full 
and the recommendation made.  

STRATEGIC CONTEXT 

Page 1094



     
  
 

                          RSPB England 
Exeter Office 
4th Floor (North Block) 
Broadwalk House 
Southernhay West 
EXETER 
Devon      EX1 1TS 

Tel  01392 432691 
 
 
rspb.org.uk 

 

   
          Patron: Her Majesty the Queen   Chairman of Council: Kevin Cox, FIEEM   Chief Executive Beccy Speight   Regional Director: Nick Bruce-White 
          The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654 

 
 

12. The applied for route (excepting short section D-E) has been defined by RSPB as a permissive 
path since 2007. There is against a backdrop when the route has not been included as part of the 
Definitive Map. The permissive path has been advertised for use on RPSB’s trail guides and website 
since that time and RSPB has no intention of removing that public use. The achievement of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan in celebration of the environment and unique island characteristics is 
therefore already being delivered and has been for some 15 years. Conversely should the 
modification order be endorsed as recommended the environment will be damaged and the public’s 
enjoyment of it reduced. 

APPLICATION AND EVIDENCE CONSIDERED 

Reason for Making the Application 

14. The 2009 deposited statement defined the route A-B-D as a permissive footpath, this 
walking route having been shown as such in the RSPB Trail Guide first produced in 2007.  

15. It had been known since the publication of the RSPB Trail Guide in 2007 that the route could 
be used as a permissive path i.e., nine years prior to the Application. The Applicant used wording on 
a sign that suggested there was a risk of RSPB taking away ‘a right to walk the old railway track’. This 
is not the case and indeed, the opposite view could be taken as RSPB has enabled the public to use 
the route by way of a permissive path when no other formal rights were included on the Definitive 
Map. 

Location, Site Characteristics and General History 

19.  The descriptor of route D-E, as passing through an area of scrubby vegetation, is misleading. 
Claimed route D-E passes through lagoon area that is designated a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) and as part of the Solent & Isle of Wight Lagoon Special Area of Conversation (SAC) and a 
special Protection Area. This area was a candidate SAC as far back as 1996 and designated SAC in 
2000. The site is therefore of National and European importance and protected under the Habitats 
Directive (Special Protection Area and Special Area of Conversation) and the Wildlife & Countryside 
Act (Site of Special Scientific Intertest). The designated area within the RSPB ownership and over 
which the claimed route D-E passes, is water for much of the year and prior to illegal land fill 
operations outside the RSPB land ownership, the lagoon area extended further east across the 
claimed route. 

User Evidence 

21. The evidence forms included a map with the claimed route identified on the map. The 
provision of an already marked-up map may have influenced the recollections of some users and has 
not proved helpful in evidencing which parts of the route were used by whom and by what means 
(foot/bicycle/horse). As an example: Appendix 6 3d purports to show that 15 respondents (10% of 
respondents) have used section B-D on a bike and 8 (5%) have used the section on horseback. When 
you look at the evidence those respondents submitted on their forms and the notes from the 

Page 1095



     
  
 

                          RSPB England 
Exeter Office 
4th Floor (North Block) 
Broadwalk House 
Southernhay West 
EXETER 
Devon      EX1 1TS 

Tel  01392 432691 
 
 
rspb.org.uk 

 

   
          Patron: Her Majesty the Queen   Chairman of Council: Kevin Cox, FIEEM   Chief Executive Beccy Speight   Regional Director: Nick Bruce-White 
          The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654 

 
 

telephone interviews (for the 6 that were interviewed) it is quite clear that most of these claimants 
do not specifically claim to have used B-D by bike or horse and in most cases any inference to be 
made is that this section was used on foot only. This view would endorse the application by Mr 
Wade which is for footpath (not bridleway) status for sections B-D-E. 

As Mr Wade’s application is a bridleway on part (A-B-C) and a footpath on the remainder (B-D-E) one 
would have expected telephone interviews with claimants to have sought to establish clarity of use 
in respect of B-D-E – it seems that this was not done. It is acknowledged that by conducting 
telephone interviews, it would be very difficult to obtain that further clarity, and it is said that Covid 
restrictions prevented meeting in person. That may be so, however the result is that the Notes from 
those telephone interviews do nor produce clarity of use of section B-D-E with the outcome that, in 
respect of section B-D-E, the evidence does not support the recommendation of modification to 
bridleway status. The recommendation is not in accordance with the Applicant’s Claim, nor the 
Notice served on RSPB as landowner. 

Overall, user evidence is not reliably described. 

23. Of those 28 witnesses referred to, that have claimed to have used the route on bike or 
horse, many cases had not used section B-D-E in that way or there is no evidence to make the 
supposition that B-D-E was used by bike/horse as opposed to on foot. The number of claimed users 
of D-E is minimal, which is not unexpected bearing in mind the unsuitable ground conditions for 
bikes and horses – section B-D of the disused railway is very different in nature to section A-B, it is a 
narrow and twisty path less suitable for the safe passage of horses and bikes and D-E is steep and 
narrow and at best very wet. This also helps to explain why bike and horse riders in the main kept to 
A-B-C as there was effectively no through route beyond D for such use. Thus, since 2005, the RSPB 
Site Manager has only seen horse usage on section A-B-C. 

26. The final sentence is misleading – clearly many users will have used one of the connecting 
routes to Embankment Road (B-C or D-E) or to have gone beyond D on the disused railway before 
that option was closed off. However, it is also clear that the use of D-E has been minimal in 
comparison to the use of the Home Farm Lane (B-C). In RSPB’s ownership since 2004, usage of D-E 
has only been observed since 2015 with the laying of planks etc to assist traversing the very wet 
area. The use of D-E is considered to have been minimal for a combination of reasons: 

• B-D has been used almost entirely by those on foot. 
• At one time, the disused railway was not closed at D, and users could continue on beyond, 

not therefore needing D-E. Permanent fencing erected in 2005 prevented access beyond D. 
• The difference in levels from Embankment Road down to the lagoon is significant, making 

the route a steep incline. 
• The lagoon area, over which route D-E is claimed, extended further north-east prior to illegal 

landfill off the RSPB ownership, which would have meant the wet area extended further and 
would have made access through/across claimed route D-E more difficult still. 

Page 1096



     
  
 

                          RSPB England 
Exeter Office 
4th Floor (North Block) 
Broadwalk House 
Southernhay West 
EXETER 
Devon      EX1 1TS 

Tel  01392 432691 
 
 
rspb.org.uk 

 

   
          Patron: Her Majesty the Queen   Chairman of Council: Kevin Cox, FIEEM   Chief Executive Beccy Speight   Regional Director: Nick Bruce-White 
          The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654 

 
 

• The Applicant and several claimants suggest that RSPB have made this area wetter and 
mention sluices being put in. The sluices were not put in by RSPB and relate to the river and 
not to the lagoon area which is a separately hydrological unit and ‘perched’ water body. 
RSPB management of the Reserve has had no impact on the alleged ‘getting wetter’ of this 
area. 

• The claimed route (D-E) being interrupted, and access prevented by developments at various 
points in time. 

• Uncertainty re the route of D-E e.g., from the telephone interview with Mr Newell, it is 
noted that ‘the boatyard crossed by D-E is owned by Mr Norris’. Mr Norris’s boatyard is in 
fact further north-east of the claimed route D-E. 

It is the RSPB’s view that there is a high level of uncertainty surrounding the claimed use of section 
D-E, because of which, an Inspector, applying the test of ‘in all probability’ is unlikely to be able to 
accept that there is sufficient user evidence to justify RoW status for claimed route D-E. 

It is also interesting to note that the Applicant has gone into print on several occasions in the past 
seemingly accepting the position that the route now being claimed as a RoW was permitted by the 
landowners at the time. 

Landowner Evidence 

30. A solution is available to all parties – it involves the acceptance of Mr Wade’s application for 
bridleway status on A-B-C and footpath status on B-D with the only outstanding issue to resolve 
being to find an alternate link (if perceived to be needed) for section D-E that would protect the 
SSSI/SAC/SPA, most likely by finding a route on third party land further to the north-east. RSPB 
would accept this proposition and work with the Council, Natural England and others to bring this to 
reality. In the interim, it would clarify in its Trail Guide such that A-B-C can be used as a permissive 
bridleway. 

31. To clarify RSPB’s position and in particular ‘its acceptance of public use’ it is as set out in 
para. 30 (above) and for absolute clarity does not accept the evidence of public use of section D-E 
nor horse/bike use of B-D. 

32. Appendix 8, Item 7 presents various mapping evidence that demonstrates that the claimed 
route D-E was part of the lagoon prior to unpermitted landfill operations in 1999 that then made the 
area potentially accessible on foot. Prior to 1999 it is unlikely that the public could use a route 
depicted D-E on the Application. 

34. The assertion by Bembridge Investments has no bearing on this Application as the time 
period for the claimed use precedes their ownership from 2011 and it is not disputed that the public 
may conceivably been able to access the area crossed by D-E following illegal landfill in 1999 that 
infilled part of the lagoon. 

Documentary Evidence 

Page 1097



     
  
 

                          RSPB England 
Exeter Office 
4th Floor (North Block) 
Broadwalk House 
Southernhay West 
EXETER 
Devon      EX1 1TS 

Tel  01392 432691 
 
 
rspb.org.uk 

 

   
          Patron: Her Majesty the Queen   Chairman of Council: Kevin Cox, FIEEM   Chief Executive Beccy Speight   Regional Director: Nick Bruce-White 
          The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654 

 
 

42. It is clear from the history of this site that prior to un-permitted infilling of the lagoon in the 
vicinity of claimed route D-E, the lagoon extended further NE and as such it will have been very 
difficult, if not impossible, to traverse the claimed route D-E, prior to that infilling. The drop down in 
levels from Embankment Road to the Lagoon is significant which would make the claimed route a 
steep incline.  The Committee Report casts doubt on whether the maps submitted support this 
contention. The RSPB view is that the maps read in their proper context, provide evidence to that 
effect, and as such would be given weight by an Inspector, alongside the points made in 26 above, in 
considering the probability (or not) that the claimed use of D-E is supported by the evidence. 

Evaluation of Evidence 

55. The measure of the evidence is the balance of probability as quoted in the Report to Council 
para 11. Therefore, while accepting that a right could be over land covered by water, it is contended 
that it is extremely unlikely that such a route would be used or chosen to be used, under such 
conditions and in all probability could not be used to any great extent that could constitute 
acceptable evidence. Indeed, many witnesses refer to the wetness of route D-E and their 
preferential use of B-C instead. 

56. It is misleading to say that the witness interview evidence demonstrates that section D-E has 
always been used. In fact, an alternative interpretation of the Witness Interview Notes can be made 
noting in particular: 

• A third of the 15 witness interview notes refer to planks being put down to make accessible 
– which only occurred from 2015 onwards, so is a more recent recollection and not within 
the claim period to 2009.  

• Most refer to being able to use D-E (as opposed to actually using) and choosing to use B-C 
due to the condition difficulties with D-E. 

• One interviewee was living abroad during a major part of the claim period to 2009. 
• One interviewee references route D-E to a property further to the north-east i.e., not the 

claimed D-E route. 

The witness interview evidence does not therefore evidence use of section D-E, as alleged in the 
Report. 

It is alleged that since RSPB took ownership of the site, the operation of the sluice gates has made 
the site wetter. This cannot be so. The sluice gates are not owned nor operated by RSPB and relate 
to the river, not the separate hydrological unit of the lagoon. Neither RSPB ownership, nor operation 
of sluices has made this site wetter.  

57. The route of claimed section D-E is uncertain (recollection of witness interview) and the 
various activities that have taken place in this area over time, including partial infilling of the lagoon 
area and developments affecting the north-western part adjacent to Embankment Road. Based upon 
the land use as lagoon and the land use changes that have taken place, it is not possible to be certain 
of the route of claimed section D-E.  

Page 1098



     
  
 

                          RSPB England 
Exeter Office 
4th Floor (North Block) 
Broadwalk House 
Southernhay West 
EXETER 
Devon      EX1 1TS 

Tel  01392 432691 
 
 
rspb.org.uk 

 

   
          Patron: Her Majesty the Queen   Chairman of Council: Kevin Cox, FIEEM   Chief Executive Beccy Speight   Regional Director: Nick Bruce-White 
          The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654 

 
 

58. This is not Appendix 8, Item 7 but probably Appendix 8, Item 9? 

59. Whilst that may be so at law, the throwing down of planks etc to facilitate access would be 
illegal under the Habitats Regulations and proper infrastructure to enable use on foot would need 
authorisation under these Regulations. It is very unlikely that access infrastructure to enable the 
route to be used, will be permitted, with the result that, if this Modification Order is endorsed as set 
out, D-E could only be used in its current condition, which would be an unsatisfactory outcome for 
all concerned and potentially a management headache for the authority tasked with maintaining the 
rights of way network. Its use in this way would be damaging and disturbing to the special features 
of the designated site. 

Conclusion   

80. It is not agreed that the evidence of use of D-E meets the requirements of section 31 of the 
Highways Act and the conclusion drawn that it does is an unreasonable one and based upon the 
evidence submitted. It is believed that an Inspector would concur with this view. 

85. It is a misrepresentation of the evidence and incorrect to say that section D-E was frequently 
used by the public and the evidence submitted does not support that contention. 

87. It is not agreed that the available evidence supports the proposition that a common law 
dedication of public rights has taken place in respect of section D-E. 

89. It is a misinterpretation to suggest that RSPB has given consent to ride over the permissive 
path – it clearly states that this a is a ‘permissive footpath’. The Trail Guide issued by RSPB in 2007 
refers only to walking routes. To be clear there is no acknowledgment by RSPB of bike or horse use 
of route B-D-E nor is there any such evidence of such use during the period of RSPB’s ownership 
from 2004. 

Status 

92.  The Applicant, Mr Wade, was interviewed and is not claiming bridleway use or status for     
B-D-E. 

The telephone interview notes in respect of Ms Edwards claimed use does not identify the use of B-
D-E on horseback.  

The Notes of the 15 telephone interviews conducted, identify a single horse use specific to D-E only 
and 2 users of D-E by bike, of which one acknowledges B-C was easier to use. One further user has 
claimed use on foot, bike and horse including the use of D-E, but the Notes do not identify the type 
of user of D-E.  

It is therefore incorrect and misleading to suggest that the Notes of the Telephone Interviews 
substantiate a public use by horse or bike on section B-D-E. 

Page 1099



     
  
 

                          RSPB England 
Exeter Office 
4th Floor (North Block) 
Broadwalk House 
Southernhay West 
EXETER 
Devon      EX1 1TS 

Tel  01392 432691 
 
 
rspb.org.uk 

 

   
          Patron: Her Majesty the Queen   Chairman of Council: Kevin Cox, FIEEM   Chief Executive Beccy Speight   Regional Director: Nick Bruce-White 
          The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) is a registered charity: England and Wales no. 207076, Scotland no. SC037654 

 
 

93. The evidence does not support the establishment of bridleway status on B-D-E, nor does it 
support the establishment of a right of way on claimed route D-E. 

 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
R J Manners MRICS FAAV 
Senior Rural Surveyor  
Email:  
Mobile  
 
 

Page 1100


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Report of the Director of Neighbourhoods
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 2, Item 1, OS Map Extract
	Appendix 2, Item 2, Site Photographs 1 - 18

	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	scanned copy appendix 4 item 1a
	Appendix 4, Item 1b, Land Registry IW57447 - Plan
	Appendix 4, Item 1c, Land Registry IW57447 - Plan
	scanned copy appendix 4 items 2a and 2b

	Appendix 5
	Appendix 5 - Items 1 and 2
	App 5 - Items 3 4 5 6

	Appendix 6 - item 1 Part 1
	Appendix 6 - 1
	Appendix 6 -2
	Appendix 6 - 3
	Appendix 6 - 4
	Appendix 6 - 5

	Appendix 6 - Item 1 - part 2
	Appendix6 - 6
	Appendix 6 - 7
	Appendix 6 - 8
	Appendix 6 - 9
	Appendix 6 - 10

	Appendix 6 - Item 2
	Appendix 6, Item 2, Witnesses Interview Notes
	Appendix 6, Item 3a, Summary of User Evidence Forms
	Appendix 6, Item 3b, Table 2, Summary of User Evidence Forms - AB, 1985-2005
	Appendix 6, Item 3c, Table 3, Summary of User Evidence Forms - AB, 1989-2009
	Appendix 6, Item 3d, Table 4, Summary of User Evidence Forms - BD, 1989-2009
	Appendix 6, Item 3e, Table 5, Summary of User Evidence Forms - BC, 1989 - 2009
	Appendix 6, Item 3f, Table 6, Summary of User Evidence Forms - Section DE, 1989-2009

	Appendix 7
	Appendix 7 Item 1 RSPB Email 24 July 2019_Redacted
	Appendix 7, Item 2 - RSPB Email 2 March 2021

	Appendix 8
	Appendix 8, Item 1a - 2001 Statutory Declaration
	Appendix 8, Item 1b - Map with 2001 Statutory Declaration
	Appendix 8, Item 2 - Section 31(6)
	Appendix 8, Item 3 - Photo of 2005 works
	Appendix 8, Item 4 - Photos of Signage
	Appendix 8, Item 5 - s 55(1) British Transport Commission Act 1949
	Appendix 8, Item 6 - Hicks Declaration 2005
	Appendix 8, Item 7a, RSPB site manager narrative - 28 July 2021
	Appendix 8, Item 7b - RSPB site manager narrative - 24 August 2021
	Appendix 8, Item 8 - Extract, Bembridge Branch Line
	Appendix 8, Item 9 - Planning Application 2100795 OS map extracts from 1862-2014

	Appendix 9
	Appendix 9, Item 1, RSPB comments 4 April 2022
	Appendix 9, Item 2, RSPB Comments 11 May 2022
	Appendix 9, Item 3, RSPB commentsreport 30 May 2022





